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NRHP Status Code 6L
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date

Page 1 of 24 *Resource Name or #;. Map Reference #1

P1. Other Identifier: Van Ness Avenue and portion of South Van Ness Avenue; Section U.S. Highway 101
*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: San Francisco
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)
*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Francisco North, Calif.  Date: 1956, photorevised 1968
c. Address: Van Ness Avenue and South Van Ness Avenue City: San Francisco  Zip: 94102 and 94109
d. UTM: Zone: 10 ; mE/ mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate) Elevation:

Van Ness Avenue between Market Street and North Point Street and South Van Ness Avenue between Mission
Street and Market Street.

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)

Van Ness Avenue is one of San Francisco’s primary north-south transportation corridors. Extending from Market
Street at the south to Fort Mason at the north, the thoroughfare runs approximately two miles along the valley
between Nob and Russian Hills and Pacific Heights (see Continuation Sheet).

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) HP37: Highway/Trail
*P4. Resources Present: Building O Structure O Object O Site O District O Element of District O Other (Isolates, etc.)
Roadway and ancillary streetscape features

P5b. Description of Photo: (View, date,
accession #) Southern beginning of Van
Ness Avenue, looking north from Market
Street, March 9, 2009.

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and
Sources: XIHistoric
OPrehistoric OBoth
Established in 1858 under Van Ness
Survey, ongoing infrastructural
alterations and construction.

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.)

*P7. Owner and Address:
Van Ness Avenue is under the
jurisdiction of the State Department of
Transportation from Golden Gate Avenue
northward and the City of San Francisco
from Golden Gate Avenue southward.

*P8. Recorded by: (Name, affiliation, and
address)

Polly S. Allen; Meta Bunse,

JRP Historical Consulting LLC
1490 Drew Avenue Suite 110
Davis, CA 95618

*P9. Date Recorded: March, 2009
*P10. Survey Type: Intensive

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") JRP Historical Consulting, LLC, “Historic Resources
Inventory and Evaluation Report for San Francisco County Transportation Authority (SFCTA) Van Ness Avenue Bus Rapid
Transit (BRT) Study,” 2009.

*Attachments: ONONE [OLocation Map OSketch Map [XlContinuation Sheet [XIBuilding, Structure, and Object Record
OArchaeological Record ODistrict Record OLinear Feature Record OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI#

BUILDING, STRUCTURE, AND OBJECT RECORD

Page 2 of 24 *NRHP Status Code 6L

*Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Map Reference #1

B1. Historic Name: Marlette Street
B2. Common Name: Van Ness Avenue

B3. Original Use: Transportation Corridor B4. Present Use: Transportation Corridor
*B5. Architectural Style: Utilitarian

*B6. Construction History: (Construction date, alterations, and date of alterations) Van Ness Avenue was platted in 1858 under
the Van Ness Survey. The roadway was originally dirt and was subsequently macadamized until the early twentieth
century when modern asphalt pavement of the roadway and sidewalks was extended up the avenue. Asphalt paving
was complete by the early 1910s. Municipal Railway tracks were installed in 1914 in the middle of the street from
Market to Bay streets, remaining in service until 1950, and then removed in the early 1950s (see Continuation Sheet).

*B7. Moved? [XINo OYes OUnknown Date: Original Location:

*B8. Related Features: Sidewalks, median, trolley/light poles, miscellaneous transportation infrastructure and street
furniture including traffic signals, bus shelters, fire hydrants, and vegetation.
B9a. Architect: None
b. Builder: Assorted agencies under the aegis of the City of San Francisco, and the U.S. Highway System

*B10. Significance: Theme: n/a Area: n/a

Period of Significance: n/a Property Type: n/a Applicable Criteria: n/a
(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope. Also address integrity.)

This intensive survey and evaluation finds that neither Van Ness Avenue, nor the studied portion of South Van Ness
Avenue, appears eligible for individual listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), the California
Register of Historical Resources (CRHR), or local designation because they lack integrity. This evaluation is
consistent with San Francisco Preservation Bulletin 5, “Landmark and Historic District Designation Procedures,”
which directs that historic properties be evaluated for local designation using the California OHP Recordation
Manual (as per San Francisco Landmarks Board Resolution No. 527, June 7, 2000). The corridor has been evaluated
in accordance with Section 15064.5(a)(2)-(3) of the CEQA Guidelines, using the criteria outlined in Section 5024.1
of the California Public Resources Code, and is not an historical resource for the purposes of CEQA. (See
Continuation Sheet).

B ) (Sketch Map with north arrow required.)
B11. Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes)

B12. References: San Francisco Department of Buildings Building
Permits; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps for the City of San Francisco; San
Francisco Chronicle; San Francisco History Center; Online Archive of
California; San Francisco Municipal Reports; James Rolph Papers See Continuation Sheet 25 for Sketch Map.
(California Historical Society); San Francisco Chronicle; Journal of the
Society of Architectural Historians; Tobriner, Bracing For Disaster
(2006); Richards, Historic San Francisco (1991); Lau and Lieber, The Last
Great World’s Fair (2004); Perles, The People’s Railway (1981); Clarke,
Trust and Power (2007); Bean, California (1968); Caltrans Archives, San
Francisco Public Utilities Commission Archives.

B13. Remarks:

*B14. Evaluator: Meta Bunse and Polly S. Allen
*Date of Evaluation: April 2009

(This space reserved for official comments.)
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*P3a. Description: (Continued)

Established under the Van Ness Survey of 1858, which incorporated the Western Addition into the burgeoning city of
San Francisco, the avenue is wider than the adjacent streets, and was surveyed to a width of 125 feet. It currently
contains six traffic lanes, divided by discontinuous medians of varying dimension and composition. In addition to
being a major San Francisco Street, Van Ness Avenue is part of U.S. Route 101, which runs from Los Angeles to
Olympia, Washington. The 101 alignment extends up South Van Ness from Mission Street, and meets Van Ness at
Market Street, following the avenue until it turns toward the Golden Gate Bridge at Lombard Street.

The southern end of Van Ness Avenue is anchored by Market Street and the Civic Center National Historic
Landmark District (see Figure 1, Continuation Sheet 18). Moving northerly along the avenue, Van Ness has a dense
mixed-use character, with residential, entertainment, and commercial construction flanking its length. Scored
concrete sidewalks, approximately ten feet in width, line both sides of the street and are punctuated by various types
of infrastructure, including light standards/trolley poles, fire hydrants, call boxes, traffic signals, bus shelters, and
benches. The infrastructure dates from throughout the twentieth century, with a variety of fire hydrants dating from
the early to late twentieth century, as well as call boxes from 1915, and the trolley poles most of which date from
1914, with 1936 brackets and modern luminaires (see Map Reference #2).'

In 1914 Municipal Rail tracks were constructed in the median of the street and subsequently removed in the 1950s as
public transportation moved away from rail toward bus service. No track remains from the original rail system, but
approximately 259 trolley poles (discussed above ) still line the avenue, extending from Market to North Point Street.
Wiring associated with the modernized MUNI Bus Service is affixed to the poles. After the rails were removed
medians of various widths with various hard and soft landscaping were installed.

South Van Ness Avenue, which extends in a southerly direction from Market Street was constructed at a later date
than Van Ness Avenue. The portion within the study area, extending from Market to Mission, was a new alignment
completed in the early 1930s as a means of relieving congestion and better connecting the northern and southern
portions of the city. The road is the same width as Van Ness Avenue, however it does not have any median and does
not contain the same early Municipal Rail associated trolley poles. Modern sidewalks, street furniture, and other
infrastructure are similar to that of Van Ness Avenue.

*B6. Construction History: (Continued)

An elevated concrete median of varying widths was constructed in segments along the avenue in the years following
removal, with some portions wide enough to accommodate vegetation and others only narrow raised ribbons. Several
types of ancillary structures line the roadway, most notably approximately 259 trolley poles erected with the original
rail tracks in 1914 that have subsequently been utilized as both streetlight poles and mounts for modern electric
traffic signs, as well as support for other decorative features such as planters and signage. Other infrastructural
equipment and resources include medians, fire hydrants, MUNI bus shelters, and vegetation. Virtually all of these

' A 2007 HRER and HPSR discusses some of these elements, but only those found along Van Ness within the Civic Center
Historic District: Architectural Resources Group, “Historic Resources Evaluation Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape
Improvement Project, City of San Francisco, California,” prepared by Bridget M. Maley, prepared for Caltrans District 4 and San
Francisco Department of Public Works, March 2007; Architectural Resources Group, “Historic Property Survey Report: Van Ness
Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, City of San Francisco, California,” prepared for Caltrans District 4 and San Francisco
Department of Public Works, October 2007.
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features were constructed and planted in the modern period, although some hydrants, as well as police/fire call boxes
date to the early twentieth century. The basic grade and width of the right-of-way has not changed since original
construction, with one alteration in 1936 that widened the roadbed and narrowed the sidewalk. This work
necessitated the relocation of all of the trolley poles, hydrants, and call boxes further toward the road’s periphery. As
a heavily travelled transportation corridor, Van Ness Avenue has undergone continuous basic maintenance including
paving, sidewalk repair, traffic signal installation, and other miscellaneous infrastructural work.

South Van Ness Avenue has a distinct construction history, beginning when it was completed in the early 1930s to
ease traffic congestion and provide a direct link between the northern and southern portions of the city. Initially
constructed on condemned land from Market to Mission, South Van Ness was extended several years later further
south to Howard, where it overlay the existing Howard Street corridor through the southern portions of the city.

B10. Significance: (Continued)
Historic Context

Van Ness Avenue has served as one of the primary arteries in the City of San Francisco throughout its historical
development, and this span of time can be broken into four potential periods of significance as both a transportation
and aesthetic civic corridor. The first is the original platting of the avenue in 1858 and early urban expansion
accompanying its development. The second is the earthquake and fire of 1906 and the subsequent redevelopment and
urban reconceptualization of the avenue as an increasingly commercial thoroughfare. The third period revolves
around the Panama-Pacific Exposition of 1915 and the role of Van Ness as a nexus between the City Beautiful aims
of both the Exposition and the newly reconstructed City Hall and Civic Center. The final potential period of
significance is the increasingly central automobile-related role of Van Ness Avenue as a booming “Auto Row” and a
modern highway transportation corridor.

The Van Ness Survey and Nineteenth Century Urban Expansion

The 1858 completion of the Van Ness Survey extended the city’s original 50-vara land division of San Francisco to
include the dune covered valley formed between present-day Nob and Russian Hills and Pacific Heights.”> City
officials envisioned the spine of the substantial acquisition as a comparable north-south arterial that would match
Market Street in civic importance. The avenue was thus surveyed to a width of 125 feet, markedly wider than typical
San Francisco streets. Originally named Marlette Street after Seneca Hunt Marlette, who had surveyed portions of
the Western Addition, the avenue was quickly renamed Van Ness Avenue in honor of the mayor and sponsor of the
pivotal urban ordinance. Despite becoming an official part of the city, development was initially slow along Van
Ness Avenue, which remained little more than a dirt track through undeveloped swaths of the city. In the 1860s the
avenue fell under the gaze of noted landscape architect Frederick Law Olmsted, who had been commissioned by the
San Francisco Board of Supervisors to develop a major urban park that would lend the burgeoning city of San
Francisco the same stature as eastern cities such as New York with its Central Park. Olmsted envisioned a greenbelt
that would center upon Van Ness Avenue rather than a large park. The greenbelt would extend roughly from Duboce
Park to Aquatic Park through the protected valley, with small naturalistic areas and enclaves along the way. The plan
was rejected by city officials who sought a more traditional park setting in the manner of Central Park; a desire which

? San Francisco Planning Department, “Van Ness Avenue Area Plan,” (San Francisco, c.1989). Available online at
http://www.sfgov.org/site/planning_index.asp?id=41410.
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ultimately was expressed by the design of William Hammond Hall and John McLaren.” Throughout the 1860s Van
Ness Avenue was slow to develop. Far from the city core, the area was relatively isolated and there was little
demand for the lots.* The area’s underdeveloped infrastructure may have contributed to the slow pace of settlement
along Van Ness: it was not until the early 1870s that portions of Van Ness were macadamized or in some cases
graded, and planking of sidewalks and corners only existed in isolated pockets.” By 1872-1873, Van Ness was
graded between Sutter and Post streets, Geary and Turk streets, and California and Pine Streets. The boulevard was
macadamized at the crossing with Fulton Street, at the crossing of McAllister Street, and at the crossing of Tyler
Street. In general, street improvements occurred in segments, with grading, macadamizing, and sidewalk planking
undertaken on a largely block-by-block basis. Well into the 1870s, much of Van Ness Avenue to Lombard Street was
ungraded and there were but a few buildings located outside of the immediate periphery of Market Street.’

As the population of San Francisco soared from a mere 35,000 in 1852 to nearly 300,000 in 1890, a pressing need for
additional housing drove housing demand into the Western Addition, including Van Ness Avenue. Speculative
builders constructed middle and upper class residences, primarily of wood frame construction with prominent bays,
cornices, and elaborate moulded detailing in the popular Italianate and Queen Anne style. Interspersed among this
relatively modest middle-class construction were a number of grand residences designed for the city’s elite. By the
mid-1880s, the wide avenue had evolved into a bastion for many of San Francisco’s wealthiest, whose large homes
typically occupied several lots on a block. Although Van Ness itself did not have a dedicated cable car line in the
nineteenth century, many lines traversed the area, both from east-to-west and north-to-south along portions of Polk
Street, parallel and one block east of Van Ness.’

Although the avenue was home to many of the city’s elite, a striking number of diverse uses flanked the corridor,
particularly within its upper reaches. The Fort Mason military reservation was located at the northern terminus of the
avenue, on the west side of Van Ness, while the Fontana Company Canned Fruit Warehouse, the former San
Francisco Woolen Factory, and the Spring Valley Water Company’s Black Point Pumping House stood on the east
side at its northern terminus. In the closing years of the nineteenth century, a large greenhouse occupied nearly the
entire block between Lombard Street and Chestnut Street along the avenue. Civic and public buildings occupied the
middle stretches of Van Ness, transitioning from the residential blocks in the north to the busier central city. Saint
Mary’s Cathedral filled the corner at O’ Farrell Street. Saint Ignatius Church and College stood at Grove Street,
established by Jesuits who had arrived in California to minister to gold miners. The Mercantile Library filled the
entire block between Golden Gate and Elm Avenue. The extreme southern portion of the avenue was also home to an
array of functions, with an animal feed and sale yard at the northeastern corner of Market Street and Van Ness
Avenue and other business and clubs radiating throughout the southern blocks of the avenue.®

By the turn of the twentieth century Van Ness Avenue stood at far remove from the blowing dunes of the 1858
survey. With the highest echelon of residential wealth bracketed at either end with churches, schools, and industry,
the avenue was one of the city’s most prominent. San Francisco had expanded up and around the avenue, absorbing

? San Francisco Board of Supervisors, San Francisco Municipal Reports 1867-68, (San Francisco, California: John H. Carmany
and Company, 1868), 560-564; Robert Cherny and William Issel, San Francisco 1865-1932 (Berkeley, California: UC Berkeley
Press, 1986) 102-116.

* San Francisco Planning Department, “Van Ness Avenue Area Plan.”; Anne Bloomfield, “The Real Estate Associates: A Land
and Housing Developer of the 1870s in San Francisco,” Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, vol. XXVII (1978), 15.

> San Francisco Board of Supervisors, San Francisco Municipal Report, 1872-1873, 586, 589, and 595.

6 Sanborn Map Company, Fire Insurance Maps for San Francisco, California (New York: Sanborn Map Company, 1886, vol. 2
and 1893, vol. 4).

7 San Francisco Planning Department, “Van Ness Avenue Area Plan”; Bloomfield, “The Real Estate Associates,” 17.

¥ Sanborn Map Company, Fire Insurance Maps for San Francisco, California (New York: Sanborn Map Company, 1899, vol. 1
and 1899 vol. 3).
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vast tracts of land and promoting urban expansion through infrastructural improvement and corresponding
speculation. Much of this urban expansion was driven by the private sector, with private horse car and cable car
interests servicing adjacent streets, private residential developers constructing the flats, and the city’s wealthiest
building urban enclaves. Civic sponsored improvements largely focused upon grading, paving, cisterns, sewers, and
gas lamps, all of which occurred in a largely piecemeal manner. San Francisco Municipal Reports and Proceedings
of the Board of Supervisors from the time period contain little reference to the avenue outside of basic infrastructural
accounting. The sole exception to this was an 1896 ordinance by the San Francisco Board of Supervisors declaring
Van Ness Avenue to be an official city “Boulevard.” The Board passed the ordinance in response to a petition from
the Van Ness Avenue Improvement Club, and the measure largely served to forbid heavy traffic upon the avenue.
Although the Club also sought civic-sponsored trees, shrubs, and plantings in the median and along the sidewalks,
historical photographs of the avenue and municipal records indicate that the planting did not occur.” Thus, while the
original wide survey of the avenue and the “Boulevard” declaration expressed a continued civic desire for a distinct
thoroughfare, the development of the corridor largely occurred within the chaotic context of rampant late-nineteenth
century with little or no holistic civic design intent.

The Earthquake of 1906: From Fire Break to Commercial Hub

The substantial width of Van Ness Avenue proved significant both during and just after the Earthquake of 1906.
Within fifteen minutes of the shocks, scores of fires caused by lanterns, boilers, gas mains, electrical wires, and
damaged chimneys broke out across the city. On Van Ness Avenue, a 30-inch gas main running under the street
burst, reportedly sending bituminous pavement flying high into the air. Although the scope and ferocity of the
conflagration across the city was unprecedented, San Francisco’s Fire Chief, Dennis Sullivan, had laid the foundation
for establishing Van Ness Avenue as a fire line even before the earthquake. In the wake of Baltimore’s disastrous
1904 fire, the chief had established that the wide expanse of Van Ness Avenue and Market Street as firebreaks in the
event of a citywide outbreak." Volunteers, city fire fighters, and troops under the leadership of General Frederick
Funston took a consolidated stand along Van Ness Avenue. The fire primarily burned up to the east side of the
avenue, with only the lower portions near Market catching fire on both sides. To prevent the flames from spreading,
undamaged buildings along the east side were blasted by the army, reducing mansions to smoldering piles. The
desperate measures proved effective, and the fire was stopped on April 20" in this part of the city, having jumped the
width of Van Ness Avenue in only isolated areas.

Although much of the avenue lay in ruins, Van Ness emerged from the four day inferno relatively intact in
comparison to the ravaged Market Street corridor. The western side of Van Ness and the upper northeastern portion
of the thoroughfare near present-day Fort Mason and the Aquatic Park remained untouched by the fire."' Because
much of Van Ness escaped severe damage it was immediately targeted for new residential and commercial
development as the city quickly sought to rebuild. The area was the center of a speculative boom in the weeks and
months following the disaster, as businesses sought temporary quarters and commercial interests sought profits from
a frenzy of leasing activity.”> Between 1906 and 1909, a striking number of residents and businesses moved to Van

’ “Designs for the City’s Building,” San Francisco Chronicle, March 10, 1896; “Developing the Outside Districts,” San
Francisco Chronicle, March 13, 1896.

' Stephen Tobriner, Bracing For Disaster: Earthquake-Resistant Architecture and Engineering in San Francisco 1838-1933
(Berkeley, California: Heyday Books, 2006), 136-138.

""" San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection, “St. Brigid’s Church, on Van Ness Ave., after the 1906
earthquake,” black & white photographic print, 1906; 1899 Sanborn Insurance Map, vol. 3, 262; Tobriner, Bracing for Disaster,
142-146.

12 «“Speculation Stops in Buying Real Property,” San Francisco Chronicle, March 27, 1909.
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Ness Avenue and along with Fillmore Street to the west, Van Ness became San Francisco’s premier commercial and
economic hub, supplanting the devastated areas of downtown."

In addition to a burgeoning retail trade, Van Ness also became a central entertainment venue for the dislocated city.
The Van Ness Theater was erected at Van Ness and Grove in 1907 and was one of the city’s most prized
entertainment venues until its demolition in 1910. Other more prosaic uses also clambered to the area, including
Eddie Graney’s blacksmith shop and Samuels Lace House, both of whom rapidly established quarters following the
earthquake.'* Numerous refugee shacks also appeared in the new commercial center as those made homeless by the
disasterlgnoved to Van Ness and its surrounding streets, often causing consternation amongst surrounding property
owners.

Notable infrastructure improvements accompanied the wave of commercial and new residential settlement along the
avenue. The intensive reconstruction following the earthquake highlighted the need for uniform paving, which had
only existed in isolated pockets and was a mixture of cobble, stone, and macadam prior to the earthquake. This
varied paving material was damaged by the earthquake, and observers noted that parts of the avenue were, “cut up
like a country road, the dust being very deep and horses having to strain to pull loads over it.”'® Asphalt paving
occurred in segments, with portions paved by an assortment of contractors on a block-by-block basis. The paving of
Van Ness was largely complete by 1911. Contracts had also been completed for reinforced concrete fire cisterns
along the avenue, located underground at the Van Ness intersections of Golden Gate Avenue, Washington Street,
Octavia Street, Laguna Street, and Market Street. Improvements in the 1910s also included the extension of
underground sewer lines and telephone conduit up the avenue, as the increased business and residential population
required these increasingly standard metropolitan amenities.'”  Although Van Ness Avenue was a locus of
redevelopment and infrastructural improvement, the changes done on the avenue mirrored developments occurring all
over the city, as officials oversaw a massive rebuilding campaign that included the extension of grading, paving and
sidewalk work, as well as installation of fire hydrants, street lights, rail lines, sewers, and telephone conduits.

The emergence of Van Ness Avenue as a central economic and social hub was short-lived. Much of the commercial
development along the avenue was considered a temporary expedient, and as conditions in the traditional business
and retail core of the city improved, many businesses flooded back to newly constructed or repaired quarters. The
local press commented on the exodus, noting that “although for a time it was believed the retail district would remain
permanently in the Western Addition,” the force of the “Downtown Movement” proved too great.'® In several short
years, the identity of Van Ness Avenue had been dramatically uprooted and changed again, leaving a broad avenue in
flux. “What Van Ness may become in the future can probably not be imagined,” wrote the San Francisco Chronicle
echoinglga widespread sentiment, “it has been deserted by retail trade and will not regain any of it in the near
future.”

' Online Archive of California Photograph Collection, Bancroft Library Photograph Collection“Temp Quarters, Hobart Res. - Van
Ness and Washington. City of Paris Dry Goods Company,” 1906; “Retailers Leasing on Van Ness Avenue,” San Francisco
Chronicle, May 6, 1906.

'* “Van Ness Theater is Soon to be a Memory,” San Francisco Chronicle, August 27, 1910; “Van Ness Now a Busy Street,” San
Francisco Chronicle, May 3, 1906.

5 Journal of Proceedings of the San Francisco Board of Supervisors 1907, 454.

' «y7an Ness Now a Busy Street,” San Francisco Chronicle, May 3, 1906.

'7 San Francisco Municipal Reports, 1910-1911, 821; San Francisco Municipal Reports, 1911-1912, 984 and 990.

'8 “Expansion of Retail Business an Example of City’s Enterprise,” San Francisco Chronicle, October 17, 1909.

'% “The Future of Van Ness Avenue,” San Francisco Chronicle, April 30, 1909.
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Forward San Francisco: Connecting the San Francisco Civic Center and Panama-Pacific Exposition

In the autumn of 1911, “Sunny Jim” Rolph swept the San Francisco mayoral election with the campaign slogan
“Forward San Francisco.” A noted businessman and Vice-President of the Panama-Pacific International Exposition
Company, Rolph promoted a number of major infrastructural developments including the water system, Municipal
Railway, bridges, tunnels, and major civic construction. Foremost in this array of improvements was a new Civic
Center and City Hall, as well as a venue for a world’s fair—The Panama-Pacific Exposition. The projects were
located in two large tracts of prime land, one near the southern base of Van Ness and the other near its northern
terminus, and were at the center of major urban redevelopment schemes that would occupy San Francisco for the
large part of the decade. As the corridor that connected the two, Van Ness became a link that served to physically,
and aesthetically, connect the two major civic undertakings.

City leaders were contemplating massive civic expansion within the area surrounding City Hall even before the
destruction wrought by the earthquake. In 1904, the Society for the Improvement and Adornment of San Francisco
invited prominent landscape architect Daniel H. Burnham to draw sweeping plans for the city. Embedded in this plan
was a design for an expanded Civic Center that would be a monumental focal point surrounded by radiating
boulevards extending across the city. Although these grandiose plans were approved by the San Francisco Board of
Supervisors before the earthquake, in the aftermath of the disaster the lofty ambitions of the Burnham Plan fell before
the immediate necessity of rebuilding. With city leaders, merchants, and citizens focused upon the basic
infrastructure of redevelopment, the drive for beautification underpinning the massive Burnham scheme eroded.”

Despite the dismissal of the Burnham Plan, however, the need for a new City Hall remained, and by the time of
Mayor Rolph’s election, the redevelopment of City Hall and the Civic Center were at the forefront of municipal
affairs. The City solicited proposals for development and received sixty proposals in 1912. The winning plan was
that of architect B.J.S. Cahill, who had long served as an architectural advisor to the city, and advocated
redevelopment on the same site as the old City Hall rather than the Market Street location proposed by Burnham. An
The Mayor formed an advisory commission composed of John Galen Howard, Frederick W. Meyer, and John Reid,
Jr., and voters approved an $8.8 million bond in 1912. The final design consisted of a central plaza bounded by City
Hall to the west, the State Building to the north, the Public Library and Opera House to the east, and the Exposition
Auditorium to the south. Additionally, corner lots between the buildings were designed to contain secondary civic
functions including a Health Building, a Fire and Police Building, and a Power House. Narrow portions of land
fronting the complex were reserved for arcades and peristyles.”'

With only three years remaining until the Panama-Pacific Exposition, construction of the new Civic Center was
rushed toward completion. Mass excitement over the construction of the Panama Canal and the celebratory honor of
hosting the Panama-Pacific Exposition spurred development, as leaders and citizens sought a grand civic identity that
matched the monumental design of the exposition.”” Despite the urgency generated by the pressure of hosting such
an extravaganza, however, much of the construction was incomplete at the time of the Exposition, and the Civic
Center was dotted with wood signs depicting where the buildings were to be. Only the Exposition Auditorium,
Power House, and Central Plaza were completed by the opening day. Ultimately, the creation of the Civic Center
would take more than twenty years. City Hall was completed in 1916 — a decade after the original’s destruction. In

2 William Issel and Robert W. Cherny, San Francisco 1865-1932: Politics, Power, and Urban Development (Berkeley,
California: UC Berkeley Press, 1986) 110.

*! United States Department of the Interior, “National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form, San Francisco
Civic Center,” October 10, 1978.

22 Rand Richards, Historic San Francisco: A Concise History and Guide (San Francisco: Heritage House Publishers, 1991) 194-
195; United States Department of the Interior, National Register of Historic Places Inventory—Nomination Form, San Francisco
Civic Center, October 10, 1978.
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1922, the City acquired and began development of the War Memorial complex, but another decade passed before the
War Memorial Opera House and Veterans Building were finished. Some thirty years after the 1906 disaster, the War
Memorial Court — located on what had been Fulton Street — was completed according to landscape architect Thomas
Church’s vision.”

Construction of the Panama Pacific International Exposition at the northern end of Van Ness Avenue was far more
rapid. The Exposition filled 635 acres, extending from Van Ness Avenue to the Presidio. With a five-acre
reproduction of the Panama Canal, a “central city” filled with exhibition palaces, lush landscaping and verdant
grottos, drill fields, livestock exhibits, amusement concessions, and unparalleled electrical illumination, the
Exposition proved a dizzying design feat that was accomplished to acclaim in only six years. Many of the nation’s
most prestigious firms were represented at the Exposition, with Mckim, Mead, and White designing the Court of the
Universe, Thomas Hastings creating a 43-story Tower of Jewels, and Bernard Maybeck conceiving his ancient ruin-
inspired Palace of Fine Arts. Other more prosaic marvels lured the crowds, with a 65 acre playland called “The
Zone” filling several blocks between Van Ness Avenue and Laguna Street at the Exposition’s eastern edge.”

The Exposition was largely built in the ephemeral plaster manner of world’s fairs, and was dismantled soon after
closing. The massive amounts of fill that created the site from the Bay, however, largely forms the present-day
Marina District.” Only a few structures remained after the closing, with ultimately only the Palace of Fine Arts and a
few street alignments serving as the only surviving reminders of the Exposition. The infrastructure needed to move
people to the site also proved an important legacy of the event, however, particularly along Van Ness Avenue. As
the corridor that connected much of the visiting and local population of the city to the exposition as well as the most
prominent linkage between the permanent City Beautiful edifices of the Civic Center and the transient beauty of the
Panama-Pacific, Van Ness Avenue played a prominent role. The city pushed to complete the second line of its new
Municipal Railway up the avenue in time to carry throngs of visitors to and from the site.

The drive for municipal rail fortuitously coincided with the planning of the Exposition. The motivations behind city
sponsored rail service stemmed from a broader demand for progressive civic reform, efficiency, and urban
consolidation. Prior to the city’s foray into rail service, San Francisco was served by ten private companies, with
cable cars criss-crossing the city. In the social and political climate steeped in the Progressive Movement of the early
twentieth century, this complicated network of for-profit ventures was derided as corrupt and regressive. The first
Municipal Railway line was completed on Geary Street in 1912 to great fanfare. A crowd of 50,000 gathered to
commemorate the opening as Mayor Rolph proclaimed that the line was, “but the nucleus of a mighty system of
streetcar lines which [would] someday encompass the entire city.””®

The next phase of the new system was the track installed along the length of Van Ness from the Civic Center to the
Exposition grounds. Although several of the early, private cable car lines ran in the vicinity of the street, none
traversed its length, and this transportation void presented a major threat to the success of the Exposition. Ina 1913
report, City Engineer M.M. O'Shaughnessy predicted that during days of maximum attendance it would be necessary
to transport up to 60,000 people per hour on rail, a staggering number that far outstripped the city’s capacity. Work

* Bridget M. Maley, “Historic Resources Evaluation Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, City of San
Francisco, California,” California Department of Transportation District 4, Prepared for City and County of San Francisco,
Department of Public Works, March 2007, 7.

** Sarah Lau and Robert Lieber, The Last Great World’s Fair: San Francisco’s Panama-Pacific International Exposition 1915.
(San Francisco, California: Golden Gate National Parks Conservancy, 2004) 34, 50.

» Lau and Leiber, The Last Great World’s Fair, 34, 50, United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service.
“National Register of Historic Places Registration Form: Palace of Fine Arts,” 2004.

% Anthony Perles, The People’s Railway: The History of the Municipal Railway of San Francisco. (Glendale, California:
Interurban Press, 1981), 27.
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began on the Van Ness track April 6, 1914, and was finished in less than five months, with the tracks and electrical
work completed by August 15. In return for their haste, the city granted the contractors, The Mahoney Brothers, a
bonus of $15,000.” The track was flanked by 259 trolley poles to support the overhead wires that powered the cars.
The columns of the poles were composed of reinforced concrete, with a slender, tapered square form, a decorative
finial, and cast iron footings with a modest foliated design and square base. The poles were initially erected without
attached streetlights, but the city ultimately found the resources to install light fixtures and by the time of the
Exposition’s opening, pairs of electric streetlights were hung on each trolley pole, making Van Ness Avenue the,
“best lit thoroughfare in the city.”*

The substantial infrastructural improvements advanced by the mandate of the Exposition were a boon for the business
community and merchants of Van Ness, as well as for the general economic recovery of the city. Further, the
overflowing crowds of people travelling to and from the Exposition and the accompanying festivities and parades
brought attention and business to the avenue itself. The Van Ness Avenue Improvement Association, successor to
the Van Ness Avenue Improvement Club, was an ardent supporter of the railroad extension because its members saw
it as vital to ensure they benefitted from the Exposition. Unlike the aesthetic aims of the nineteenth century club,
who primarily sought boulevard status and civic-sponsored greenery, the twentieth century association was focused
upon stimulating business activity, the opening and improvement of streets, sewers, railways, and gas mains. This
increasingly pragmatic philosophy reflects Van Ness’s transition from an upper-class residential corridor to an
increasingly busy commercial thoroughfare. Seeking, “factories, foundries, workshops, warehouses, banks, and
stores of all kinds,” the civic leaders of the Van Ness Avenue Improvement Association utilized the excitement over
the Exposition as a means to highlight the avenue’s dynamic business potential.” Thus, even while the avenue
connected the palaces of the Exposition with the as-yet incomplete civic palaces of government, it was increasingly
becoming less of a city beautiful boulevard and more of a busy and diverse business and transportation corridor.

The Age of the Automobile: Auto Row and the Rise of Car Culture Along Van Ness Avenue

Following the exodus of post-earthquake retail establishments and during the frenzied planning of the Exposition,
another transition was also rapidly shaping Van Ness Avenue. The mixed use character of the avenue persisted, with
residences predominating in the upper reaches, and commercial and industrial institutions dominating its middle and
lower reaches, but increasingly the avenue came to be defined by a burgeoning sector in both the economy and
psyche of America: the automobile. The nascent auto industry and its array of support sectors including sales, repair,
and manufacturing found an ideal home in the spaces left by the vacating retail sector along Van Ness. Close to the
urban core, yet endowed with more land and more moderate lot and rent prices, the Van Ness corridor quickly
became one of the west’s largest Auto Rows. The industry first appeared in the vicinity of Market Street, but scores
of auto related businesses traveled steadily north, flanking the broad Van Ness Avenue from Market to the San
Francisco Bay. By 1920, grand showrooms such as the Paige Motor Company Building accompanied scores of more
modest salesrooms, garages, and repair shops (Map Reference #14). Along with New York, Philadelphia, and Los
Angeles, San Francisco proved one of the most prominent distribution centers for the growing auto industry.*® With
California leading the country in automobile sales and ownership throughout the 1910s and 1920s, the state proved a
ready market for the increasingly standardized and reliable automobiles shipped largely from the middle-western
industrial belt. As an early Auto Row, Van Ness Avenue housed hundreds of auto firms throughout the 1910s and
1920s, with Hudsons and Hupmobiles, Cole Aeros and Cadillacs filling glassy showrooms. As a burgeoning sales

*7 James Rolph Papers 1911-1930, California Historical Society, MS 1818, Box 67, Folder 4; Perles, The People’s Railway, 38.
% “Hundreds of Lights on Van Ness Avenue,” San Francisco Chronicle, February 20, 1915.

** Constitution and By-Laws of the Van Ness Avenue Improvement Association, (San Francisco, California: Pernau Publishing
Company, December 1912), 3-4. A pamphlet housed at UC Berkeley Bancroft Library.

3% Sally H. Clarke, Trust and Power: Consumers, the Modern Corporation, and the Making of the United States Automobile
Market (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2007), 3.
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corridor, the avenue became a nexus between the productive capacities of the automotive industry and the American
consumer. In many senses, the showrooms were a face for the increasingly powerful auto industry, and the array of
buildings erected represented an evolving conception of the automobile’s central role in the city, state, and nation.’'

Initially, many of the shops and display rooms were housed in small wood frame buildings, however as the clout of
the industry grew, and the importance of branding escalated in a competitive market, larger auto palaces quickly
sprung up along the avenue. Throughout the 1910s, 1920s, and to a lesser degree the 1930s, large corner lots along
the avenue were developed as automobile showrooms and smaller frontages in between were filled with modest
repair shops and used car sales facilities. Undeveloped lots doubled as open air car lots, with bright banners and
signs. At the eastern corner of Van Ness and Market Street, the White Garage boasted an auto show room, supplied
auto and motorcycle parts, and offered repairs (Map Reference #5). The intersection of Van Ness Avenue and
O’Farrell was an anchor for the district, with the Weeks and Day designed Don Lee Building; the Earl C. Anthony
Packard Showroom, designed by Bernard Maybeck in 1926; and a 1937 Art Moderne Chevrolet showroom designed
by John E. Dinwiddie (Map Reference #8). At the southwest corner of Sacramento Street and Van Ness, the Paige
Motor Car Company housed Max Arnold’s “high grade automobiles,” with the building doubling in size to
accommodate increased business in 1924 (Map Reference #14). In the northern stretches of the Row, several
looming dealerships designed by engineering firm Macdonald and Kahn expressed a factory-like form reminiscent of
the major auto plants of the Midwest (Map Reference #13, 15, 20, 21). Numerous other auto shops lined the street,
specializing in everything from upholstery to wood working for the ornate fleet of new autos flooding the growing
California market. As the wares within the showrooms evolved, so too did the architectural styling of their surrounds
and the Van Ness corridor became defined by the breakneck commercial developments of the industry. The three
decades were characterized by remarkably different architectural forms, from simple brick garages to classical
pilasters and sweeping Art Moderne curves. Beginning in the 1920s, bright neon signs filled the streetscape, with
rooftop billboards and bright signs framing the buildings.

As the popularity and ubiquity of the automobile grew, new requirements and pressures altered the roadway of Van
Ness itself. It was one of the busiest roads in the city, with scores of pedestrians, cars, and a rail line, and was soon at
the center of growing concerns over transportation safety and standardization. Gruesome accidents involving car
wrecks, pedestrian fatalities, and street car injuries regularly filled newspapers, and authorities increasingly sought
standardized traffic signaling mechanisms and speed enforcement. In 1915, the city began experimenting with small
multi-colored lanterns at the street corner. By 1921, painted white curbing, motorcycle police, and red lights at some
intersections were simultaneously implemented to curtail growing numbers of traffic hazards and accidents.*

When the long-awaited span of the Golden Gate Bridge united San Francisco with the Marin headlands to the north,
Van Ness’ central arterial identity was sealed. Previously, travelers on the Sausalito Ferry had used the avenue to
reach the ferry slips west of Fort Mason, however the construction of the bridge, and the Bay Bridge before it,
ushered in the modern era of connectivity in the previously geographically isolated northern peninsula. Van Ness
Avenue and Lombard Street became integral auto corridors carrying U.S. 101 and its growing local and regional
commercial, commuter, and recreational travel. Aware of the surge of traffic that would accompany the bridge
completion, the San Francisco Department of Public Works, in conjunction with the Works Progress Administration
(WPA), widened the Van Ness roadway, narrowing the broad sidewalks to 16 feet on both sides of Van Ness in 1936.
To accomplish the widening, all of the trolley poles were moved back from the roadway, a process which required
many of the adjacent property owners to relinquish basements under the original sidewalks and to build new
basement walls under the new narrower sidewalks. Accompanying the widening, the San Francisco Public Utilities

*! Peter J. Ling, America and the Automobile: Technology, Reform, and Social Change (Manchester and New York: Manchester
University Press, 1990), 13, 96-97.

3 “New Traffic Signal System To Be Tried,” San Francisco Chronicle, January 21, 1915; “Supervisors Join in War on
Speeding,” San Francisco Chronicle, March 21, 1921.
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Commission undertook the relighting of the poles, affixing a single tear-drop luminaire to each. The uniform lighting
standards replaced the small electric lights from the Exposition era, which had largely been considered a temporary
expedient for the occasion, and many of which had already been taken out of service. Other infrastructure was
moved as well, including fire hydrants, fire/police call boxes, sign posts, and traffic signals.

In addition to the changes along Van Ness, the area of South of Market was reconfigured in the years before the
completion of the bridge, with the South Van Ness extension connecting Van Ness to the southern portion of the city.
Transportation planners had long criticized the abrupt termination of Van Ness at Market, stating that the “blind”
street caused a central bottleneck. Carved from existing city blocks to cross Mission and overlay the southbound
course of Howard, the “Van Ness Avenue Extension” was completed in the early 1930s and was vital in connecting
the southern regions of the Peninsula with the northern reaches opened by the bridge several years later.”

Thus, with the widened traffic lanes, modernized lighting fixtures, and increased through-traffic generated by the
bridge, Van Ness Avenue continued to evolve as a city boulevard. Mayor Angelo Rossi praised the changes when he
spoke to the Board of Supervisors in 1936, stating that they, “convert[ed] the historic San Francisco boulevard into a
thoroughfare second only to Market Street in importance, property values, and beauty.”** This evaluation represented
yet another recasting of Van Ness Avenue, from staid residential boulevard, to local commercial corridor, and
ultimately to a busy segment of a growing network of city and state roads connecting the Bay area to the state and
region beyond.

This new role also posed significant transportation planning dilemmas throughout the mid-twentieth century. As both
a prominent city thoroughfare and a portion of the preeminent north-south U.S. 101, Van Ness Avenue became
central in highway development conflicts between citizens of San Francisco and transportation planners. The state
embarked upon ambitious highway development plans in the Bay area in 1940, most notably with the massive
expansion and modernization of the Bayshore Highway in the South Bay. Because U.S. 101 was transformed into a
modern freeway system along the Peninsula the urban portion of the road in San Francisco increasingly came to be
viewed as a congested chink in the new system. In 1952, initial construction on the Central Freeway was promoted
by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) as a rational solution to the bottleneck created by the path
of U.S. 101 through the city. The proposed freeway would extend from the Bayshore Freeway at the south, to the
approach to the Golden Gate Bridge at the north, cutting a swath through the city and resting largely on elevated
piers. In 1955, slightly under a mile of the route was constructed from Thirteenth Street to Mission Street. The
second unit was opened four years later from Mission to Turk Street, several blocks west of the Civic Center.”

Accompanying the explosion in post-war highway planning was a disinvestment and disavowal of the city’s rail-
based streetcar system. Across the city, rail lines were removed and paved over for use by motor buses. The coaches
still ran on electric wires and were often strung on the original trolley poles. The H Line, running up Van Ness since
the 1915 Exposition, was abandoned in March of 1950, replaced by motor coach service. The tracks were quickly
removed, with a concrete median replacing the rail and the power supply for the bus coaches (also known as trolleys)
strung to the original concrete poles.*

3 Bion J. Arnold, Report on Transportation Facilitation, City of San Francisco; City and County of San Francisco Public
Utilities Commission, Electric Power Bureau Contract No. 19: For Street Lighting Construction on Van Ness Avenue, October
1936, Archival Records on File at San Francisco Public Utilities Commission.

** City and County of San Francisco Public Utilities Commission, Electric Power Bureau Contract No. 19: For Street Lighting
Construction on Van Ness Avenue, October 1936, Archival Records on File at San Francisco Public Utilities Commission;
Proceedings of the San Francisco Board of Supervisors, 1936. 555, 604-605; “Supervisors Have Economy Streak,” San
Francisco Chronicle, December 7, 1915.

3 “District IV Freeways make Great Strides,” California Highways and Public Works, March-April 1955. 1-7; “US 101 in San
Francisco,” California Highways and Public Works, March April 1955. 20-21.

%% Perles, The People’s Railway, 180.
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The state poured millions of dollars into highway modernization, such as the construction on the Central Freeway and
its sister roadway the Embarcadero Freeway, but these projects faced simmering citizen protest over road
construction in San Francisco that exploded into a full-scale “Freeway Revolt.” Local anger at the seeming
indifference of transportation planners to the condensed architectural fabric of the city left the San Francisco Board
of Supervisors torn between appeasing the local constituency and realizing statewide transportation goals. Mirroring
other urban protests such as that against the Robert Moses led freeway plans in New York City, San Franciscans
railed against neighborhood destruction caused by rampant road construction. Ultimately successful, the furor led to
a 1959 vote in which the Board of Supervisors unanimously voted to terminate construction on most freeways
throughout the city. Work on both the Central Freeway and the Embarcadero Freeway halted, and the massive
corridors remained incomplete stubs that fell far short of their intended form. One of the results of this controversy
was that the congested urban corridor of Van Ness Avenue retained the mantle of U.S. 101. In contrast to the 1955
depictions of a freeway connecting U.S. 101 to the Golden Gate Bridge, Caltrans reports in 1961 are strikingly
modest, stating that, “construction and design activities, except for landscaping and minor projects, are confined at
present.” The yearly report noted instead that, “bids were opened for resurfacing Van Ness Avenue,” and the avenue
was once again San Francisco’s answer to U.S. 101.”

Paradoxically, as highway construction transformed much of California and millions of automobiles filled the multi-
lane roads, the fortunes of Auto Row fell into decline. The freeways, winding outward from urban cores to their
sprawling peripheries, allowed rampant population dispersal and commercial interconnectivity. An auto showroom
on Van Ness Avenue, with high rent and land values, and compressed space, often proved no match for the cheap
rents, convenient parking, and proximity of surrounding suburban dealers. Further, as the romance and mystique of
the automobile ceded to a comfortable familiarity and utilitarian ubiquity, the palaces of the earlier era seemed
increasingly anachronistic and outdated. By the 1950s, and escalating through the 1960s and 1970s, auto dealers left
Van Ness Avenue. Old showrooms stood vacant or were filled with bakeries, restaurants, laundromats, movie
theaters, even gymnasiums. Although some prominent dealers remained, with several sales rooms remaining today,
the cohesive strip of diverse architectural palaces eroded and Van Ness Avenue once again assumed a new urban
character. A targeted plan developed by the San Francisco Planning Department in the late 1980s acknowledged the
transitional challenges facing the avenue, citing the need for an increased mixed-use and residential character as well
as the necessity of creative adaptation of many of the distinctive auto showrooms along the avenue. The plan also
encouraged the planting of trees and greenery along the street and in the median, an echo of the boulevard plans of
the late nineteenth century.*®

Thus from the 1858 survey to today’s mixed use avenue, a number of distinctive epochs have shaped Van Ness
Avenue: residential settlement accompanying the tumultuous nineteenth century San Francisco population boom, the
profound impact of the dislocation of the 1906 conflagration and the ensuing commercial rush, the infrastructural
mandate and progressive City Beautiful aims of the Panama-Pacific Exposition and Civic Center, and the rise and
hegemony of both the automobile and the modern highway in city and regional life. Throughout these periods the
avenue has served as a constantly evolving corridor, altered successively to suit the urban aims and motivations of the
period. The avenue bears layers from each period, with several pre-earthquake residences in its upper portions,
trolley poles dating from the Exposition era, some remaining auto showrooms, as well as modern highway
improvements and residential high-rises. These layers indicate a successive re-conceptualization of the corridor that
has allowed it to remain a viable and dynamic component of San Francisco’s street system.

*7 Walton Bean, California: An Interpretive History. (New York: McGraw Hill Book Company, 1968) 529; Genevieve Giuliano
and Susan Hanson, The Geography of Urban Transportation. (New York: The Guilford Press, 2004) 400; “Bay Area Freeways,”
California Highways and Public Works, May-June 1961. 1-9.

3 San Francisco Planning Department, “Van Ness Avenue Area Plan.”
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Evaluation

As discussed, the historical development of Van Ness Avenue has four potential periods of significance: the 1858
Van Ness Survey, the earthquake and fire of 1906, the 1915 Panama-Pacific Exposition, and the rise of San
Francisco’s Auto Row. In its primary role as a central urban transportation corridor, the avenue lacks specific
associations to significant events in local, state, or national history during each of the periods, except for its role as
one of the fire breaks during the 1906 fire, which is discussed below. This lack of specific association is specifically
addressed in National Register guidance for evaluation, which cautions that, “mere association with historic events or
trends is not enough, in and of itself, to qualify under Criterion A” because “the property’s specific association must
be considered important as well.””” As one of the city’s major thoroughfares the avenue displays a general
association with important events and trends in the city; however, as the guidelines state these broad associations are
not in and of themselves basis for consideration under Criterion A. Like other major corridors in the city, such as
Market Street, Potrero Avenue, Mission Street, or Geary Boulevard, Van Ness Avenue served to connect both
everyday activities and notable citywide events through its general role as a transportation link. It did not, however,
as a city street, have a specific important role within its initial survey, the 1915 Exposition, or the development of
Auto Row.

The road was a basic component of the Van Ness Survey, and while illustrative of San Francisco’s steady expansion,
was not directly associated with significant events or trends that shaped the city and lacks specific significance under
Criterion A or 1. Similarly, the transportation role the avenue played during the 1915 Panama Pacific Exposition
does not rise to individual significance under Criterion A or 1. The avenue was not a central feature of the exposition
undertaking and was instead pressed into service by practical need as the city grappled with accommodating the
throngs of visitors to the site. The avenue was not associated with significant events or trends during the event, and
upon the exposition’s close Van Ness emerged once again as an eclectic residential and commercial corridor. Lastly,
the role of the avenue within the development of San Francisco’s Auto Row is not significant under Criterion A or 1.
Auto Row was characterized by the evolving architectural styles and forms of the row of buildings erected from the
1910s to the 1930s, but the role of the street itself was not an important characteristic. As dealers sought to
differentiate themselves and gain market share in the rapidly expanding industry, the architectural form of the auto
“palaces” gained extreme importance and prestige. The Van Ness corridor itself does not convey this important
architectural and social legacy, which is instead embodied in the buildings that line the avenue.

In its role during the 1906 Earthquake, however, the avenue does have potential significance under Criterion A or 1.
The wide avenue served as one of the fire breaks that allowed the city to check the advancing flames and halt the fire
that devastated much of downtown. Although the avenue was not originally designed as a fire break, the local fire
department recognized that the width of the road could make it useful for this purpose. Subsequently, the course of
the fire and the utter inferno of the blaze along the Market Street corridor, thrust the road into service during the days
following April 18, 1906, and the avenue itself ultimately did play a central role in the transformative event. This
potential significance is undercut by a lack of integrity to the period because the avenue does not retain physical
elements or characteristics that could convey significance within the context of the fire event. While the avenue
retains the overall outside width, the entirety of the corridor has been altered since the earthquake, including the
infrastructural elements of the street itself and the surrounding setting. The character defining features of the road,
including its paving, curbing, medians, planting, signage, streetcar equipment, bus shelters, and various utilities have
all been substantially altered over time. The original lower commercial area, the grand residential buildings along the
mid section, and the more modest residences and business of the north end have been dramatically altered through the
construction of the Civic Center, modern high-rise buildings, and construction of predominantly commercial
buildings throughout the mid section of the street. As such, the avenue does not convey feeling or association to the

¥ NPS, “How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation,” National Register Bulletin 15 (NPS, GPO: 1991, and
updated various years), 12.
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time of the disaster or the early days of recovery, but instead displays buildings, landscaping, and street furniture
from many time periods throughout the twentieth and twenty-first, centuries. This lack of integrity undermines the
avenue’s ability to convey potential significance under Criterion A or 1 because its design, setting, materials,
workmanship, feeling, and association no longer bear a relationship to the 1906 context.

Van Ness Avenue is not directly associated with persons significant in local, state, or national history (Criterion B or
2). Although the avenue was surveyed under the auspices of, and is named for, the influential and Mayor James Van
Ness, this is a tangential and commemorative association that does not convey a direct or important historical
connection that merits recognition. Again, National Register guidance offers this clarification, “A resource that has a
non-commemorative primary function,” does not meet Criteria Consideration F for commemorative properties.*’
Innumerable streets in San Francisco, the state, and the nation bear the names of prominent citizens and sometimes
significant persons, and this type of memorialization is common, but the avenue does not have direct associations
with Van Ness, or any other prominent figures in history. The development of the transportation corridor was not
furthered by any one individual any significant person’s civic aims.

Lastly, Van Ness Avenue lacks architectural, design, and engineering significance and does not display particular
characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction. The avenue and its accompanying street features do not
illustrate the work of a master or demonstrate a significant design standard (Criterion C or 3). As a prominent arterial
component within the overall street system of San Francisco, a densely settled corridor supporting commercial, civic,
and residential activities, and a component of U.S. 101, the avenue’s design and planning reflect a myriad of public
and private design intents, none of which are significant in local, state, or national history and none of which reflect a
sustained or cohesive architectural or engineering program. The avenue was surveyed to a substantial width to
promote its development as a comparable thoroughfare to its east-west counterpart Market Street, but this design
choice primarily indicated a pragmatic solution for the need for a prominent transportation corridor for what was then
the city’s northwestern outskirts, rather than a comprehensive architectural or design goal. No coherent design aims
accompanied the decisions regarding its width, grading, paving, curbing, or landscaping, which occurred in
fragmented segments without overarching coordination. Throughout the 1860s, 1870s, and 1880s, as the avenue
slowly consolidated into an upper-class residential corridor and little municipal attention was given to a cohesive
design strategy for the avenue. The 1896 declaration of Van Ness Avenue as a “Boulevard” had little lasting effect,
as the primary attributes of the declaration: increased landscaping and decreased traffic, largely failed to come to
fruition. With the disruption of the earthquake and the subsequent redevelopment of the avenue as an increasingly
commercial corridor, virtually all vestiges of the original concept of the “boulevard” nature of the avenue faded.

In the same sense, the relationship of Van Ness Avenue to the early twentieth century City Beautiful boosterism
surrounding the development of the Civic Center and the Panama-Pacific Exposition lacks significance under
Criterion C or 1. Although the avenue passes through the Civic Center, Van Ness preceded the creation of the center
by fifty years and neither it nor its basic streetscape features are a significant design element of the Civic Center plan.
The avenue and its street features are instead simply basic arterial components. The Civic Center complex largely
extends east from Van Ness Avenue, with its pedestrian elements and plazas concentrated along Polk Street, Larkin
Street, and Hyde Street. As the 1987 National Historic Landmark documentation states, the “San Francisco Civic
Center is a group of monumental buildings around a central open space (Civic Center Plaza), and additional buildings
that extend the principal axis to the east and west.” Van Ness Avenue plays a peripheral role in this monumental
assemblage that does not merit consideration as a individual contributing element of the district.

Additionally, Van Ness lacked a significant architectural or design role as a transportation corridor between the 1915
Panama-Pacific Exposition and the Civic Center and the rest of the city. Van Ness had been in place for more than
55 years as an existing roadway and although it was pressed into temporary service as one of the transportation

“0'NPS, National Register Bulletin 15, 39.
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corridors serving fair goers, it had long been planned as the location of one of the city’s new municipal streetcar
lines. Other than the streetcar, Van Ness received little direct attention as part of the Exposition design and layout.
The avenue was not considered a promenade upon which to linger or loiter and was instead a necessary
infrastructural element outside of the wonders of the Exposition grounds. The streetcar system’s trolley poles, while
of a pleasant design in keeping with the general aesthetic of the classicism of the fair, were also relatively simple and
expedient infrastructure. In contrast to the light standards envisioned by Walter D’Arcy Ryan in his “Total
[lumination Plan” for the Exposition, the electric lights added to the trolley poles in February 1915 were installed
with great haste and little design consideration, and were quickly partially shuttered following the event (See DPR
523 for Trolley Poles/Light Standards Map Reference # 2). Additionally, other streetscape elements, including fire
hydrants and call boxes from this period, some of which still remain on the corridor, were not part of a significant
design or city engineering program but instead representative ubiquitous utilities and infrastructure during the period.
Essentially, within the context of the fleeting grandeur of the Panama-Pacific International Exposition and the
substantial monumentality of the Civic Center, Van Ness Avenue played a secondary support role that was dwarfed
by the design and artistry of both undertakings.*'

Within the context of “Auto Row” development, Van Ness Avenue also lacks architectural or engineering
significance. Although many of the buildings flanking the avenue were, and are, architecturally distinguished and the
programmatic cohesiveness of the avenue’s surrounding building types may constitute a historic district, the
streetscape does not rise to a level of significance as an important example of such infrastructure. As a transportation
corridor that linked the thriving businesses of Auto Row to local and regional markets, the avenue played a secondary
and largely utilitarian role that was not singularly important or significant under Criterion C or 3. Similarly, as an
undistinguished urban component of U.S. 101, adopted into the highway system with the opening of the Golden Gate
Bridge, Van Ness Avenue does not embody any architectural or engineering significance as a transportation corridor.
The road, and its ancillary infrastructure features, serve as a general arterial connecting the city with the region and
are of a basic design and form.

Further, as discussed above, in addition to a lack of significance, the corridor does not retain physical integrity to any
one historic period but is instead characterized by overlapping infrastructural layers. All of the features of the
roadway have changed substantially over time, with new paving and curb cuts, and installation of medians, modern
fire hydrants, street lights, and various other infrastructural elements added throughout the last century. Municipal
Railway tracks once coursed the center of the road, only to be removed and replaced with concrete medians,
landscaping, and traffic signals. Similarly, the character of the workmanship, materials, setting, feeling, and
association of the avenue have changed greatly over time, with residential development ceding to commercial
buildings and this in-turn giving way of late to modern high-rise residential. The original uninterrupted street surface
has been incised with rails and medians strips, and the sidewalks reduced in width. This steady alteration undermines
all of the aspects of integrity excepting location, which is not sufficient in and of itself for NRHP or CRHR
consideration.

In rare instances structures themselves can serve as sources of important information about historic construction
materials or technologies, but the existing street surface, sidewalks, medians, and other street furniture are otherwise
well documented and do not appear to be a principal sources of information in this regard (Criteria D and 4).

*! For more information on lighting at the Panama Pacific International Exposition, see Laura Anne Ackley, Innovations in
Illumination at the Panama Pacific International Exposition of 1915, (2002), a UC Berkeley Master’s thesis on file at UC
Berkeley Environmental Design Library.
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Figure 1: San Francisco Civic Center Historic District Boundaries
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 2: South Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south from Market Street, 3/9/09.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 3: Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south toward War Memorial Complex, 3/9/09.

Photograph 4: Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south from California Street, 3/9/09.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 5: Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south from Pine Street, 3/9/09.

Photograph 6: Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south from Bush Street, 3/9/09.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 8: Van Ness Avenue, camera facing south from North Point Street, 3/9/09.
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Photographs: (Continued)
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Photograph 10: Bus Shelter at Van Ness Avenue and Bay Street 3/9/09.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 11: Trolley poles and modern poles at Van Ness Avenue and Greenwich Street 3/9/09.
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NRHP Status Code 6L
Other Listings
Review Code Reviewer Date

Page 1 of 41 *Resource Name or #: Map Reference #2

P1. Other Identifier: Van Ness Avenue Trolley Poles / Light Standards

*P2. Location: O Not for Publication Unrestricted *a. County: San Francisco
and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.)

*b. USGS 7.5' Quad: San Francisco North, Calif. = Date: 1956, photorevised 1968
c. Address: Van Ness Avenue, Market Street to North Point Street City: San Francisco zip:94109

d. UTM: Zone: 10 ; mE/ mN (G.P.S.)
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g., parcel #, directions to resource, elevation, etc., as appropriate) Elevation:
See Area Map

*P3a. Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries)

The resource evaluated herein includes 259 original trolley poles and modern replacement light standards that run
from Market Street to North Point Street on the edge of the eastern and western sidewalks of Van Ness Avenue. The
majority of the poles are reinforced concrete construction, however a small number are replacement metal poles with
cobra type heads. The concrete poles are reminiscent of the Corinthian order and have a slender, tapered form with a
decorative foliated finial and base (photograph 1, replacement pole photograph 2) (see continuation sheet).

*P3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) HP28 (Street Furniture)

*P4. Resources Present: O Building O Structure O Object O Site O District O Element of District [X] Other (multi component
resource.)

P5a. Photo or Drawing (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) PSb. Description of Ph_oto: (View, date,
accession #) Representative pole (#271, NW

corner of Greenwich and Van Ness), camera
facing northeast.

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and Sources:
XIHistoric

OPrehistoric OBoth

1914, 1936 light standards, and ongoing

alterations (SFPUC)

*P7. Owner and Address:
County of San Francisco

*P8. Recorded by: (Name, affiliation, and
address)

Polly S. Allen; Meta Bunse
JRP Historical Consulting LLC
1490 Drew Avenue Suite 110
Davis, CA 95618

*P9. Date Recorded:
March-April, 2009

*P10. Survey Type: (Describe)
Intensive

*P11. Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter "none.") JRP Historical Consulting, LLC, “Historic Resources
Inventory and Evaluation Report for San Francisco County Transportation Authority (SFCTA) Van Ness Avenue Bus Rapid
Transit (BRT) Study,” 2009.

*Attachments: ONONE [OLocation Map OSketch Map [XlContinuation Sheet [XIBuilding, Structure, and Object Record

OArchaeological Record ODistrict Record OLinear Feature Record OMilling Station Record [ORock Art Record
OArtifact Record OPhotograph Record O Other (List):
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*Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Map Reference #2

B1l. Historic Name: Same
B2. Common Name: hone
B3. Original Use: trolley poles with wire support for electric streetcars, streetlight standards
B4. Present Use: light standards, wire support for MUNI, signage and traffic signaling
*B5. Architectural Style: utilitarian with Classical ornamentation
*B6. Construction History: (Construction date, alterations, and date of alterations) The poles were erected in 1914 to support
electrical wiring for the Van Ness Avenue Municipal Railway (see continuation sheet).
*B7. Moved? [ONo XYes [OUnknown Date: 1936 Original Location: Six feet in toward street center
*B8. Related Features: n/a

B9a. Architect: unknown, although periodicals state that City Engineer M.M. O’Shaunessy prepared initial drawings
b. Builder; Original construction by San Francisco Municipal Railway / Mahoney Brothers, Joshua Hendy Iron
Works; replacement cast iron bases constructed by Steiger and Kerr Stove and Foundry Company.

*B10. Significance: Theme: n/a Area: n/a
Period of Significance: n/a Property Type: h/a Applicable Criteria: n/a
(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope. Also address integrity.)

This intensive survey and evaluation finds that the Van Ness Avenue Trolley Poles/Light Standards do not appear
eligible for individual listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), the California Register of Historical
Resources (CRHR), or local designation because they lack integrity. This evaluation is consistent with San Francisco
Preservation Bulletin 5, “Landmark and Historic District Designation Procedures,” which directs that historic
properties be evaluated for local designation using the California OHP Recordation Manual (as per San Francisco
Landmarks Board Resolution No. 527, June 7, 2000). The trolley poles/light standards have also been evaluated in
accordance with Section 15064.5(a)(2)-(3) of the CEQA Guidelines, using the criteria outlined in Section 5024.1 of
the California Public Resources Code, and are not historical resources for the purposes of CEQA (see continuation
sheet).

B11. Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) n/a

B12. References: San Francisco Department of Buildings Building

Permits; Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps for the City of San Francisco; City
and County of San Francisco Public Utilities Commission Files; City
Planning Files; San Francisco Architectural Heritage files; San Francisco See continuation sheet, Map 1.
Chronicle; James Rolph Papers (California Historical Society); Perles, The
People’s Railway (1981); Brignall, The Last Great World’s Fair (2004);
Todd, The Story of the Exposition (1921); see footnotes for additional
referencts.

(Sketch Map with north arrow required.)

B13. Remarks:
*B14. Evaluator: Meta Bunse and Polly S. Allen
*Date of Evaluation: April 2009

(This space reserved for official comments.)
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P3a. Description: (Continued)

The finial is of cast iron and features a tapered square crown cradled by an abacus and medallions terminating in
volute detailing. While all of the finials are original, the bases are a mixture of original cast iron and replacement
fiberglass. Some poles are missing the base altogether, and many of those that do remain are very deteriorated
(photographs 3, 4, 5, and 6). On the original bases, the north and south sides each feature a removable cast iron door
that allow access to the mechanical equipment within. The original doors are stamped “Joshua Hendy Iron Works
S.F. CA”, a Bay Area foundry commissioned to make the base (photograph 7). Several poles feature cast iron doors
stamped “Steiger and Kerr Stove and Foundry Company S.F. CAL” (photograph 8) and were early replacements for
the original Hendy products. The modern replacement fiberglass bases do not bear any makers mark and do not have
any access doors, as did the cast iron originals (photograph 9).

Tear drop light fixtures project from the upper portion of the pole, slightly beneath the decorative finial. These
bracket fixtures were 1936 additions to the pole that replaced the pairs of globe lights hastily installed in preparation
for the 1915 Panama Pacific International Exposition (photograph 10, historic photographs 16 and 18). The 1936 tear
drop fixture is mounted on a foliated spiraling cast iron bracket. The brackets are attached to the poles by cinch
anchor bolts made by the National Lead Company. The luminaires installed on these brackets in 1936 were General
Electric Company’s Form 81 pendant ornamental luminaire, accompanied by the same company’s No. 193 light
alabaster rippled globe, however all of these have been replaced, most recently with the conversion to high pressure
sodium vapor lamps (HPSV) (photograph 10). The majority of the poles are painted with buff colored paint. This
color is similar to the original installation; however the bases and finials were originally darker in color, in contrast to
the body of the pole (see photographs 4, 16, and 20). The sole exception to this is within the Civic Center Historic
District, where some of the bases have been painted gold. There is no indication that this was part of the original
design (photograph 11).

The overall integrity of the poles is quite low, and the condition is also poor as many of the shafts are spalling and
deteriorated (photograph 12 and 19). More than one-half of the bases of the remaining original poles are modern
replacement fiber glass without access doors. Of the remaining original cast iron bases, many have replacement or
missing access doors without any maker’s mark. Both original and replacement bases are very damaged and
deteriorated. The cast iron bases exhibit substantial corrosion (photograph 3). The fiberglass replicas are also
chipped and broken, pushed askew from the base, and often missing major portions or fasteners (photographs 15a and
15b). Further, although the poles run from Market Street to North Point Street, the uniform aesthetic of the network
has been diminished by the insertion of modern support poles (photographs 12, 14, 17). Throughout the entire
avenue, modern poles have been introduced to support MUNI wires, traffic signals, and other infrastructural
elements, often directly abutting the concrete poles. These insertions greatly alter the visual cohesiveness of the
network (see Section B10). For detailed information on the integrity of individual poles, please refer to the attached
pole maps (Map 3).

B6. Construction History: (Continued)

In 1915, light brackets were added in preparation for the Panama Pacific Exposition. In 1936, the original lights were
removed and new light fixtures and brackets were added. At this time the poles were moved to accommodate a 12-
foot road widening. New tear-drop pendant lights and brackets were added to the original concrete poles when they
were relocated as part of street widening. Throughout the twentieth century, many of the cast iron bases were
removed or destroyed by deterioration or impact damage, and over half of the bases are fiberglass replicas installed in
about 1997. Before the insertions of the fiberglass replicas, many of the original bases were missing or replaced with
plywood or sheet metal. Similarly, deterioration of the light standards and functional obsolescence led to
replacement of many of the lamps and surrounding fixtures at some point after 1997. In addition to components of
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the original poles, a number of modern metal poles have been introduced as infill support structures to carry wires
and MUNI lines that cannot be supported by the deteriorated concrete poles (source: City and County of San
Francisco Public Utilities Commission, correspondence files).

*B10. Significance:

The Van Ness Avenue trolley poles and light standards were documented in a 1982 San Francisco Downtown
Inventory undertaken by San Francisco Architectural Heritage and were found to merit a level “B” (major
importance) in their rating system. According to San Francisco Preservation Bulletin 16: “City and County of San
Francisco Planning Department CEQA Review Procedures for Historic Resources,” this rating does not qualify as an
adopted local register for the purpose of CEQA and requires further consultation and review, which is provided
herein. The poles are also referenced in the Van Ness Avenue Area Plan component of the San Francisco General
Plan (Policy 8.8: Street Lighting); however, they are not listed as a significant or contributing historical resource in
this Area Plan. Some of the poles located in the Civic Center National Historic Landmark District (NHLD) were
referenced in a 2007 Historic Resources Evaluation Report (HRER) prepared for the Van Ness Avenue Streetscape
Improvement Project undertaken by the San Francisco Department of Public Works (SFDPW). As a local agency
project undertaking under Section 106, the project was conducted under the auspices of the Programmatic Agreement
(PA) among the Federal Highway Administration, the Advisory Council on Preservation, the California State
Preservation Officer, and Caltrans. Sixteen poles are located within the boundaries of the NHLD, on both sides of
Van Ness between Grove Street and McAllister Street (See Map 2). These sixteen poles were among eleven
elements described in the HRER as proposed character-defining features of the streetscape of the Civic Center
NHLD.! The HRER/HPSR did not include evaluation analysis of these proposed character defining features, has not
resulted in a determination regarding the eligibility of the trolley poles or other features, and the proposed
amendments have not been listed as contributing elements of the Civic Center NHLD. The poles have never been
fully evaluated under NRHP or California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) criteria and this analysis is
provided herein. For evaluation of the sixteen poles located within the NHLD, please see the update sheets for the
Civic Center NHLD (Map Reference #3).

Historic Context

The Van Ness Avenue Municipal Railway line was completed August 15, 1914, after a construction project of less
than five months. The City established the streetcar in anticipation of the 1915 Panama Pacific International
Exposition and the millions expected to flock to the 635 acre marvel. City officials hastily commissioned the rail line
as a means to efficiently transport Exposition attendees to and from the site, and although several private cable car
lines ran in the vicinity of the street, none traversed its length, and local businessmen and Exposition promoters felt
that this transportation void presented a major threat to the success of the event. In a 1913 report, City Engineer
M.M. O'Shaughnessy predicted that during days of maximum attendance it would be necessary to transport up to
60,000 people per hour by rail, a staggering number that far outstripped the city’s capacity.’

! Architectural Resources Group, “Historic Resources Evaluation Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project,
City of San Francisco, California,” prepared by Bridget M. Maley, Prepared for California Department of Transportation District
4 and City and County of San Francisco, Department of Public Works, March 2007; Architectural Resources Group, ‘“Historic
Property Survey Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, City of San Francisco, California,” prepared for
California Department of Transportation District 4 and City and County of San Francisco, Department of Public Works, October
2007.

2 James Rolph Papers 1911-1930, California Historical Society, MS 1818, Box 67, Folder 4; Anthony Perles, The People’s
Railway: The History of the Municipal Railway of San Francisco. (Glendale, California: Interurban Press, 1981), 38.
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On a broader level, however, the two miles of rail line on Van Ness Avenue represented an even larger civic
undertaking, as San Francisco both rebuilt itself into a modern city in the wake of the devastating earthquake and fire
of 1906 and overcame the corruption and graft of the privately owned streetcar services. With a city nearly destroyed
by physical disaster, the years following the event proved a frenzy of development, innovation, and widespread
boosterism. In the autumn of 1911, “Sunny Jim” Rolph swept the San Francisco mayoral election with the campaign
slogan “Forward San Francisco.” The slogan crystallized the broad progressive momentum undergirding civic drives
for physical development, social reform, and major infrastructural projects including water systems, bridges, tunnels,
and momentous civic construction. Foremost in this array of improvements were the white palaces of the new Civic
Center and City Hall, which were envisioned as a permanent embodiment of both San Francisco’s rebirth and reform
and the City Beautiful ideals extolled by the Exposition.

Thus, although the drive for municipal rail coincided with the planning of the Exposition, the motivations behind city
sponsored rail service stemmed from a broad impulse for progressive civic reform, efficiency, and urban
consolidation. Prior to the city’s foray into rail service, San Francisco was served by ten private companies, with
cable cars criss-crossing the city. In a social and political climate steeped in Progressivism, this complicated network
of for-profit ventures was derided as corrupt and regressive. The first Municipal Railway line was completed on
Geary Street in 1912 to great fanfare. A crowd of 50,000 gathered to commemorate the opening as Mayor Rolph
proclaimed that the line was, “but the nucleus of a mighty system of streetcar lines which [would] someday
encompass the entire city.”?

The next major addition to this system was the line that ran the length of Van Ness from the Civic Center to the
Exposition grounds. Work began on the Van Ness Avenue alignment on April 6, 1914, and was finished in less than
five months, with the tracks and electrical work completed by August 15. In return for their haste, the city granted
the contractors, Mahoney Brothers, a bonus of $15,000.* The track was flanked by 259 trolley poles that held the
overhead electrical power supply wires and guy wires in place. In contrast to the Geary Street poles, which were
basic designs of tubular steel produced by the United States Steel Products Company, the Van Ness trolley poles
were of a more refined and ornamental aesthetic. Reflecting the linking role the system played between the
Exposition site and the Market Street and Civic Center area, the design conformed to the stylistic mandate of these
major Beaux Arts developments.® The restrained Corinthian elements, coated in a pale buff paint and contrasting
finials to match the color scheme of the Exposition, the otherwise utilitarian infrastructure was reflective of
important stylistic overtones. From the abacus adorning the finial, to the elegant cast iron base designed by Joshua
Hendy Iron Works, the poles were emblematic of the rail line’s association with the larger general aesthetics of the
Exposition and other Beaux Art projects in and around Market Street and the Civic Center. Although they were
emblematic of this stylistic milieu, however, the poles were not specifically part of the design plan for the Civic
Center, and were markedly different in form from the light standards being developed within the Civic Center cross
streets and plaza (historical photograph 25). In fact, the poles along Van Ness were erected without attached
streetlights, but by the time of the Exposition pairs of electric streetlights were hung on each trolley pole, making Van
Ness Avenue, “the best lit thoroughfare in the city.”® The lights were provided by the Pacific Gas and Electric
Company and consisted of “two high-candle power tungsten lamps,” a popular and common form of incandescent
lighting at the time (historical photographs 16 and 18 depict original lighting fixtures).” The importance of lighting

® Perles, The People’s Railway, 27.
# James Rolph Papers 1911-1930; Perles, The People’s Railway, 38.

® “Plans Ready for Track on Market,” San Francisco Chronicle, August 8, 1912; “Van Ness Avenue Municipal Road,” San
Francisco Chronicle, December 24, 1912.

® “Hundreds of Lights on Van Ness Avenue,” San Francisco Chronicle, February 20, 1915.

" “Many Lights for Van Ness Avenue,” San Francisco Chronicle, January 5, 1915.
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mirrored the Exposition’s attention to illumination and throughout the event, the Exposition grounds were aglow in
an array of modern lighting that was “absolutely unique and unequaled.”®

Only three days after the official closing of the fair grounds, the San Francisco Board of Supervisors voted to turn off
every other one of the Van Ness trolley pole lights. With the departure of the throngs visiting the Exposition, the
need for the extensive lighting system along Van Ness dissipated and the Board undertook the measure as a symbol
of civic economy.® Simultaneously, however, the city was embarking upon ambitious lighting schemes in other parts
of San Francisco. The “Path of Gold” and “Golden Triangle” lighting systems were both directly inspired by the
aesthetic and technological model provided by the Exposition. These much-touted lighting systems featured the high
current luminous arc lamps employed at the Exposition, lighting technology that was already in effect in other major
cities yet new to the business districts of San Francisco. The 1916 Path of Gold standards (San Francisco City
Landmark #200) boasted design work by preeminent sculptor Arthur Putnam, with an intricate depiction of the
“Winning of the West” at their base. The 1918 Golden Triangle standards (San Francisco City Landmark #233) held
glass fixtures of San Francisco Golden Carrarra Glass and intricate Corinthian detailing. Funded by a mixture of
public and private monies, these lighting systems garnered much praise both locally and from afar, with electrical
engineer Walter D’Arcy Ryan stating that, “San Francisco has shown the country how a city’s business district
should be illuminated to best advantage.”*

Paradoxically, in order to fund these downtown lighting ventures, the San Francisco Board of Supervisors further cut
expenditures for Van Ness lighting. Thus, by the late 1910s, the light standards along Van Ness provided uneven
illumination, with some lights missing, dark, or broken.'* The original ribbon of light, stretching from the Civic
Center to the Exposition, proved fleeting as economic concerns and the secondary status of the Van Ness Avenue
business district undermined the impetus of the Exposition aims.

Fifteen years passed before any significant attention was given to the Van Ness Avenue poles and lights. When city
officials were preparing for the opening of the Golden Gate Bridge, Van Ness Avenue once again emerged as a
critical transportation corridor for San Francisco. Although the avenue was originally surveyed to an enormous width
of 125 feet, the avenue’s broad sidewalks, center trolley track, and bustling traffic flow caused congestion and traffic
hazards that officials feared would be exacerbated by the opening of the new bridge. Under a project funded by the
Works Progress Administration (WPA), the traffic lanes within the existing avenue were widened by six feet by
narrowing the sidewalks on both sides of the street.

The WPA project included excavation, relocation, and re-installation of all 259 trolley poles, which proved a
substantial undertaking that required adjacent property owners to reconfigure any existing basements that extended
underneath the sidewalks. Contracting firm Macdonald and Kahn undertook the project and completed the work in
March of 1937. In addition to moving the poles, the firm coated each in a wash of “concreta,” a sealant that gave the
surface a stone-like texture."

® Hallie Brignall, The Last Great World’s Fair: San Francisco’s Panama-Pacific Exposition 1915 (San Francisco: Golden Gate
National Parks Conservancy, 2004), 12; Frank Morton Todd, The Story of the Exposition (New York: G.P. Putnam’s Sons,
1921), 342-349; Ackley, Laura Anne, “Innovations in Illumination at the Panama Pacific International Exposition of 1915,” (an
unpublished thesis submitted to University of California Berkeley, 2002. On file at the Bancroft Library.

% «“Supervisors Have Economy Streak,” San Francisco Chronicle, December 7, 1915.

10 «“San Francisco’s Path of Gold,” San Francisco Chronicle, February 26, 1925; “The Path of Gold Light Standards: Final Case
Report Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board,” February 20, 1991, on file at San Francisco City Planning; “Golden Triangle
Light Standards Case Report (Case No. 1999.481L),” September 6, 2001, on file at San Francisco City Planning.

1 “Bright Lights Will Make A Path of Gold,” San Francisco Chronicle, February 15, 1916.

12 Information relating to the movement of the poles is on file at the City and County of San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
in the Van Ness Avenue correspondence file, (Municipal Railway Contract No. 173); “Street Widening Project Started,” San

Francisco Chronicle, September 24, 1936; “Wider Street Plans Studied,” San Francisco Chronicle, February 16, 1936. The
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Detail of typical trolley pole showing new bracket and light fixture added to each pole. Plans
signed by Chief Engineer Ost, September 1936. (Plans on file with SFPUC).

Under a separate contract, the newly moved poles were adorned with new lighting
standards, developed by the City and County of San Francisco Public Utilities
Commission. Manager and Chief Engineer Paul J. Ost designed the spiraling
brackets and tear drop luminaires. Unlike the original light fixtures, which consisted
of modest pairs of globes projecting from the poles on metal conduit a few feet below
the top, the new lights were hung singly from the top of the pole on brackets
(photographs 1, 10, 20). The bracket design alluded to the same classical imagery as
those developed in the wake of the Exposition, but the hardware and lighting
elements were standardized components provided by General Electric. The lighting
of the avenue received little of the fanfare that accompanied the Path of Gold and
Golden Triangle light systems, with only a brief media mention of the street’s new
lighting on April 15, 1937. Attended by officials of the Van Ness Avenue
Improvement Association and the Downtown Association, the small ceremony
reflected the relatively prosaic status of the updated light system."

The relocated poles and new light standards remained in place even as the San
Francisco Municipal Railway underwent significant transitions in the mid-twentieth
century. As early as 1917, the city had ordered five motor coach buses from the
White Motor Company, the first foray in a conversion from track based transit to
motor coach transit that would span a number of decades.** By the 1930s, many were
advocating the transition from the track-based rail to trackless trolley coaches along
Van Ness Avenue. Citing concerns over noise and overcrowding, the rail based

TS Cossion system was derided by Van Ness business interests as regressive and backward. City
officials appeared to agree, with Mayor Angelo Rossi requesting a budget
' 5. a| appropriation for the conversion in 1936.%° Although the Van Ness Avenue tracks
remained in service for another fifteen years, the move away from rail was part of a
wider transition toward automobile-based solutions for public transportation. As the automobile rose in popularity in
the early twentieth century, the technological developments of the auto industry were translated to municipal
transportation efforts. Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, operations of the Municipal Railway were increasingly
supplanted by motor coach service, with the trolley car increasingly seen as a curious relic.

By the close of World War 11, the decline in streetcar ridership was marked. In the years that followed, nationwide
declines in passenger ridership indicated the growing power of the automobile, as better roads and highways and
increased auto ownership altered transportation patterns across the country. The fall in ridership and corresponding

WPA project also included installation of new light standards (light poles) on the cross streets adjacent to City Hall and the new
Opera House and War Memorial buildings. The cross street light poles installed in 1936 were not part of the Van Ness trolley
system and were not surveyed for this project.

3 «“Van Ness Avenue Lamps Turned On,” San Francisco Chronicle, April 15, 1937; “City and County of San Francisco Public
Utilities Commission Electric Power Bureau Contract. No. 19,” October 1936, on file at City and County of San Francisco Public
Utilities Commission Van Ness Avenue correspondence file.

4 Perles, The People’s Railway, 89.

5 “Mayor Urges Railless Cars on Van Ness Avenue,”San Francisco Chronicle, May 15, 1936; “Trolley Track Removal From
Van Ness Urged,” San Francisco Chronicle, March 14, 1936.
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increases in municipal operating costs led to the abandonment of many lines, as service was consolidated. To
address the fundamental shift in transportation patterns, Mayor Roger Lapham sponsored a $20 million bond issue in
1947, calling for the complete overhaul and modernization of the antiquated transportation system. Between 1947
and 1952 the Van Ness Avenue rail line, as well as the Market Street rail line and Muni’s D, E, and F lines were all
abandoned and converted to motor coach use, with tons of trackage ripped from the center of busy urban streets
(photograph 27).*° The removal of the Van Ness line took six months and involved the construction of a 14-foot
concrete median where the tracks had run. The contract was given to Charles L. Harney, and the project cost the city
$400,000." Soon after the removal of the tracks, 54 red eucalyptus trees were planted in the median, with citizen
groups and transportation planners heralding the plantings as a tribute to Van Ness’ boulevard history.*®Although all
of the trackage was removed, the 259 trolley poles remained in place to support the overhead wiring for the new fleet
of Muni buses. Despite the massive conversion of the entire system, the poles remained a component of the bus
service, with a basic infrastructural role.

Van Ness Avenue became an increasingly congested artery for both local traffic and through traffic on U.S. Route
101 and the poles came to carry a wide array of signage and traffic signals (photographs 13 and 17). The bracketed
luminaires shared the poles with road signs, traffic signals, caution signs, and an array of tourist and directional
material affixed to and/or bolted on the poles. With such continued intensive use and alteration, the concrete poles
also suffered notable deterioration, including spalling of the concrete and corrosion of both the base and brackets.
Largely to augment the overloaded poles, Muni and other city agencies installed a number of modern metal poles into
the system, designed to support Muni wiring and vehicular traffic signals. Period photographs from the 1950s,
1960s, and 1970s indicate the varying integrity of the 259 original poles. Many missed various original elements,
supported new additions, and stood back-to-back with modern support poles (photograph 23).° By the mid-1980s,
internal correspondence of the City and County of San Francisco repeatedly expressed concerns, such as: “many are
in such deteriorated condition that they no longer can support overhead trolley wires.” By this time, the ad-hoc
remedy of installing metal poles immediately adjacent to the original poles was increasingly seen as unsatisfactory, as
the insertions “added to the visual clutter of the sidewalk.”%

In addition to the visual clutter, authorities worried about the cast iron bases because many were missing access doors
or were missing bases completely and public safety required covering the exposed wiring with “sheet metal, plastic,
and plywood.” Records indicate that a lack of funding and consensus over the appropriate course of action
precluded any holistic replacement or rehabilitation of the poles and their bases until the late 1990s. Letters on file at
the Public Utilities Commission indicate that a bid for replacing all damaged or missing cast iron bases with
fiberglass replicas was received from fiberglass manufacturer W.J. Whatley, Inc. on June 15, 1997. Similarly,
correspondence relating to the replacement of the 1936 luminaires extends from the early 1980s to the 1990s.

16 perles, The People’s Railway, 175
17 <«yan Ness Avenue Track Removal Starts Monday,” San Francisco Chronicle, August 21, 1952.

18 «“Van Ness Decoration,” San Francisco Chronicle, August 11, 1953; “Dividing Strip Proposed for Van Ness,” San Francisco
Chronicle, March 24, 1950.

¥ Three photographs from the San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection reflect this condition: “Heald
College - School of Architecture at Sutter Street and Van Ness Avenue,” [graphic], 1964 Aug. 11, Photo ID Number: AAB-5719,
Folder: S.F. Streets - Van Ness Ave - 1950-1980s; “Two unidentified people in a car at Fulton Street and Van Ness Avenue,”
[graphic], n.d, Photo ID Number: AAB-5579, Folder: S.F. Streets-Van Ness Ave-1950-1980s; “Hippopotamus restaurant and bar,
Pacific and Van Ness,” [graphic], 1964 Aug. 11, Photo ID Number: AAB-2685, Folder: S.F. Restaurants-Hippopotamus.

2 Information relating to the movement of the poles is on file at the City and County of San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
in the VVan Ness Avenue correspondence file

2L All information relating to the VVan Ness Avenue trolley poles is on file at the City and County of San Francisco Public Utilities
Commission in the Van Ness Avenue correspondence file. The modern correspondence is in an undifferentiated file folder “Van
Ness Avenue.”
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Although the files do not indicate exactly when the cast iron bases and luminaires were replaced, field work in March
of 2009 found that over half of the bases were fiberglass replacements for the original, and all the luminaires are
modern replacements of the originals.

Evaluation

As discussed in the historic context, the construction history of the 259 Van Ness Avenue trolley poles dates from
two distinct historic periods: 1914 and 1936. For clarity, this evaluation will address potential significance in
relation to the two periods separately.

1914: Development of the Municipal Railway / Panama Pacific International Exposition

The concrete shaft, decorative finial, and if it remains, the cast iron base of each pole date from 1914 and are
associated with both the overall development of the Municipal Railway and San Francisco’s targeted infrastructural
preparation for the Panama Pacific International Exposition (historical photographs 16 and 18 show poles with
original 1914 light fixtures). Within the overall context of the development of the Municipal Railway, the Van Ness
municipal transportation corridor itself is not significant, as it was one of many such rail lines developed by the city
and does not have individual significance within that context. As a link between the Exposition grounds and the
newly reconstructed City Hall and Market Street, however, the network of trolley poles reflected an aspect of the
carefully honed design sensibility of the City Beautiful and Beaux-Arts ideals undergirding the Exposition, as well as
the Civic Center and other public works construction of the period. This association, as a physical link between the
temporality of the Exposition and the permanence of Market Street and the civic construction, merits consideration
under Criterion A (Criterion 1) because the poles are an example of the profound impact that City Beautiful design
and social ideals had on even the most mundane of urban infrastructural construction. However, the poles have lost
substantial integrity and no longer convey this civic association, either within the San Francisco Civic Center Historic
District or along the length of the avenue (see “Integrity Discussion” section, below).

The relatively ornate Van Ness poles, especially in comparison to the utilitarian poles in the first municipal line on
Geary Boulevard, also reflected the elevated design mandate of the Exposition and the Beaux Art classicism of public
works like the Civic Center and other large-scale commercial buildings along Market Street, such as the rebuilt
Palace Hotel and the 1914 Call Building. The trolley poles once embodied distinctive characteristics of this type and
period of construction under Criterion C (Criterion 3), but have since lost historic integrity, both within the San
Francisco Civic Center Historic District and along the length of the avenue. While the overall San Francisco
streetcar system itself was not significant in its architecture or engineering, the network of poles along Van Ness
provided a linear architectural connection with the white palaces of the Exposition, those of city governance at the
Civic Center, and those of commerce along Market Street. Records indicate that the poles were designed by the
Office of the City Engineer, who was responsible for basic construction all over the city. As an infrastructural
element, the poles possessed the artistic values of vaunted Beaux-Arts classicism that related the otherwise utilitarian
streetcar line to this overarching architectural language. Although the poles did not represent any significant
advances in concrete construction or technology, the aesthetic language of this part of the streetcar system was a
significant design expression. The elevated appearance of the poles was an important statement about the status of
urban public transport and the artistic value inherent in civic construction in a city that was newly engaged in
municipal transportation. The substantial loss of integrity discussed below, however, impairs the ability of these
poles to convey this potential significance.
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1936:Widening and WPA Lighting

The second period of potential significance relates to changes to both Van Ness Avenue itself, and the trolley poles
lining its sides, in 1936. The traffic lanes of Van Ness were widened and the sidewalks were narrowed in 1936 as
part of a joint municipal and WPA project conducted in preparation for increased traffic expected with the opening of
the Golden Gate Bridge. Construction crews not only moved the poles outward to new locations, they also removed
the Exposition-era light fixtures (pairs of globes) and installed new light fixtures (historical photograph 20 and
photographs 1 and 10 showing poles with 1936 light fixture). Thus, the current light fixtures attached to the 1914
trolley poles date from this period, and are not related to the Panama Pacific International Exposition. Thus, as “light
standards,” the poles relate to a Depression era WPA and Golden Gate Bridge infrastructural context that is entirely
unrelated to the evaluation of significance for the 1914 period. This 1936 context differs markedly from that relating
to other San Francisco light standards, most notably the Path of Gold standards and the Golden Triangle standards,
which were direct antecedents of both the design ethos and illumination standards of the Panama Pacific
International Exposition.

Integrity Discussion

Evaluation for eligibility for listing in the NRHP and CRHR requires that a property have both historic significance
and historic integrity. Although the poles may have once possessed significance under Criteria A and C, they display
a marked loss of physical integrity that undercuts their ability to convey significance from either the 1914 or 1936
potential periods of significance. The deterioration, infill, and widespread replacement of major design features
undermines nearly all aspects of integrity of the poles, as recognized by the National Register: location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. Without basic physical integrity, the poles cannot convey
historical significance to their period of significance.

The design, materials, workmanship, association, feeling, and setting of the poles was substantially degraded when
the rails of the original streetcar system were completely removed in the early 1950s. The 1914 rails that ran up the
center of Van Ness Avenue were replaced by concrete medians with landscaping and trees as “Muni” adopted
modern wheeled electric buses or trolleys (photograph 27). While the original design of the poles is still evident
overall, many individual poles were replaced outright with modern metal poles (photograph 2, and Map 3). About
13% (33 of the original 259 poles) of the poles have been replaced by metal poles and an additional 16% (46 of the
original 259 poles) are immediately flanked by a modern metal pole installed to support MUNI wires, street lights,
and/or signage. This widespread replacement and installation of new metal poles adjacent to the original poles
diminishes the integrity of the group of original poles. As constructed, the 259 poles presented a uniform aesthetic
that ran the length of the street (photograph 24). This setting has been compromised by the removal of original poles
and installation of replacement poles, leaving the pole network visually cluttered and eroding integrity of design,
setting, feeling, and association (photograph 5).

The integrity of the slender, unadorned shaft of most of the original poles has been compromised by insertions cut
into the pole for the installation of modern traffic signals, utility conduits, and signage (photograph 13).
Approximately 20% (52 poles), have traffic signals affixed. About 64% (165 of the original 259 poles) have some
sort of street signage affixed to them with bolts or metal bands. In the same manner that the addition of modern poles
alters the original design intent, so too do these modern physical alterations diminish the integrity of design, setting,
feeling, and association of the group of poles.

The replacement of 117 of the original cast iron bases (45%) with fiberglass replicas profoundly diminishes the
integrity of workmanship and materials of the original poles. The original cast iron bases bore maker’s mark
“Joshua Hendy Iron Works S.F. CA” on the access doors. Some of those doors were replaced by cast iron doors
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made by “Steiger and Kerr Stove and Foundry Company S.F. CAL.” Both the_expression of workmanship, and the
access doors themselves, are completely lacking in the fiberglass replacement bases (photographs 7, 8, 9). Further,
because many of these fiberglass replacements are chipped, cracked, and broken, the lightweight nature of the
modern material is evident and differs markedly from the heavy cast iron mass of the original bases. Although the
bases do retain some integrity of feeling and association, much of this association is not from the historic period, but
instead derived from replicated modern materials. According to the National Register, the retention of feeling and
association alone is never sufficient to support eligibility of a property for the National Register, particularly when
much of this association and feeling is maintained by historic re-creation.?

The replacement of the 1914 light fixtures with 1936 fixtures also diminishes the integrity of original design,
materials, and workmanship within the Panama Pacific context. Neither the 1936 brackets, nor the 1936 pendant
luminaires constitute changes to the poles that have gained significance in their own right. The brackets and
luminaires, while pleasant, did not have a specific important role within the context of local WPA projects, the larger
Golden Gate Bridge project, or within the ongoing construction of the adjacent Civic Center or other public works in
this part of San Francisco. The poles do not convey a significant relationship to important events or broad patterns in
local, state, or national history (Criteria A and 1). Viewed in relation to the major undertakings of the WPA and the
infrastructural development of the Golden Gate Bridge, the brackets and lights were a minute component of vast
public works construction projects and do not embody significant characteristics. Neither the 1914 or 1936 light
standards on Van Ness Avenue matched those designed and installed within the Civic Center area, nor was the design
of the Van Ness poles directly related to the design standards or development of other construction projects in the
area (photographs 25 and 26). Like the original standards, patterns for the work were drawn by a city official, in this
case PUC Chief Engineer Paul J. Ost. The project was one of thousands spearheaded by the WPA, and the relatively
simple insertion of the lighting fixtures was not a significant design or engineering feat that is an important
representative of a type, period, or method of construction, nor are they the work of a master (Criteria C and 3). The
insertion of the 1936 light standards in many ways replicated earlier City Beautiful designs for other lighting
standards in the city, including the Path of Gold and Golden Triangle Standards. The incandescent lamps were not
advanced in design, but rather represented standard best practice seen across San Francisco and the nation.
Incandescent luminaires of that type had been in use for decades, and were largely selected because of General
Electric’s ubiquity and standardization. These elements have since been removed as well.

The poles are not significant under Criterion B (Criterion 2) or Criterion D (Criterion 4) under either potential period
of significance. The 1914 trolley poles, their 1936 alterations, and their subsequent changes and modern alterations
do not have a direct or important association with any historically significant individuals. Similarly, the poles are
not likely to yield any significant information in their physical construction technology or material. The simple
reinforced concrete poles were moved in 1936, and that project, along with their continued alteration ever since, are
otherwise well documented. They are not important sources of historical information in and of themselves.

With a history relating to two historic periods, the Van Ness Avenue trolley poles represent the major changes that
have continually shaped the avenue as a transportation corridor. The poles have long functioned as an infrastructural
and streetscape element along Van Ness Avenue, but the poles have lost historic integrity through a series of changes
to the poles themselves, and most importantly, to the system they once served. (For illustrations of these changes see
comparative photographs 16 and 17, 18 and 19, and 20 through 22, which depict conditions from the historic period
and those of today). The poles we see today are, in fact, an amalgam of undifferentiated modern and historic
materials. More than half of the poles have modern signs or traffic lights affixed to or bolted to the shaft.
Approximately one-half of the original poles are missing their maker’s mark, access doors, and base, and instead have

%2 United States Department of the Interior, National Register Bulletin: How To Apply The National Register Criteria For
Evaluation, 1995. Accessed online at http://www.nps.gov/nr/publications/bulletins/pdfs/nrb15.pdf, April 15, 2009.
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a modern fiberglass replica base without doors or maker’s mark. A number of the poles have been removed and
replaced, and many more are flanked by, modern metal poles. Although the poles as a group, extending from Market
Street to North Point Street, might otherwise have potential historic significance under NRHP Criteria A and C
(CRHR Criteria 1 and 3) from the 1914 period of significance, as resources lacking integrity to this period they are
not eligible for listing in either the NRHP or the CRHR because they cannot convey their potential significance
through physical integrity to their potential period of significance.
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Map 2: Civic Center Historic District Boundaries
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San Francisco Civic Center National Register of Historic Places
Historic District Boundary (Designated Oct. 10, 1978)

San Francisco Civic Center Historic District Local Listing
Boundary (Designated Dec. 23, 1994)

San Francisco Civic Center National
Historic Landmark Boundary (Designated Feb. 27, 1987)
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 2: Replacement modern metal pole, Pole 67,
southwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and Turk Street, 4/1/2009.

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI#

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 16 of 41 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Map Reference #2
*Recorded by: Polly S. Allen *Date: March 2009 Continuation 0O Update

Photographs: (Continued)

&

4
7,
£

Photograph 3: Original pole and base, missing access door, Pole 196,
east side of Van Ness between Jackson and Washington, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 4: Part of base missing, Pole 265, between Greenwich Street and Filbert Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 5: Electric traffic signal and MUNI signal equipment inserted and signage added to Pole 287,
southwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and Chestnut Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 6: Partial base, traffic signal equipment inserted, and signage on Pole 227,
southwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and Vallejo Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 7: Mark of “Joshua Hendy Iron Works, S.F., Cal.” on original base access door on Pole 298,
southeast corner of Van Ness Avenue and Francisco Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 8: Mark of “Steiger & Kerr Stove & Foundry Co., SF CA,” on iron replacement base access door on Pole 211,
northwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and Pacific Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 9: Replacement fiberglass base without foliated details or access doors, Pole 228,
southeast corner of Van Ness Avenue and Vallejo Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 10: Detail showing exterior wiring inserted in Pole 264, with original finial and 1936 bracket and modern luminaire,
Van Ness Avenue between Greenwich and Filbert streets, 4/1/2009.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 11: Exterior wiring, signage, and flower baskets on Pole 41, showing gold paint on original base,
between McAllister Street and Grove Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 12: Alterations to Pole 157, including insertion of traffic signal equipment, signage added, base removed, and
modern metal pole installed adjacent. Located southwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and California Street, 4/1/2009.

DPR 523L (1/95)

*Required information



State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI#

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 26 of 41 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Map Reference #2
*Recorded by: Polly S. Allen *Date: March 2009 Continuation O Update

Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 13: Pole 137, alterations include insertion utility conduit and exposed wiring,
southwest corner of Van Ness Avenue and Bush Street, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 14: Block between Sutter Street and Post Street, showing missing poles replaced by modern metal poles, 4/1/2009.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 15a and 15b: Example of fiberglass replacement base (this
one with foliated detailing), no access doors, Pole 308, at the southeast
corner of Van Ness and Bay, 4/1/2009.
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Photograph 16: Trolley Poles with original light fixtures at Van Ness Avenue and Eddy Street, 1929 (Pole 82 at east and Pole 81 at west,
camera facing south). Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection. See current condition of
Pole 82 in Photograph 17 below.
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Photograph 17: Pole 82 with insertion of traffic signal equipment, signage added, and
modern metal pole installed adjacent, Van Ness Avenue and Eddy Street, 4/1/2009 (shown in Photograph 16 above).
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Photograph 18: Trolley Pole with original light fixture at Van Ness and Hayes Street, 1910s (Pole 17, camera facing south). Photograph
courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection. See current pole condition in Photograph 19 below.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 19: Pole 17, with insertion of traffic signal equipment, signage added, and installation of adjacent modern metal pole,
Van Ness Avenue and Hayes Street, 4/1/2009 (shown in Photograph 18 above).
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 20: Trolley Poles with 1936 light fixtures at Van Ness Avenue and O’Farrell Street, as of 1943,
(Pole 101 in foreground and Pole 98 in background at diagonal, camera facing southeast). See current pole condition in Photograph 21
below. Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 21: Replacement metal pole in location of Pole 101,
Van Ness Avenue and O’Farrell Street, 4/1/2009 (shown in Photograph 20 above).
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 22: Traffic signal equipment inserted in Pole 98, Van Ness Avenue and O’Farrell Street, 4/1/2009
(also shown in Photograph 20 above).
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Photograph 23: Pole 127, Van Ness Avenue and Sutter Street, as of 1964.
Traffic signal equipment has been inserted in the pole and a modern metal pole installed immediately adjacent.
Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 24: Van Ness Avenue looking north from Fell Street in 1935. This photo was taken just before the 1936 WPA project and
the original pairs of lights are still in place. The poles line the corridor with their original and uniformly uncluttered aesthetic.
Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 25: Original Civic Center light standards along Grove Street_in 1915. Photograph courtesy of California State Archives
(Department of Public Works, Architecture (Durkee Collection), State Buildings, San Francisco, Photo F 3253: 242B (27)).
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Photograph 26: Another iteration of Civic Center light standards, in 1945.
Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.
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Photographs: (Continued)

Photograph 27: Track removal on Van Ness Avenue at Vallejo Street in 1952. Note contrasting color of finials and brackets.
Also, the result of the WPA street widening (sidewalk narrowing) project is still visible in different color of pavement along sidewalks.
Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information




State of California— The Resources Agency Primary #

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI#

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial

Page 41 of 41 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Map Reference #2
*Recorded by: Polly S. Allen *Date: March 2009 Continuation 0O Update

Attachment 1: Oversize Pages Follow Below

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information







SAN FRANCIECO

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
ELECTRIC POWER BUREAU
STREET LIGHTING SYSTEM

VAN NESS AVENUE
MARKET STREET TO NORTH POINT STREET.

Bt oY ]l e, p DATE ,h ‘
scaLg | INCH = 200 FEET. | ¢ | & |, ' SEPT. 1936.
APPROYED ~ \ ) 7 ”. ¥ Av
3 é Q-*CCW el g e .m NOV lgab B{”a
APPROVED / ' nuwmnm

NANAGER Aﬁb‘ CHIEF ENGINEER

3|00

s Aﬁachment 1, Page 1




ke
‘ 0
‘S ee ;_‘) wq. [No. 1032 for {<
4 7 . ;
v ol instdallatron |n This bloch. 3 ’
> L G <
. PN r\, -
Q T 9O - 1]
. Y & J] X
£ % =~ :\ tn * = >
_ = £ 3 s 7] | 3
(5 R a3 )| - il
- &2 o & ! I o : X
8 S "oyt Service Connection to ( -
5 . } ¥ ‘. b e A Jl st
9 (2 Yapy  PG.8E. Manhole. ( 3 conduits stubbed : R
(@] (7 throvgh south wall of mankholel — J

sranaards
il S
)'}
lrood)
Mo r
< 3 4
1
@ b
-
%
H] (6=
- .6 4T3
C

. ; «
< ERANKLINY ST, Q Q ""-', ™ )

Troll ey po les removed and 2071

a 5 I ’ I =¥ ) r
s ) ¢S R 7 % A o K! L
-_ €y \ oy e S o R i \
NG L 3 [ 2 X 3 __.I - 1 * Y | i :_.v )
{ 1s ~ %, - . N L ¢
L . . ! H s = '\: - i 1
e <9 r Y Y iy 9 b
S <.K [ (L . o, o e W -
< - 41 ; ) I ( ) i WX
) o . A% ~ i D
No stut J v JJ 1 i | 8 ' |4 1 b z A
s R — ql—-—- — ':v— -v-;ll i 555 o =L > | E '\, ‘k i _,u' | < h r—+ = F = oy 3 = st o
= e Lol N o, Qs AT L \ -\] :
~ AN ; F\ e A T Lh \.
=, Q : 2 .'\\J_ . : ![J v

L o S

e %Jﬁ 'i‘---i rfi----ir i’i“f ifi “i:“i iﬁ@i@ *“J b ICE

STATION 0 + 00 | % STA. 10+ 00 | STA{ 20+00

r."-s?

B L 4--——-7

1 | - - ar
: i 3 i ¥ J : oy -_ 0 w l,n
= B ﬂ o | KR i1k olyil k
% l\.‘.‘_ 1 ) 4 ; .rl A | ~ ]
(i) | | L T :q l.. "
o E, ] K ) : eI ErERElake s | ]'HELJ IR
e i 2 Foundation in ) N P A s 3-%, A I NN | I
, ' ~ » 1 BN y g W Oyt . /
,-J- .'} ?Jr- o -i - posemen f‘ warll 4}7" L 1 ‘.: ! 51 ;;\f }L “.". ‘? lag | ! :} L
Tk {00} Q Health Center 8/dg. : > 7. 1 A . ﬂ ® \ L Vst
Gy ; 1 S ™| ' 0ol S =i U _ﬂ*[ S o VAN
P < LIPS RIS g — DR, 2 R
v e il 01 ) B e N == R\ B 0y & Y g MARKET
\ i._r = £ o
.

Original Pole Removed. Replaced with Metal Pole: . > = o o 2
Good Integrity, Original Features Largely Intact: ¢ S A Nl . e ' e
Missing Cast Iron Base with Maker's Mark, | ? ) '
Replaced with Fiberglass Replica: ‘ : - A
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage Affixed to Pole: g
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage and Missing Cast Iron Base: ‘ _ &1-4 '
Tubular Metal Pole Flanks Original Pole: | d Attachment 1, Page 2




TR e e S e O e

STA. 30+00

e e e e T e ——— e il T s S e e
e — ——— e ——— T ———— R ———

li I~

- (™

L o

) ks

- i N

% \)

A S

3 )

= ™

[ [ W

Fa ~ 1i = £ - Fd
- - - ] - eyl B —— o i= L g =

o8 107 74 18 P e T 74 125 27

STA. 40+ 00

| 92 9= | loé

A 58 68 e 8 N o o

N NESS AVENUE
ET ST TO SUTTER ST.

Vel

Original Pole Removed. Replaced with Metal Pole: .

Good Integrity, Original Features Largely Intact: {

Missing Cast Iron Base with Maker's Mark, !
Replaced with Fiberglass Replica: .

Traffic Light / Heavy Signage Affixed to Pole:

Tubular Metal Pole Flanks Original Pole: |

Traffic Light / Heavy Signage and Missing Cast Iron Base: {

Attachment 1, Page 3

|
S SE—




; =, :H : (_l {*'r:' ; > f .’.
~ ot ? t }. \ By v ]
~ | ,‘ > N \¢
o , = N h 0
3 S o J S N
o \ P (! s
~J ;\T\I ‘-.
z0' 35 /20" 6B /Z 23 D" 48 272 5 265, /87 Q 245354 BAZS 5.5 - 259 | laa7X
- 2-=I.--— : — L —— p— ——— — v i " Y (T o 2 " A i o = = T = n/\ = :
/ Fidy, o
4 - t /1 N) : N
Mun. Ay | manhole (&g 25 68 7
STA.50+00
/ 133! /35 )37 st 1#3 | ses 97| /5] 159 155 /52| |16/ 163 1865 )67 JZLIIRE L 12577 ] 183 za.;p_zer_?: |
SR RECH e oo i o8 Ss G incan mOS. fs in SICNOLL B inC
m:e "Connections to STA. 60400 } STA. 70 +(
ﬁlﬂﬁx Manho’e :!:!a& Qh! ﬂ&-@ ﬂﬁﬂ@@ﬂ& i@@@&ﬂﬁ
T( /36 138 /< Mw /-‘76 ms 156 158 | /62 (64 186 68| |17z 124 16 78| Tez /8% 186 /84 z /194 /Se 20z

" Original-Pole-Remowed. Replaced with Metal Pole:‘
Good Integrity, Original Features Largely Intact:
Missing Cast Iron Base with Maker's Mark,

Replaced with Fiberglass Rephca .
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage A.%ﬁxed to Pole 814 Vo Nass Ai
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage and Mlssmg Cast Iron ]§ase &
Tubular Metal Pole Flanks Original Pole: |

- installed n e . .
VAN NESS AVENUE.
SUTTER ST.

TO GREENWICH ST.

Attachment 1, Page 4




N
Original Pole Removed. Replaced with Metal Pole: .
~Good Integrity, Original Features Largely Intact: ‘
ke \ n - Mlssmg Cast Iron Base vx&-th Maker's Mark,

——

T g
[ =

) J = b E} I Replaced with Fiberglass Replica:
Q S S | Traffic Light / Heavy Signage Affixed to Pole:
L \ q ﬁ F‘ JTrafﬁc Light / Heavy Slgﬁhge and Missing Cast Iron Base: ‘
_\j Q = :3 S 1Tubu1ar Metal Pole Flanki Original Pole: |
. a: \J i\ s_ “\
0 EE (t \j I -T'j."....'.-... -y
= g5 265, /B8 H2 .5 275 &B75 2S7S 68725 275 6875 275 a7 275 eazs
Service Connection
IO PG 8E. Pole.
/ 20N ﬂﬂ, 2/ 213 215 ZI7 ' |22/ 228 Z25 227 l l 23/ 235 23 =/ 293 *_34_5 =97 ol ERT 255 257 | .esx =263 2&5 3§7 271___
S8 B R R e L ﬂ?"'g‘m 8*!1 s = s =& ﬁ---—&t i ﬁ@’g ----- ’éf
+00 i —

e
smalme

%:"2“:% 2-2-0-0-0-0-0-9 %;—*%4 s %;; o M%M" i

Attachment 1, Page 5




9?/ =283 e85 287

27 DPE =
R

ey
= Ny

eI/ e93

STA. 100 +00

0.8-0.8:0-0.08.0.6.88.08 8 88 8

z88 |

282 Z284 =86

- 1
= f

VAN NESS

r; ,'CY‘ f:_ E ;;\!- ;/r_- ,'. C ‘-1' \-.; . .f_.-- Y

Y T T B T e s 3 AT

AVENUE

NORTH POINT

— e T e g e e

o985 297

&S e e iﬂ"ﬁ i

=76

LA

W N
. N
v /i X g y 1 S = ¥
= = " A= AL ' P I J
o 8 2% y n Mt cipal Ay. arnrsol
P e M el e

30/ 303 FO5

STA. 110+ 00 |}

@ua@ﬁ

B/ A/8 |

\_‘3() t L' 14 . I-% \3/2 \3/‘f “ “

-y
- < Pt

Original Pole Removed. Replaceé_l_'with Metal Pole: ‘
Good Integrity, Original Features Largely Intact:

Missing Cast Iron Base with Maker's Mark,
ST. Replaced with Fiberglass Replica: .
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage Affixed to Pole:
Traffic Light / Heavy Signage and Missing Cast Iron Base:
Tubular Metal Pole Flanks Original Pole:

R e L T e Y T L kol T - <2 e - pe B s

Attachment 1, Page 6



State of California — The Resources Agency Primary #
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI #
UPDATE SHEET Trinomial
NRHP Status Code 1D
Pagel of 6 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) MR#3

O Continuation Update

P1. Other Identifier: San Francisco Civic Center National Historic Landmark District

*P2 e, Other Locational Data: Vicinity of Van Ness Avenue and Market Street, San Francisco, CA (See Figure 1 on Continuation
Sheet for full boundary)

*P3a. Description:

The San Francisco Civic Center was listed in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) on October 10, 1978.
Subsequently, the Civic Center was designated as a National Historic Landmark District (NHLD) on February 27, 1987.
Since this designation, the district was designated as a San Francisco City Landmark District on December 23, 1994 (the
boundaries of the NRHP District, NHLD and the San Francisco City District are different, see Figure 1 on Continuation
Sheet). Several contributors to the District also have individual landmark status. The San Francisco City Hall building was
listed as San Francisco City Landmark No. 21 on March 9, 1969. In addition, the War Memorial was listed as San Francisco
City Landmark No. 84 on January 9, 1977. Also, the Birthplace of the United Nations/\War Memorial Complex is California
Historical Landmark No. 964 (May 13, 1985).

The 1978 NRHP Historic District Nomination and 1987 National Historic Landmark Nomination forms are attached to this
Update Sheet.

*p3b, Resource Attributes: HP14-Government Building, HP12-Civic Auditorium

*pg, Recorded by: Polly S. Allen and Meta Bunse, JRP Historical Consulting, LLC, 1490 Drew Ave, Suite 110, Davis, CA
95618

*p11, Report Citation: JRP Historical Consulting, LLC, “Historic Resources Inventory and Evaluation Report (HRIER) for
San Francisco County Transportation Authority (SFCTA) Van Ness Avenue Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Study,” 2009.

*B10. Significance:

This update sheet has been prepared to present information relating to several inconsistencies in the historic record that have
arisen since its designation as an NHLD in 1987. At the time of designation, the contributing buildings were:

City Hall

Civic (Exposition) Auditorium

Public Library

State Building

Federal Building

War Memorial Opera House
Veterans Building

Department of Public Health Building
Civic Center Powerhouse

The designation also identified two “notable landscape features,” the Civic Center Plaza and the Memorial Court. The
designation did not include any other landscape or streetscape elements as character defining features.

In 2007, the District was included in the identification efforts conducted as part of studies undertaken for the Van Ness
Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project undertaken by the San Francisco Department of Public Works (SFDPW) (included
as an attachment to this document)." The Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, as a local agency project

! Architectural Resources Group, “Historic Resources Evaluation Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, City of
San Francisco, California,” prepared by Bridget M. Maley, prepared for Caltrans District 4 and San Francisco Department of Public
DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information
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undertaking under Section 106, was conducted under the auspices of the Programmatic Agreement (PA) among the Federal
Highway Administration, the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, the California State Historic Preservation Officer,
and Caltrans (2004).

The HRER/HPSR for the Streetscape Improvement Project did not present any new evaluations or findings of eligibility
within the San Francisco Civic Center NHLD. Nevertheless, the HRER/HPSR did include newly prepared descriptions of
the landscape and streetscape features within the NHLD. These descriptions proposed landscape and streetscape character-
defining features within the district that had not been identified or described in either the 1978 National Register Nomination
or the 1987 NHL Nomination. The amendment also proposed a different period of significance for the property than the
period of significance established in the NHL designation. Because the HRER/HPSR was completed under the PA’s
Standard Conditions under the Section 106 process, the report did not include evaluation analysis of these proposed
additional elements, and has not resulted in a determination regarding the eligibility of those elements, the proposed
amendments have not been listed as contributing elements of the Civic Center NHLD.

The HRER/HPSR did not propose amendments to the 1987 NHL Nomination that is on file with the NPS, but instead
amended the 1978 National Register Nomination. In doing so, the proposed amendment introduced a new period of
significance that conflicts with that established in the NHL nomination and approved by the Keeper. The designated period
of significance for the NHL District is 1913-1951, a period that includes both the architectural development of the Civic
Center, as well as its pivotal role in the founding of the United Nations (UN) and the signing of peace treaties with Japan in
the post-war period. The 2007 continuation sheets propose a period of significance of 1912-1936, a period that spans only
the construction of the Civic Center buildings and excludes the district’s role in the formative days of the UN and the
execution of early Cold War treaties. The author mistakenly cited the 1978 National Register Nomination, referring to it as
the NHL document: “the NHL Landmark nomination, authored in 1978, does not define a specific period of significance, yet
lists a specific significant date as, ‘Civic Center Plan-1912’.” This confusion between the 1978 National Register
Nomination, which did present only a 1912 period of significance, and the 1987 NHL Nomination that broadened the period
of significance to 1913-1951, has led to conflicting information regarding the district property. Nevertheless, the current
recognized period of significance for the NHLD is 1913-1951.

In addition to proposing a change to the period of significance, the HRER/HPSR briefly describes eleven streetscape and
landscape elements as “character defining features” within the district: City Hall landscape planters, City Hall entrance
staircase, War Memorial Opera House staircase, War Memorial Veterans Building entrance, War Memorial Opera House
landscape planters, War Memorial Veterans Building landscape planters, War Memorial Complex curb cuts, streetlights with
baskets (trolley poles, see DPR 523 for Map Reference #2), two fire hydrants, and a single fire alarm and police telephone
box. Other than a brief description of each element, there is no justification for including the features and the amendment
does not evaluate the elements using either NRHP or NHL criteria or integrity considerations. The HRER/HPSR did not
include evaluation analysis of these proposed character defining features, has not resulted in a determination regarding the
eligibilizty of these features, and the proposed amendments have not been listed as contributing elements of the Civic Center
NHLD.

Some of the elements, namely the planters, staircases, and curb cuts, appear to be part of the original construction of the
buildings (dating between 1913 and the mid 1930s) and appear to directly relate to the historic context of the district as
approved by the Keeper, but the other features exhibit few direct historical associations. The streetlights/trolley poles, fire
hydrants, fire alarm, and police telephone box are all infrastructural elements that are not associated with the district and

Works, March 2007; Architectural Resources Group, “Historic Property Survey Report: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement
Project, City of San Francisco, California,” prepared for Caltrans District 4 and San Francisco Department of Public Works, October
2007.

2 Architectural Resources Group, “HPSR: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project,” October 2007.

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information
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were designed and installed throughout other areas of the city; as such, they are not specifically or uniquely associated with
the Civic Center area. The fire hydrants predate the construction of the Civic Center complex and are found elsewhere along
Van Ness Avenue and throughout the pre-earthquake parts of the city. The fire/police call boxes were also installed city-
wide and such infrastructural elements are common outside the district, like those found along the length of Van Ness
Avenue. Similarly, the streetlights on Van Ness Avenue are part of a system of 259 trolley/streetlight poles all along that
avenue and have a complex history in their role as trolley wire support poles within the 1914 development of Municipal Rail
along that corridor. Later, all of the Van Ness poles were altered as part of the 1936 preparations for the opening of the
Golden Gate Bridge. The trolley poles intersect the Civic Center NHLD between Grove and McAllister streets on each side
of Van Ness Avenue (Photograph 1) and do not appear any of the other major streets within the district. The design of the
poles was not part of the Civic Center plan. The trolley poles actually differ markedly in appearance and style from the light
standards that were erected in the Civic Center during the historic period (Photograph 2). The trolley poles, erected for the
Municipal Railway, were infrastructural features that do not share the same direct historical context or associations for
which the Civic Center is important. Although the avenue and the trolley poles passes through the Civic Center, neither it
nor its basic streetscape features are a significant design element of the Civic Center plan. The avenue and its street features
are instead simply basic arterial components. The Civic Center complex largely extends east from Van Ness Avenue, with
its pedestrian elements and plazas concentrated along Polk Street, Larkin Street, and Hyde Street. As the 1987 National
Historic Landmark documentation states, the “San Francisco Civic Center is a group of monumental buildings around a
central open space (Civic Center Plaza), and additional buildings that extend the principal axis to the east and west.” The
streetscape elements of Van Ness Avenue play a peripheral role in this monumental assemblage (see full evaluation, historic
context, and photographs of the trolley poles, Map Reference #2).

As part of this present study, several elements of street furniture and infrastructure were fully evaluated on DPR523 forms,
including the Van Ness Corridor (Map Reference #1) and the trolley poles (Map Reference #2). These other evaluations
concluded that these resources were “not eligible” for listing in the NRHP, nor as part of the NHLD. The other elements
proposed as character-defining features in the 2007 HRER/HPSR were outside the study area for the Van Ness BRT project
and may require full documentation and evaluation to be considered contributing elements of the district property.

Attachments:

1. 1978 San Francisco Civic Center NRHP Nomination Form
2. 1987 San Francisco Civic Center NHL Nomination Form

3. 2007 “HRER: Van Ness Avenue Streetscape Improvement Project, City of San Francisco, California”
and NHL Continuation Sheets

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information
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Photographs:

Photograph 1: Van Ness Avenue looking north from Fell Street in 1935. Van Ness Avenue intersects with
the National Historic Landmark District in the block along the west side of City Hall.
Photograph courtesy of San Francisco Public Library Historical Photograph Collection.

DPR 523L (1/95)
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Photograph 2: Original Civic Center light standards along Grove Street near City Hall in 1915. These light
standards have long since been removed and replaced by more than one type of light standard since the
time of this photograph. Photograph courtesy of California State Archives (Department of Public Works,
Architecture (Durkee Collection), State Buildings, San Francisco, Photo F 3253: 242B (27)).

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required Information
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BINAME

HISTORIC . .. _—
San Francisco Civic Center }! 7,,7‘ 7

AND/OR COMMON

BALOCATION

STREET& NUMBER  Roughly bounded by Golden Gate fir+% ., 7 b

Franklin Hayes and Market Streets

—NOT FOR PUBLICATION
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Historic American Buildings Survey _
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1
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L —STRUCTURE XBOTH —WORK IN PROGRESS X EDUCATIONAL  __PRIVATE RESIDENCE
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‘ —BEING CONSIDERED. X YES: UNRESTRICTED —INDUSTRIAL —TRANSPORTATION
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| OWNER OF PROPERTY
; NAME . .
| Multiple @wnership
STREET & NUMBER
f CITY. TOWN STATE
___ VICINITY OF
. [EILOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION
COURTHOUSE.
REGISTRY OF DEEDS;ETC. Recorder's Office
I&V STREET & NUMBER
fﬁ Room 167, City Hall
: CITY. TOWN STATE
i —_— _San’ Fraric1Sco California
v

DATE

1934 - Present XFEDERAL

—STATE _COUNTY __LOCAL

DEPOSITORY FOR
SURVEY RECORDS

_ California Historical Society, Schubert Hall, 2099 Pacific Avenue

CITY, TOWN
San Francisco

STATE

e

California



DESCRIPTION
CONDITION
X EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED
—GOO0OD —RUINS
—FAIR __UNEXPOSED

CHECK ONE
—UNALTERED

X ALTERED

CHECK ONE

X ORIGINAL SITE
__MOVED DATE

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The San Francisco Civic Center consists of a principal aggregation of monumental build-

ings around a central open space, with additional buildings extending the principal axis

at either end.

It includes all or part of 16 city blocks, six of which have been combined

into three double blocks to accommodate larger features. There are seven major buildings,

two secondary buildings, a large plaza and three unrealized building sites within the

Civic Center proper.

Within the boundaries of the historic district there are eightcdddi-

tional buildings, two of which were specifically designed to conform in one or more ways
with the Civic Center; three are only temporary, and:. threeppredate the Civic Center. Some
of the street rights-of-way have been turned into pedestrian areas which preserve the

visual avenues formerly provided by public streets.

There is a mixture of public and

private ownership and public and private use within the district.

The buildings and sites are as follows:

Map :
Ref. Property " 'Date
1 Marshall Square 1870
la Pioneer Memorial 1894
1b Dept. City Planning Bldg. 1941

1c Parking -
1d Brooks Hall Ramp 1958
2 Four Corners 1912
2A “Wells Fargo Bank Bldg. 1908

a. Parking -

b.  Parking

2B Civic Center Power House 1915
2C Standard Station ca.1930
2D Dept. Public Health Bldg. 1932
3 Exposition Auditorium 1915
4 City Hall 1915
5 Civic Center Plaza 1915
S5a Brooks Hall 1958
5b Civic Center Garage 1960
6 Public Library 1916
6a Library Annex 1945
7 California State Bldg. 1926
8 O#pheum Theater 1926
9 City Hall Annex 1931
10 War Memorial 1932
10a Opera House [1932
10b Veterans Building \1932
10c Memorial Court 11936
11 Federal Building 1936
12 United Nations Plaza 1975
13 1 United Nations Plaza 1927
14 Buker'*s Pet Store ca.1907
15 McCarthy's Cocktail Lng. ca.1907
16 7th and McAllister Bldg. 1906
17 The Methodist Book Concern 1907

18 Vacant -

83-91

(entries keyed to Map 1).

Address

100 Larkin
24 Grove

1256 Market
41 Grove
30 Larkin

320 Larkin
401 Polk
101 Grove
99 Grove

400 Van Ness

99 Grove

355 McAllister

200 Larkin
45 Hyde

350 McAllister

1182 Market

450 McAllister

309 Van Ness
459 Van Ness

50 U.N., Plaza

1 U.N. Plaza

1170 Market
1172 Market

79 McAllister
McAllister

Owner
City
City
City
"Lease fr., City
City
Multiple
Wells Fargo
Wells Fargo
Wells Fargo
City
Lease fr. City -
City
City
City
City
City
City
City
City
State
Orpheum Theater Co.
City
City
City
City
City
U.S.A.
City/BART
C. Randel
George M. & Nazenig Mardikin
“Catherine McCarthy
Hanns & Gerda Kainz
The Methodist Book Concern
City/BART
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Property Owners -- San Francisco Civic Center

~George M. and Nazenig Mardikian
" 1170 Market Street
San Francisco, CA 94102

City and County of San Francisco
Y Real Estate Department

450 McAlkister

San Francisco, CA 94102

Catherine McCarthy
1172 Market Street
San Francisco, CA 94102

Methodist Book Concern
83-91 McAllister
San Francisco, CA 94102

Hanns and Gerda Kainz
79 McAllister
San Francisco, CA 94102

C. Rangel
35 Fulton Street
San Francisco, CA 94118

Orpheum Building Co.
1182 Market
San Francisco, CA 94102

Chairman, Board of Supervisors
County of San Francisco

City Hall

San Francisco, CA 94102

. Wells Fargo Bank

1256 Market Street
San Francisco, CA 94102

Bay Area Rapid Transit District
800 Madison Street
Oakland, CA 94612

United States Government, GSA

Regional Historic Preservation Liaison
Public Buildings Service

525 Market

San Francisco, CA 94103
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6. Representation in Existing Surveys (continued)
Title of Survey: .- -
California History Plan: Inventory of Historical Features
Date of Survey:
1967 State Level
Depository for Survey Records:
Department of Parks and Recreation, History Preservation Section
Street and Number:
1416 Ninth Street
City: Sacramento State: California

Title of Survey:
Junior League of San Francisco, Inc.
Date of Survey:
1968 Local Level
Depository for Survey Records:
Special Collections Room, San Francisco Public Library
Street and Number:
Civic Center
City: San Francisco State: California

Title.of Survey:
1975-1976 Architectural Inventory
Date of Survey:
1976 Local Level
Depository for Survey Records:
San Francisco Department of City Planning
100 Larkin Street
San Francisco, California

Title of Survey:
San Francisco City Landmarks:
City Hall
War Memorial: pending
Orpheum Theater: pending
Date of Survey:
ongoing Local Level
Depositor for Survey Records:
San Francisco Department of City Planning
100 Larkin Street
San Francisco, California
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Marshall Square

Marshall Square is bounded by Larkin, Fulton, Hyde and Grove Streets.
The Department of City Planning (100 Larkin Street)is located on the
west side of the block facing the Civic Center Plaza across Larkin
Street. A long sloping driveway to Brooks Hall (1d) under the Plaza
runs the length of the Fulton Street side of the block. The Pioneer
Memorial is located at the corner of Hyde and Grove Streets. The
remainder of the block (lc) is used as parking lots(24 Grove Street).

The Pioneer Memorial consists of greupings of bronze statuary on a
central stone base and four projecting piers. A female "California" with
a bear at her feet and a shield and a spear in her arms occupies the
central pedestal, Two allegories and two tableaux on the piers are
entitled "Early Days," "Plenty," "In '49," and "Commerce." In addition
there are four bronze relief scenes, five relief portraits and numerous
medallions, plaques and inscriptions. The cornerstone is dated
September 10, 189k, .

The Department of City Planning is an irregularly shaped, flat-roofed,
one-story building constructed on a wood frame. It is an example of
late moderne architecture, with strips of white walls, blue windows

and rounded corners.

Four Corners

Southeast Corner: JWells Fargo Building-The southeast corner of the Civie
Center cconsists of three small privately owned lots situated principally
at the northwest corner of the block bounded by Market, Larkin and

Grove Streets. The central piece of property, which is fully occupied
by a long, two-story brick structure(1256 Market Street), extends through
the block to Market Street. The other two lots (41 Grove Street and 30
Larkin Street) are used for parking.

The brick structure is a simple building, originally constructed as a
stable and coach house in 1908 on old City Hall Avenue. Hence the angle
at which it sits. On the Civic Center side, the building has three
ground floor arches and six rectangular second floor windows. The
building was remodelled in 1966 when it was taken owver for use as a
Wells Fargo Bank and offices. It is palnted white and blends with the
light granite of the main Civiec Center structures.

Northeast Corner: Civic Center Power House-The power house is a small,
squarish building in the northeast corner of the small lot at the
northeast corner of Larkin and McAllister Streets. It is constructed of
reinforced concrete and has concrete exterior walls decorated with

a few very simple classical details.

The only entrance faces Larkin Street and consists of a double door
framed by a simple molding. Above the door is inscribed "Civie Center
Power House" and above that a simple cornice. The facade is unadorned
except for quoings at the edges and a very simple roll-molded cornice
above., The McAllister Street facade is identical, with the addition of
a copper rainspout at the west end, but without the door. The other
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walls abut adjacent buildings. There is a monitor skylight on the roof
and a high steel stack rising from the back corner of the building
supported by two prominent girders. The rear walls of adjacent buildings
behind the power house are nearer the height of other Civic Center
buildings and contain classical cornices and other elements which
harmonize with the Civic Center.

2C Northwest Corner: Standard Station-The northwest corner of the Civie
Center at Polk and McAllister Streets has been occupied by a Standard
0il service station since the station was forced to move from its
previous location on the site of the present War Memorial about 1930.
There have been several false starts on a consolidated Fire and Police
Station in the lot, which is owned by the city.

2D Southwest Corner: Department of Public Health-The Department of Public
Health Building (101 Grove Street) sits on a rectangular lot at the
east end of the block bounded by Polk, Grove and Ivy Streets. It covers
the full retangular lot at ground level, but there is a light court
above the ground level at the rear of the building, and it therefore
assumes a "U" shape above the first floor. The structure is of reinforced
concrete clad in gray California granite, executed in the Italian
Renaissance style on its public faces. The facade on Ivy Street and the
west wall are gray industrial brick. The main entrance is in the re-
entrant corner at Grove and Polk Streets, angled to face the Civic
Center Plaza.
The ornamental facades are decorated in two principal horizontal bands
above a smooth granite base. A two-story lower level consists of a
rusticated wall cut by plain rectangular windows. This is capped by a
plain, flat belt course, above which is another two-story section with a
smooth wall cut by a similar configuration of windows. Alternate windows
on the third floor are framed by a simple pediment of voluted brackets i
and a slightly projecting balcony. The top of the facade consists of a
simple band of dentals over tryglyphs, with a balustrade over all.
The Polk Street facade contains seven windows evenly spaced across the
wall at each level. There is a door in the third window space from the Iviy
Street corner on the ground floor, and an elaborate projecting bronze
frame at the Ivy Street corner which holds an electric sign that reads
"Hospital." The Grove Strest facade contains fifteen windows at each
level with a door in the fourteenth window space on the ground floor and
alternate pedimented and balconied windows on the third floor.
The re=entrant corner at Polk and Grove consists of a high arched door-
way in the first two floors, and one window in each of the third and
fourth floors, above the belt course. The third floor window is framed
Just like those on the other facades but with a longer balcony. The |
door in the base is recessed in a sculptural niche flanked by blue and i
gold iron lamps. The glazed door is set in a simple bronze frame which
itself is framed with a simple molding. A round window abowe the door is
set in a bed of rushes and other leaves carved in relief in the granite
around the window. The doorway is capped with a keystone volute which
also serves as a central bracket supporting the balcony of the third
floor. There is a caduceus on the keystone and garlands flanking it.
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‘The secondary walls on Ivy Street in the light court and on the west end
contain modified cornice lines of granite and brick. There are three drive-
ways at ground level on the Ivy Street side.

INTERIOR

The main entrance opens into a small lobby with rich gray marble walls and
floors. There are three prongedbronze sconces on either wall of the lobby
and a bronze handrail up a few steps. Hallways are lined with marble wains-
cotting to the door tops on all four floors, and ocak trim is around doors
and transoms. The Grove Street entrance is a smaller version of the main
entrance. The parts of the building reached by these two entrances serve
the Department of Public Health as office and laboratory space and provide
some facilities for public clinics. The Polk Street entrance opens on a
small plain lobby from which a stairway rises leading to a rear section of
the building not connected to the main office areas in front. This smaller
rear area was originally a separate facility for women prisoners and is
still marked by barred windows at the rear of the building, but it is used
today by the city as a clinic. The rear entrances are to another unconnected
section of the building used as the Central Emergency Hospital.

" .3. Exposition Auditorium- The Exposition Auditorium (99 Grove Street) fills
the block bounded by Grove, Larkin, Hayes and Polk Streets and faces the
Civic Center Plaza across Grove. Its four stories are erected on a steel
frame clad in gray California granite on the main facade and brick on the
sides and rear. The raised octagonal roof of the main hall is visible from
the plaza. The Auditorium is designed in the Beaux Arts style with elements
of both French and Italian Renaissance blended successfully together.

The main facade is symmetrically arranged in five planes with a dominant
central feature flanked by a pair of advancing pavilions and receding wings.
The two-story base is rusticated, and the superstructure above contains
pedimented windows, except in the central feature where three large arches
reach through the full two tiers. A cornice caps the superstructure and a
false attic rises above it over the three central planes.

The three high arches in the central feature rise between four plers in
the base level, and four pairs of engaged Doric columns which stand on the
piers in the superstructure. The rusticated base is divided by a long mar-
quee made of wood and covered with copper sheeting. Qeneath the marquee
there are ticket windows in the piers and the bottoms of the arches are
glazed doors. Over the marquee, there is a small second floor window in each
pier. Cornices at the tops of the piers are held on elongated brackets and
serve as bases for the pairs of columns. There is a long vertical panel
between the columns of each pair. The columns carry a heavy but regular
dentilated cornice over the fourth floor. The vertical line of each pair of
columns is carried through the cornice for the height of the attic, in an
ensemble that consists of bronze flag pole stands on granite bases on either
side of a round cartouche. The attic wall over tThe central bay bears the
inscription "Exposition Auditorium."

The rusticated base of the projecting pavilions on either side of the
central feature contain a large-linteled showcase window in the ground floor
with a pair of small windows above it. The cornice of the base sits on two
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pairs of bratkets which frame the windows of the second floor beneath it,
and at the same time serves as a base for two pairs of freestanding Doric
columns in the superstructure. The columns are tied by a balustrade at the
base, above which is a large window with a rounded pediment and a smaller
unadorned window, both louvered to accomodate mechanical equipment inside.
Fach palr of columns extends through the heavy coranice of the fourth floor
with festooned urns on granite bases. Between the pairs of urns is a large
elongated cartouche in a bed of cornucopiae.

The receding wings contain opening on each floor. On the ground level
there are plainly framed doors that match the showcase windows in the
adjacent pier. Windows in the third floor have rounded pediments and
balustraded balconies on brackets.

The sides and rear of the Auditorium are brick except for granite angle
features on Polk and Larkin, around the corner from the main facade. There
are three vousolred windows on the ground floor of each angle feature, and
a small pair of windows on the second floor. A single third floor window
has a round pediment and elongated balconycwith ancones. There are two pairs
of doric pilasters in the superstructure, which carry the cornice., The
remainder of the rear and sides have a simple cement coursing above the
second floor and a cornice at the top of the wall. The rear facade contains
five planes reflecting those of the front. There are brick pilasters in the
projecting pavilions and the central feature contains two high service doors
with a simple cement molding and coffered wooden doors.

A remodeling of the building in 1964 resulted in some minor exterior
alterations. The westermmost pler in the central feature of the main facade
was slightly extended under the marquee with a glass cage to accomodate the
principal escalator to Brooks Hall. A new undersurface was installed with
new lights on the underside of the marquee. Iron door frames at the base of
each arch were replaced with bronze.

Many windows in the brick sections of the sides and rear were bricked in,
and protruding concrete fire stairs were added on Polk and Larkin Streets.
The projecting pavilions on the rear were extended toward the sides. Well
matched brick was used in all alterations on the sides and rear and great
care was taken in the appearance of the building.

INTERIOR

The internal functions of the Exposition Auditorium are clearly expressed by
its external design. The principal auditorium is reached through entrances
at the base of high arches. Two secondary halls are reached through clearly
defined doorways in each of the receding wings. Vertical circulation is
principally through banks of elevators in the protruding pavilions. The
elevators serve balcony levels of the main auditorium and smaller conference
rooms on the third and fourth floors of the wings. Circulation on each floor
is by long hallways around the cavity of the main auditorium, and across the
front of the building. Seating capacity is 7800 in the large auditorium and
900 in each of the side halls. Nineteen smaller conference rooms hold 30-125
people.

The interior of the Auditorium was completely remodeled in 1964, Except
for the substitution of escalators for staircases in some instances, the
building functions just as it did before the remodeling. The principal
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changes have been in improving acoustics in the main auditorium and lighting
throughout. In the hallways, the forms of the old vaulted ceilings remain
but the details are removed. There have never been elaborate interior spaces.
4, City Hall-The San Francisco City Hall (400 Van Ness Avenue) occupies the
double block bounded by Polk, McAllister, Van Ness and Grove Streets. General
rectangular in its ground plan, the building consists of two squarish office
wings linked functionally and symbolically by a high central dome. The dome
rests on a rectangular base which is expressed on two long facades in large
pedimented porticos. Long Doric colonnades in the office wings are expressive
of the more practical uses to which they are put.

The City Hall is erected on a steel frame clad in gray Raymond granite.
The dome rises over 300 feet above the street, higher than the Capitol in
Washington, D,C. The office wings contain four stories above ground and a
partially exposed basement. The building is in a late French Renaissance
or Baroque style with the principal design feature, the dome, derived from
several great domes of the FBuropean Renaissance--St. Peter's, Les Invalides,
the Val de Grace and St. Paul's.

The principal facade on Polk Street consists of a long Doric colonnade
over a rusticated base. The wall is broken by a central pedimented portico
and slight projecting pavilions at the angles. The base consists of the
first floor and exposed basement, the columned superstructure consists of
the second and third floors, and an attic is slightly recessed behind a
balustrade over the third floor.

Three ~arched entrances in the base aré reached by a steep flight of steps.
The arches are voussoired and contain lavishly ornamented masked keystones
flanked by cornucoplae. Intricate door frames and sconces, and a balustrade
between the columns in the next level, are all burnished iron painted blue
and gold. The balcony is carried on festooned brackets. Six Corinthian
columns in the superstructure carry a Doric entablature with ornamented
metopes and a triangular pediment. There are two pairs of columns at the
ends of the portico and two single columns more widely spaced between.
Between and behind the columns are three French windows opening onto the
balcony, large windows overhead in the third floor, and large flat cartouches
at the top of the wall. The dentilated pediment encloses a sculpture group
designed by Henri Crenier, with a female '"San Francisco" beckoning commerce
and navigation.

Smooth re-entrant corners effect the transition from the portico to the
identical flanking office wings. Between the portico and each angle pavilion
there are eight rectangular windows in each of the four levels. The windows
in the base are eached capped with an ornamental keystone., Fach vertical paixy
of windows in the superstructure is set in a wall glightly recessed behind
a row of Doric columns. The columns are tied with an iron balustrade at thein
bases and carry an ornamented entablature above, with bucranes, amphorae,
shields, helmets, medallions and heads of beasts in the metopes. The attic
floor behind the interrupted balustrade is crowned with a band inscribed
with a wave motif. Alternate windows are flanked with a broad shield design.
A short false roof is little more than a coping. The angle features contain
a single rectangular window in the base with a lavishly ornamented festooned
keystone beneath a second floor balcony. A vertical pair of windows in the
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superstructure is flanked by Doric columns which carry a small pediment that
stops short of the continuing wave frieze that crowns the wall. The tympanum
encloses a large shell and sea monsters.

The Van Ness facade 1s identical except for a few details in the central
portico. The entrances in the base are rectangular rather than arched and
are surmounted by cartouches in beds of elaborately detailed paraphernalia.
Between each entrance caryatids designed in the Art Nouveau manner carry
the balcony of the next level. The windows in the superstructure of the
Polk Street facade are replaced by two-story arches on Van Ness presently
glazed with reflective glass. The sculpture group in the pediment, also by
Henri Crenier, consists of Wisdom, flanked by the Arts, Learning and Truth
on one side and by Industry and Labor on the other.

The Grove Street and McAllister Street facades, virtually identical to
each other,are simplified versions of the principal facades. Slightly pro-
truding pavilions at the angles are linked by simply fenestrated walls,
with pilasters in the superstructure. There are eleven windows in each floor
of the long central feature. The angles contain three windows in each floor,
with six Doric columns in the superstructure carrying a flat cornice. The
columns are arrayed like those of the central porticos of the main facades.
The seventeen windows of the attic sit behind a balustrade over the third
floor and beneath the encircling wave frieze.

The great central dome sits on a square base of four gilant pendentives
positioned between the central porticos on the main facades and the large
light courts in the office wings. Great semicircular clerestory windows in
the base facing the courts light the lower reaches of the domed space. The
drum of the dome is encircled by free standing columns carrying a broken
cornice. A balustrade ties the columns at their bases and an entablature of
triglyphs amd ornamental metopes encircles the drum above. There are tall
pedimented rectangular windows in the drum between the columns. The vertical
line of each column carries through the cornice with an urn and set back
behind the ring of urns is an inner drum with pilasters behind each urn and
torches over each pilaster. Between the pilasters of the inner drum are
generous garlands.

The dome itself is constructed on a steel frame, sheeted with copper and
coated with lead. It was originally highlighted with gold. The vertical
lines of the columns around the drum rise through the dome to an encircling
skullcap of surface decoration. Small bullseye windows look out from under
hooded shells between these vertical striations. An encircling iron balus-
trade at the top encloses a tall spired lantern built on a base of four

low arches looking to the cardinal directions. Four taller arches rise
over the base with pairs of freestanding fluted Doric columns flanking the
arches and carrying a broken cornice. An urn carries through the cornice
over each column, and a tall, slender, tapering steeple rises from the
center and is crowned with a torch.

There are two pieces of sculpture on the City Hall grounds. A statue of -
Hall McAllister, a distinguished pioneer attorney, faces McAllister Street
on the northside of the building. A seated Abraham Lincoln, copied from the
Lincoln Memorial in Washington, D.C., executed by Haig Patigian, faces the
Civic Center Plaza.

GPO 921.724




UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE California

"(Jaly 196%4 e !
L NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |[CGOUNTY

MAR © 1978/

San Francisco
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM

N.ATlONA; / FOR NPS USE ONLY

E

REGIST ‘:{ (Continuation Sheet) ENTRY NUMBE:?!2 DATE
e 039

Favau
Ui L v Ve

el

Gription (continuation sheet 7)

INTERIOR

The interior of City Hall is arranged exactly as 1t appears from the
outside, with a central ceremonial hall and circulation area tying together
the two office wings. This ceremonial area crosses the building from the
Polk Street portico to its counterpart on Van Ness. On either side of the
high central domed space there are broad public entrance halls with low
ceilings, treated severely with a forest of modified Tuscan columns made of
Indiana sandstone. In bebween, the dome rests on a square centerpiece that
£ills the long central rectangular light court of the office wings from
front to rear.

Rising from the center of the ground floor of the domed space is a broad
staircase which spills out on to the floor beneath a straight climb to the
principal landing. The balustrade and numerous freestanding torcheres on the
main floor and principal landing were cast by Leo J. Meyberg in iron and
bronze and painted blue and gold. This square centerpiece with galleries
all around it tying it to the main building through its floors, runs clear
up to the inner vaulting of the great dome. In effect, from inside, this
cupola rests on the intersection of two short transepts, forming in plan
a cross. The north and south transepts contain galleries to serve each
floor and great windows to light the interior. A monumental staircase leads
directly to the Supervisors Council Chamber. Opposite this and across the
domed space is the Mayor's Office. These motifs are magnificently framed
in the east and west transept recesses, which are entirely open from the
first floor up. The side transepts, which are merely cross corridors in plan,
are screened with columns carried across in three bays (with an interpolated
sub-order) to mask the floor levels and break up the light.

Each of these transept recesses is spanned with four giant arches between
which oblidque pendentives merge into and carry the circular cornice which
marks the base of the dome. The coffered inner dome springs from a closely
spaced ring of Corinthian columns and terminates in an open lantern through
which the eye finally rests on a boldly carved cartouche at the apex of the
paneled upper dome.

Like the exterior porticos, the inside of the domed space consists of a
rusticated base surmounted by a two-story Corinthian superstructure. The
columns and pilasters of the superstructure carry a correct, Corinthian
entablature which is surmounted by a short wall. Above the wall in the east
and west transepts are sculptural groups by Henri Crenier, set in large
semi-circular sections which are framed by the pendentives which carry the
dome. The sculpture and other large decorations are made of Portland cement,
effectively simulating the real stone used elsewhere.

Everywhere there is a wealth of magnificent architecture and decorative
detail. Four large medallions in the spandrels of the pendentives represent
Liberty, Equality, Learning and Strength. In the east transept there is a
clock over the central doorway on the second floor, set in a wreath with
eagles and urns on either side. The sculptural group above it represents
Father Time flanked by History and a youth with a torch representing future
generations. In the west transept the cartouche over the large central arch
at the top of the stairs is based on the seal of San Francisco.
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It would be impossible to describe the abundance of detail which enlivens
the domed space, other than to say that it derives from Roman, Renaissance
and Baroque models generally. Despite the variety of sources and the
quantity of detail, it is nevertheless applied with a strict adherence to
function. Jean Louils Bourgeois assisted Arthur Brown in the design of this
magnificent interior; Paul Deniville executed the designs in decorative
plaster and artificial stone.

Apart from the domed space, there are ornamental treatments in the
chambers of the Board of Supervisors and the Mayor's Office, which are
located in the Van Ness and Polk Street porticos, respectively. The public
meeting room of the Board of Supervisors at the top of the grand central
staircase is lavishly paneled in Manchurian oak. Corinthian pilasters, a
beautifully coffered ceiling, and three arches opposite the entrances which
open out on the columned porch are the principal architectural features.
The Mayor's Office is a simplified variation of the Supervisors Chambers.

The two office wings meet behind the porticos and are linked by galleries
in the north and south transepts of the domed space. The entire bagsement
and ground floor areas are utilized, but the higher floors are grouped
around large central light courts on either side of the dome. The basgement
is used for storage, mechanical equipment and office space. The ground floor
offices, which are directly accessible from the entrance halls and secondary
corridors flanking. the domed space, house the municipal functions in most
frequent public demand. With the light courts above, these offices are
roofed with skylights and enclose large spaces. The second, third and
fourth floors are more nearly arranged like an office building, with con-
tinvous encircling hallways on each floor opening onto offices on either
side. In addition to office space, there are simply executed court rooms
on the third and fourth levels. A bank of three elevators aplece rises from
each of the entrance hallways. New elevators were installed in 1966.

The variety of interior marbles used in floors, wainscotting, carved
stafrcases, pilasters and ashlar walls came from Colorado, Alabama, Vermont
and Italy. The wood is Manchurian oak. The ornamental bronze mailboxes and
package boxes, most notable in the entrance halls, were specially designed
by the American Mailing Device Corporation of New York City. Sculptural
niches in the entrance halls are occupied by busts of former Mayors Phelan
and Rolph (by Haig Patigian) and Angelo Rossi(by R. Cravath).

5. Civic Center Plaza-The Civic Center Plaza is bounded by Polk, McAlligter,
Larkin and Grove Streets. Where Fulton Street once cut through the block
from east to west, there is now a paved pedestrian area lined with tall
flag poles. A long rectangular pool sits in the center of the paved area
with rows of sycamore trees on the sides. To either side are park areas
circumscribed by concrete walks; a central square lawn is flanked to the
east and west by rows of olive trees.

Underneath the south half of the block is Brooks Hall(99 Grove Street),
a 90,000 square foot exhibition area connected to the Civie Auditorium by
ramps to both basement and first floor levels. Staircases near the corners
of Larkin and Grove and along Polk Street lead to the Hall. A truck loading
ramp enters the hall from a straight sloping drive that runs the length of
the Fulton Street side of Marshall Square. Under the north half of the
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6. San Francisco Public Library-The San Francisco Public Library (200 Larkin
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block is a three level 1464 car parking garage (355 McAllister Street) with
automobile access on Larkin and McAllister Streets. It can also be reached

by staircases near the plaza pool and two staircases and an elevator pavilio
near the McAllister Street side of the Plaza.

Street) ocecupies the block bounded by Larkin, Hyde, Fulton and McAllister
Streets. It takes up all but the northeast corner of the block, which is
occupied by a temporary structure used in part as a library annex. The
library is erected on a steel frame clad in gray California granite, and
sits on a plinth of grass held by an encircling retaining wall. The building
is shaped in its ground plan somewhat like a giant "P" with a squarish main
building and an ell continuing the south facade the full length of the
Fulton Street frontage. The Larkin and Fulton Street sides are the principal
facades, and together with the end of the ell on Hyde and a flat pavilion
around the corner from Larkin on McAllister Street, are treated in the
Italian Renaissance style. The remainder of the McAllister Street facade

is more simply expressed. The other exterior walls on the north and the east
largely behind the temporary building, and two interior light courts are
ordinary brick., Inside and out the building is in excellent condition.

The ornamental facades consist of a rusticated basement crowned by a
belt course, and surmounted by a high story consisting of discreetly pro-
Jjecting corner pavilions Joined by unbroken ranges of graceful arches
without a dominant central feature. Over all is a high entablature which
forms the well of the top story and contains smaller public rooms. The
architectural details are delicate and restrained and are used with intentio:
and comprehension of function.

The main facade faces the Plaza across Larkin Street. Three large central
doorways on the ground floor are flanked by two large rectangular windows
cut into the rusticated wall on either side. An interrupted series of
shallow steps approaches the doorways, each of which is framed with a flat
decorative molding and topped by crossettes adorned with garlands and
fleur-de-1lis, and a central cartouche. The doors are in two layers, with
coffered outer wooden storm doors, and inner doors of glass in ornamental
bronze frames. The doors are set back behind ornamented posts and lintels
decorated with scenes from classical mythology. Flanking the doors are free
standing copper plated lamps. The cornerstone at the southwest corner of the
building is marked "Anno Domini MCMXV," |@(-

There are seven arches in the superstructure, those at either end be-
longing to flat pavilions framed by pairs of doric pilagters. There are
rosettes under each plainly molded arch, fleur-de-lis at the springline,
and round=shields in the spandrels. Under the sill are a pair of tablets
on which are inscribed the names of famous authors. The windows themselves
are set in a crosshatching of cast iron mullions. Between the pavilions are
five more arches, recessed together behind a row of free standing lonic
columns. Rach arch is flanked by columns so that adjacent arches have a
column between them. The bases of the columns are tied together with a low
balustrade, in the center of each stands a giant (7'8") cement figure on a
pedestal. The figures, representing Art, Literature, Philosophy, Science
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and Law were sculpted by Leo Lentelli. Their rough texture, fluid molding
and romantic quality are in contrast to the regularity and rationality of
the Italian Renaissance framework of the building. The play of light and
shade over statues,columns and arches in this central feature serves to
give interest and accent to the entrance facade.

On the third floor a great panel over the five central recessed arches
of the second level is inscribed"The Public Library of the City and County
of San Francisco/ Founded AD MDCCCLXXVIII Erected AD MCMXVI/ May This
Structure Throned on Imperishable Books Be Maintained and Cherished From
Generation/ To Generation For The Improvement and Delight of Mankind." Above
the flanking pavilions there are two windows over each arch and a pair of
urn-decorated panels over each pair of pilasters. Crowning the entablature
is a regular cornice and antefixa. Set back slightly behind the antefixa
is a short false front which steps up from either end to a high point at the
center.

The side facade on Fulton Street 1s a simplified variation of the
entrance facade on Larkin. Between identical pavilions at the angles, the
ground floor congists of a single central ornamental doorway flanked by six
windows on each side. There are thirteen arches separated by Doric pilasters
in the superstructure, with each bay identical to those at the angles of the
main facade, except for names on the panels and shields in the spandrels. In
the third floor entablature there is a palr of windows over each arch in the
superstructure, and a single urned panel over each single pilaster.

The end of the ell on Hyde Street and the west end of the McAllister
Street facade are exact restatements of the entire pavilion ends of the
main facades. The remainder of the McAllister Street facade is a frank
expression of the library stacks with seventeen high, narrow rectangular

bays separated by simple piers, all beneath a greatly simplified entablature}

INTERIOR

The functions and organization of the library's interior are clearly indi-
cated by the exterior design. The main entrance facade is denoted by its
more articulated treatment; the main reading rooms are expressed in the
ranges of bays on the two principal facades; rooms of lesser importance

are manifest in the more ordinary windows on ground and top floors; and

the stack areas, generally on the north side of the building, are expressed
in the simpler treatment of the McAllister Street facade.

The nature of the plan is equally obvious inside. From the entrance
vestibule, the view is clear through a magnificent succession of ceremonial
spaces: up a staircase to the main room on the second floor which serves as
a center of circulation. From the staircase area and from the main room
there is ready access to the two main reading rooms of the library. These
reading rooms are connected to smaller and less imposing public rooms on
the first and third floors by secondary stadrcases near each of the main
reading rooms, and by a pair of elevators which rise from the entrance
vestibule on either side of the ceremonial stairway. The public spaces are
all grouped along the Larkin and Fulton Street sides and in the center of
the building, and closed stack areas are on the McAllister Street side.
Large interior courts for light and air, located at either side of the
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7. Déscription (continuation sheet 11)

central main room are visible from windows in hallways, secondary stairs
and other places, and these further contribute to a ready apprehension of
the plan of the building.

The principal ornamental public spaces are those which constitute the
ceremonial progression and the two main reading rooms. The ceremonial spaces
are especially noteworthy and the crowning architectural feature of the
library.

The ceremonial progression begins in the vaulted entrance vestibule, a
space loosely divided into three cavities by large piers. The outer cavity,
Just inside the main doors, is separated from the others by glass partitions.
The vestibule contains large wooden lamps, mostly unoccupied sculptural
niches, and ornamented doorways opening to various service spaces which
are grouped around it. It is ornamented with classical details, principally
in the vaulted plaster ceiling, including urns, nymphs, griffins and various
kinds of stylized flowers and leaves in an arabesque pattern. The details
are entirely in relief, with none painted or etched, allowing for the full
effect of the play of light and shade. Beneath the plaster ceiling, the
materials used in the vestibule as well as throughout the ceremonial passage
are a combination of travertine and a highly successful and practically
indistinguishable imitation travertine. In general, the real travertine is
used on floors and steps, columns, door trim and lower wall areas and the
imitation material elsewhere. The creator and designer of these materials
and their forms is Paul Deniville.

From the vestibule, the ceremonial passage continues up a formal staircase
to an enclosed landing skylighted dramatically from the sides. The stairs
climb between rusticated travertine walls, each surmounted by :a high loggia
and capped with a caissonned barrel vault. Along the side walls behind the
loggia are two large murals, each cut into five panels interrupted by
travertine pilasters. The murals depict a California landscape and seascape
in broad, flat areas of unmodulated earth colors that harmonize well with
their travertine surroundings. The were painted as part of the Works Project
Administration in 1931-32 by Gottardo Piazzoni and added to the unadorned
panels of that time. Two additional panels were installed in 1975.

The ceremonial passage terminates fittingly in the truly monumental main
room. The room is sixty-five feet square and forty-two feet high and contains
large scaled architectonic features equally suitable to a monumental classica
exterior. The entrance and three other huge arches, one on each wall, are
framed in a plain molding carried on giant free standing ionic columns. A
heavy impost:encircles the room beneath a colonnade of fluted composite
pilasters. The archeg contain doors below and large clerestory windows above
set in beautifully worked bronze frames of crosshatching mullions and
- classicat trim. The ceiling is cub with deep octagonal caissons. The room was
originally called the "delivery room" but has lost that function and some of

its symbolic significance along with it. It now houses card catalogs and
information services.

The two major reading rooms also recelve special architectural treatment.
The Literatyre and Philosophy reading room was a general reading room origin-

ally. It is situated off the main room and runs almost the entire length of
the Fulton Street facade. It measures 30 by 195 feet and holds 25,000 volumes
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6a. Library Annex (45 Hyde Street) The temporary structure at the northeast

7. California State Building. The State Office Building (350 McAllister

Description (continuation sheet 12)

on open shelves. The History and Social Science reading room off the stair-
casgse area opposite the main room was originally called the Reference Room. It
runs the length of Larkin Street facade, measures 30 by 100 feet, and holds
15,000 volumes. Both rooms are mbdeled after early Renaissance halls. They
are long with high, white painted plaster walls above stained oak book
shelves and wainscotting and varicolored stenciled wooden beams across the
ceiling. The floors are now linoleum, but were originally cork. There are
two giant sopra porta murals (12 by 47 feet), one in each reading room,
depicting the American migration from New England to California. The murals
were painted by Frank Vincent DuMond originally for the Panama Pacific
Exposition. The:frest of the library is relatively plain. Public spaces
contain wainscotting and shelves beneath light colored walls, with traverting
floors and trim in hallways and linoleum floors in library rooms. Most of
the original functions of the rooms are at least generally the same today.
Only two rooms have been thoroughly remodeled, but lighting has been improved
throughout the building. Old chandeliers and light fixtures remain only
where they perform an important ceremonial function; An old storage area
under the main delivery hall was converted to the Science and Technology
Room in the 1950's. The Lurie Room on the first floor was remodeled in 1974
to serve as a multipurpose meeting and screening room. The Fulton Street
entrance which is a smaller version of the main entrance vestibule, is
closed off and used as an office area.

There are seven gtack levels on the north side of the building where
most books are kept. The superstructure and shelves are of special steel
construction; floors are heavy translucent glass and marble. Lighting is
predominantly natural, through high bay windows on the the McAllister Street
and interior court sides of the stack wing. The stacks were originally
designed to hold 500,000 volumes.

The original accessories, still the predominant fixtures throughout,
were custom designed with a high regard for the general harmony and fitness
for this building. Despite the large number of separate contracts required
for the furniture, metalwork and other accessories, there is a high degree
of unity in the designs. The decorative style in the trim and furniture
was originally described as "old Italian."

corner of the library block is a three story, rectangular bullding erected
on a wood frame. Its flat, white walls are completely unadorned except for
rows of rectangular windows on each floor.

The Library Annex is used by the library and other city departments
and was built for the Navy Department in 1945 for $123,730. It was built
under the aegis of a war emergency and has never met the city building code.
In 1948 it was sold to the Library Commission for $10,000.

Street) is a basically rectangular structure occupying the south half of the
block bounded by McAllister, Larkin, Golden Gate and Polk Streets. The north
half of the block contains the State Building Annex which is about the same
size. The newer building was constructed in 1957 and is attached to the old
State Building in the center of the block to allow the bulldings to function
as one large building. Visually they appear as separate structures in such
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7. Description (continuation sheet 13)

a manner that the aesthetic integrity of the old buililding remains unassailed.

The State Building is six stories high, constructed on a skeleton of
steel and sheathed in gray California granite and terra cotta simulating
granite, The Italian Renaissance style of the building is fully realized on
the long main facade which faces across McAllister Street to the Civic Center
Plaza and on the ends of the main forward section of the building. A rear
section is set back from Polk and Larkin Streets and receives a more
simplified classical treatment.

The entire main facade is lightly rusticated. It is broken up into a
high three-story base surmounted by a two-story superstructure of glazed
arches and pedimented windows set off by composite pilasters, with a simple
top-floor entablature. The most interesting feature of the facade is the
entrance motif with three high arches in the center of the base which open
onto an open air vaulted vestibule. Each arch is framed with a compound
molding and capped with a keystone volute, each of which carries a classical
mask. Above each keystone is an elaborate cartouche set in imbricated leaves
on the voussoirs. In the spandrels, medallions enclose symbols of labor,
Justice, education and agriculture. Beneath the medallions are large bronze
lamps, like the towers of a Moorish fort. Under the arch are guilloche panels
set with rosettes, rising from the spring to the keystone, which is incised
with a caduceus. The vestibule is vaulted behind the arches and barrel shaped
with caissons behind the piers. Corinthian-like pilasters in the piers carry
a simple cornice at the spring of the vault. Three elaborate framed doorways
enter the building from the vestibule. Fach doorway i1s set within a frame
of cable, and egg and dart molding above which is a bay leaf band overhung
by a lintel set on voluted brackets. There are three plain windows above
the lintel. The doors are oak and glass.

On either side of the arches are nine simple rectangular windows evenly
gpaced across the facade on each floor. The cornerstone at the southwest
corner of the building reads "Anno Domini MCMXX." On either side of the
arches are free standing flag poles rising out of a base of generous bay
leaf and guilloche roll moldings.

The second level is dominated by thirteen glazed arches marked with
voussoirs, a recessed molding and a keystone volute. There are rosettes
under each arch on either side of the keystone above the springline. Between
the arches are twelve vertical pairs of rectangular windows with a simple
pediment over the larger lower windows, and a vertical panel over each upper
window. A composite pilaster is set between each arch and each pair of
windows, with a pair of pilasters at the extreme ends of the facade.

A smooth architrave and regular cornice sit at the base of the top floor
entablature. Above each arch and a pair of windows in the second level, there
is a small rectangular window in the entablature; above each pilaster is an
urned panel..The wall is capped by Greek antefixae and the squat roof is
trimmed with cooper.

The sides are treated like the main facade with three windows on each flog
in the base; a central glazed arch and two flanking vertical pairs of windows
with attendent pilasters in the second level; and three plain windows with
panels in the entablature. Behind the main facade there is only one window
on each floor, two pilasters in the second level and two panels in the
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borner at U.N. Plaza and Hyde and a cornice height equal to other Civic Center

(continuation sheet 14)

entablature, all set with frets, balustrade, architrave, cornice and
antefixae. The other public wall surfaces are simplified versions of the
main facade. There are three rectangular windows in each floor of the rear

sections of the building which face on Larkin and Polk Streets. The treatment

of the base is identical to other base areas, but the superstructure is only
ornamented with pediments over the two outside windows on the third floor.
The crowning fretwork is articulated only as a smooth band, the cornice
above it is simplified and the entablature is unadorned.

The back of the building was initially adorned like the rear sides with
four windows across from either end and brick in between. Now only two
windows at each level are exposed;everything else between is cut out for
the connection between the old state building and its annex.

INTERIOR

The interior of the state building contains a highly functional organi-
zation of offices on every floor. The only exception is the two-story
Supreme Court on the fourth floor which was exbtensively remodeled in 1956,

The court was originally trimmed with oak, simply cut with classical details}

Today it contains walls of sheepskin panels, mahogany court furniture and
and theater seats for 120 spectators.
8. Orpheum Theater-The Orpheum Theater (1182 Market Street) is an irregularl:

~

shaped building at the west end of the block bounded by U.N. Plaza, Market ahd

Hyde Streets. It is a four-story reinforced concrete structure with an
auditorium at the rear and office and commercial space on Market Street.
The principal facade is covered with elaborate Spanish Gothic decoration,
after the Cathedral of Leon. The rear walls are blank, with a re-entrant

buildings.

The Market Street facade of the Orpheum consists of wide bays defined
by Spanish Gothic verticals which carry through the cornice as torches.
Within each of the bays of varying widths, office windows are set in iron
frames. A decorative arcade on the ground floor is open at the theater
entrance and encloses storefronts elsewhere, and a smaller arcade of office-
windows on the second floor carries as a cornice. The central bay over the
theater entrance is more elaborately treated with a spired false front
which rises above the wall of the building. Elsewhere behind the crowning
cornice there is a short wall with a brief coping of Spanish tile.

Tnside the 2000 geat auditorium is no less exotic than the exterior,
with huge decorative towers flanking the stage and sumptuous ornamentation
on wall and celling surfaces.

Commercigl remodelings have obscured some of the grandeur of the old
theater with flat painted interior walls over the brilliant colors of the
original decoration, oversized and out-of-character signs on the exterior
and walled and redecorated store fronts. None of these alterations have
‘permanently damaged the building.

9. City Hall Annex (450 McAllister)=The City Hall Annex is located at 450
McAllister across from the City Hall. It is a six-story generally rectangu-
lar structure built of reinforced concrete. The McAllister Street facade is
clad in terra cotta, in a simple reflection of the design of City Hall. It
contains a two-story rusticated base with a central arched entrance, and is
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surmounted by a coursing of fleur-de-lis over which rises a two-story smooth
superstructure crowned with a simple cornice. Fenestration is very simple,
reflecting the functional office building ingide.

10. The War Memorial-The San Francisco War Memorial consists of a pair of
identical monumental classical structures, the Opera House (309 Van Ness
Avenue) and the Veterans Building (459 Van Ness Avenue) on either side of a
formal court. The complex is set in a double block bounded by Van Ness,
McAllister, Franklin and Grove Streets, and faces the City Hall across Van
Ness Avenue.

Opera House

The Opera House is erected on a steel frame with reinforced concrete
floors and walls. It is clad in terra cotta simulating Raymond granite used
in its base, steps and coluwmns. The building is generally rectangular in
shape except for a high scenery loft at the rear and a pair of staircase-
wings which project from the sides near enough to the front that they appear
as receding planes of the main facade. There are four principal stories
above ground and a mansard roof.

The building is a late and rather severe example of the Beaux Arts style
with decorative treatment encircling the building at all levels. The ground
floor base is deeply rusticated and cut with ranges of arches. The two-story
superstructure has a rusticated wall of lower definition and the same ranges
of arches everywhere except the front facade which is more elaborately
designed. The attic is set back behind a balustrade, and a Mansard roof caps
the whole., Details of both ornament and function are everywhere masterfully
executed.

The principal forward facade on Van Ness is reached by a series of long
granite stepd. The facade contains seven arches in the base, glazed and
fitted with handsame bronze and iron frames. The five central arches serve
as the main public entrances to the building and the other two, partially
infilled, as secondary service entrances to ticket offices. Fach arch is
defined by voussoirs and ornamental keystones with masks of lions heads.

The central and outer keystones also serve as brackets for protruding bal-
conies in the next level. There are eight bronze sconces in the spandrels,
and a flat belt course rung above the base.

In the superstructure, eight large pairs of freestanding, fluted doric
columns rise over the piers between the arches below and flank seven re-
cessed arches Just behind them. Fach arch is outlined with a curved ornamenta
molding and capped with a simple ornamental keystone flanked by swags. The
two outer arches are sculptural niches; the five inner arches open back to
an open vaulted vestibule with five glazed arches to the mezzanine foyer.

At the base of the columns is an interrupted balustrade, segments of which
protrude as shallow balconies at the cential and two outside bays. Above
the columns is a simple entablature crowned with an interrupted balustrade.

Set back behind the crowning balustrade 1s a short rectilinear attic
floor with windows behind each section of balustrade. The wall terminates
in a stylized frieze incised with a wave design exactly like its counterpart
on the City Hall. Above the attic floor is a leaded copper mansard roof,
striated with vertical expansion joints and culminating in a simple roll
molding.
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Slightly set back from the main facade and protruding out of the north
and south sides of the building from ground to roof are two vertical stair-
case cavities. For the most part they are simply treated with the basic
rusticated background wall textures of the main facade standing out as the
principal feature of interest. The transition from front facade to stair-
case wing is accomplished in a series of folding planes of this basic wall
texture. There are three square windows in a vertical line on both east and
west walls of the wing. On the outside of each wing, there is a glazed arch
in the base and a more elaborate motif in the superstructure with two pairs
of doric pilasters flanking a sculptural niche with a balustrade.

The court side of the Opera House congists of a pusgticated wall with
ten arches ranged across each tier from the staircase wing to the rear of
the building. Each arch in the base has a lion masked keystone and bronze
sconces in the spandrels. The five forward arches are completely glazed
entrances; the rear arches are infilled except for windows and a door in
the last arch. The arches in the superstructure are set in an ornamental
molding with a balustrade at the base.

The Grove Street side of the Opera is identical.to the court side with
the addition of a marquee cantilevered over a circular driveway which runs
the length of the building. The marquee is made of wood and sheeted with
copper. It is suspended from rods attached to the spandrels between the
arches and 1s attached to the building at the Impost.

The rear of the Opera House is dominated by a large arch that cuts
through the base and superstructure with two smaller arches on either side
in each tier. The main arch springs from the coursing between the two levels
and is topped by an ornamental keystone. Huge sliding metal-plated doors
in the arch accomodate Opera scenery. Between the top of this arch and the
entablature above is a large, rectangular horizontal panel.

Above the Opera House in the rear is the large scenery loft which, like
the building itself, is divided by a coursing into two principal rusticated
wall sections. The front and rear are incised by large rectangular panels
in the center flanked by smaller vertical panelg which contain pedimented
windows with protruding balustraded balconies carried on brackets. The
narrower north and south ends of the loft have a similar arrangement of
unadorned panels. There 1s a simple cornice at the top of the wall sur-
mounted by a mansard roof.

INTERIOR '

The interior of the Opera House is everywhere clearly and efficiently
organized, and its decorative Hreatment is always direct and in the service
of the functions of the building. Within the tradition of Opera Houses, it
is not lavish, yet there i1s an appropriate sense of richness about it that
is achieved principally through the correct use of classical elements and
the fine treatment of details. The simplicity and proportions of the
ceremonial spaces are such ag to appear equally appropriate tora monumental
exterior.

The main Van Ness Avenue entrances open onto a simple vaulted vestibule
where tckets are sold in windows at either end. The entrance vestibule opens
onto a grand foyer across the front of the building, with stairs rising from
elther end in the wings, and corridors running off down the sides of the
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building. This organization is repeated with modifications at three higher
levels.

The ground level foyer recelves the greatest decorative attention outside
the concert hall., A plaster barrel vaulted ceiling with dentilated trim is
carried on pairs of cast stone fluted Doric columns. The walls are also cast
stone and the floors are marble., Coffers in the white ceiling are set with
rosettes and painted gold. Fantastic blue and gold bronzed-iron light fixtureg,
both hanging and freestanding, resemble those in City Hall. Simply pedimented
doorways set in arches open from the foyer into the orchestra seating section
of the main hall.

The main hall itself is first a functional space enlivened and given a
sense of splendor by its classical detailing. The side walls are reflections
of the exterior, with a rusticated base carrying a superstructure of high
arches set between plain pilasters. Balustrades link the bases of the pilass
ters, there are horizontal panels over festooned keystones, and a simple
cornice runs just beneath the ceiling. The arches are latticed and hung with
drapes, originally to camouflage organ pipes but now utilized to house stage
lights. At the stage, a massive proscenium arch is carried on re-entrant
fluted pilasters with statuary groups by Edgar Walter in the spandrels. The
arch itself contains a central swath of caigsons between fluting. The high
ceiling is filled by a large smodth oval surface in a classical molding.

A magnificent aluminum sunburst chandelier, 27 feet in diameter, spurts from |
the center of this oval. The stage itself is equipped with the most advanced
features. The orchestra disappears, the stage can be raised and lowered in
whole or in part, and the scenery is conveniently stored above the stage.

Seating (3302 with 300 standing) is arranged more like a movie theater
than a traditional Opera House, with two principal balconies suspended
directly from wall to wall without supporting columns. There is only one
horseshoe section of box seating. The west end of the building contains
dressing rooms and offices at all levels. The basement contains a bar, buffet
and small emergency hospital.

Veterans Building

The exterior of the Veterans Building is virtually identical to the Operal
House and will be described only as it differs. Aside from changes in the use
of some arches, principal differences are:

Because the Veterans Bullding sits on higher ground, in order to be at the
same level as the Opera it is approached by a shorter flight of steps. The
superstructure of the main facade has all seven arches receding toa longer
open vestibule than in the Opera House. There is no driveway or marquee on i
the side of the Veterans Building. There is no scenery loft, nor a high
central arch on the rear facade; rather, there are seven arches across both
the base and the superstrcuture.

INTERIOR

The interior of the Veterans Building is like a small opera house with
a museum on the top. An auditorium occupies the center of the building for
. the lower three stories. On each of the lower floors a corridor encircles
the auditorium cavity, opening onto offices and meeting rooms across the halll.
The museum ig organized in the ssme way, with a central two-story, skylighte
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7. Description (continuation sheet 18)
sculpture court (now closed off and used as a movie theater) surrounded by a
corridor which opens onto exhibit space on the outside. Principal staircases
rise from near the four corners of the encircling corridor on the first floor
and elevators rise from the front lobby opposite the entrances.

The principal entrances open onto Van Ness Avenue. Through the entrances
is a large vestibule with a smooth plaster vaulted ceiling carried on great
plers. Grouped about the vestibule are a variety of facilities. Behind the
extreme arches in the base of the facade, there are veterans offices to the
south and the museum bookstore to the north. The projecting wings whose
counterparts carry staircases in the Opera, contain uses less functionally
related to the shape of the wings. In the southern wing a Trophy Gallery
leads to a Souvenirs Gallery. Each gallery contains marble floors, cast stone
walls and columns and a vaulted ceiling. In the northern wing, a secondary
entrance vestibule from McAllister Street contains elevators to the museum.
Across the vestibule from the entrances are three elevators interspersed with
two doors to a small anteroom which opens onto the Veterans Auditorium. A
good copy of Houdon's George Washington stands in the main vestibule.

The auditorium is similer in design to the main hall of the Opera House,
the principal difference being its size and subdued detailing. The auditorium
holds 1100 people and has only one balcony. The arches of its side walls
contain eight gilant murals by Frank Brangwyn depicting earth, air, fire and
water and their henefits to mankind. The murals originally hung in the Panams
Pacific Inbernational Exposition. The proscenium arch is simpler and smaller
than in the Opera and contains no statuary in the spandrels. The ceiling is
irregularly coffered and a traditional bronzed chandelier hangs from the
center.

On each of the first two floors, the encircling corridor has barrel
cellings and a red tile floor. The ceiling in the basement and the third flod
was bullt with exposed beams. Wood trim in the hallways and offices is birch.
The rear of the basement contains all the mechanical equipment for both
buildings and is relayed to the Opera House in conduits through a tunnel
under the court.

In 1971, the third floor was turned over by the Veterans to the museum fory
offices and clagsrooms. At the time minor renovations were carried out in
various parts of the building by Robinson and Mills. The ceilings of the
third floor were lowered and spaces behind the office doors were repartition-
ed and remodeled for the museum., A small cafe was added in the museum and the
bookstore was installed off the ground floor vestibule. The bookstore was
enlarged in 1976 by the same architects.

emorial Court

The War Memorial Court occupies the area between the Opera House and the
Veterans Building. It is enclosed on its east and west sides by blue and
gold ornamental iron fencing between the two buildings. A "U" shaped drive-
way passes along its edges, from Franklin Street to the forward fence betweern
the building wings and returns to Franklin Street. The area enclosed by the
driveway consists of a central lawn encircled by a sidewalk lined with box
hedges and sycamore trees, and lighted by ornamental lamps of iron.
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\\ggl%kjEé&gial Building

o The Federal Office Building (50 U.N. Plaza) occupies the entire block
bounded by U.N. Plaza, Leavenworth, McAllister and Hyde Streets. It is a
generally rectangular building with a large central court. There are five
principal stories and a mansard roof above, The building is erected on a
steel frame clad in gray California granite in a generally French Renaissancs
manner.

The classical styling is fully realized on the .U.N. Plaza, Hyde and Leavenworth
St. sides, but the U.N. Plaza side, with its long colonnade, is the principal
facade and contains the major entrance. Re-entrant corners at y,N. Plaza and Hyde
and at U.N. Plaza and Leavenworth contain secondary entrances. The McAllister
side is treated more simply between two projecting pavilions, at the angles,
but it retains a refined classical quality, nonetheless.

On all sides there is a two-story base of rusticated blocks surmounted by
a higher two-story tier, variously treated, but with an essentially similar
fenestrated smooth background wall surface. The second tier is surmounted by
a gimple cornice, above which is an interrupted balustrade. On all but the
central section of the McAllister facade there is another story set back
behind the balustrade and capped by a mansard-type roof.

The U.N. Plaza facade contains three high arched entrances in the
center of the rusticated base. Fach arch is glazed and set in.an iron frame
painted silver and gold. There are silver and gold iron lamps in the spand-
rels. The arches are voussoired, with shields set in leaves on the keystones
The central shield contains a crest of stars and stripes and the other two
contain eagles. On either side of the arches there are eight windows on each|
of two floors. Every other window on the ground floor bears a massive mask
of a classical face on its keystone. Two of the masks are of men and two are
of women. The windows are paired vertically, with the second story window
being smaller. The vertical pair of windows at either end of the facade is
set back in a slightly receding plane which carries to the roof. The corner-
stone at the southwest corner of the building reads "Henry Morgenthau Jr./
Secretary of the Treasury/Louis A. Simon/Supervising Archite&t/George 0.Von
Nerta/Supervising Engineer/Arthur Brown Jr./Architect/1933."

The second two-story tier contains 23 windows on each floor with 22 free-
standing fluted Doric columns between each vertical pair of windows in the
principal forward facade. There is a Doric pilaster behind each column and
one on either side of the vertical pair of windows in the receding plane at
either end of the facade. There is a horizontal panel between the windows of
each floor and an interrupted balustrade between the bases of the columns.

The Hyde St. and U.N. Plazgfacades are identical and both simplified varif
ations of the UrN. Plaza facade. There are fourteen windows in each floor
of the base with the last vertical pair at either end set in a receding i
plane which carries to the roof. Giant keystone masgks are carried over every :
third ground floor window. The second tier is identical to that on U.N. Plaza
without the columns and with only fourteen windows on each floor and sevens
teen Doric pilasters. In addition, a circular service driveway drops down to
the basement level on Leavenworth.

The Hyde and Leavenworth facades join the U.N. Plaza facade in identical
curving re-entrant corners. In the base of each is a glazed arch identical

L
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to those on U.N. Plaza, with an eagle in the keystone and lamps in the
spandrels. The second tier contains a single vertical pair of windows flanked
by freestanding fluted Doric columns with Doric pilasters behind. There isg
a balustrade beneath the windows.

Flanking pavilions on the McAllister Street facade are identical to the
Hyde and Leavenworth facades with three windows at each level. The receding
central section of this wall contains a rusticated base with a single glazed
arch in the center. There are stars and stripes on the keystone and cast
iron lamps in the spandrels. There are eight windows on either side in the
ground floor and nine windows on the second floor. Low, freestanding balus-
trades run from the arch to the pavilions, exposing the basement to light
and air. The second tier simply contains 19 vertical pairs of windows with
horizontal panels between them. There is the same regular entabldture and
balustrade found elsewhere at the top of this section of the wall, but there
is no fifth floor or mansard roof.

The shape of the central court reflects that of the exterior of the
building, being generally rectangular with re-entrant corners. It is faced
with gray industrial brick from the exposed basement to the top of the
building. Fenestration and cornice molding mirrors that on the street
side, except for the central sections of the long sides of the court which
face each other.These central sections reach from ground to roof and are
veneered in granite. Both contain a large rectangular glazed entrance
between sconces. set in a rusticated two-story base. A second tier contains
a vertical pair of windows and a protruding balcony beneath the lower window
There are quoins at the corners and a simple pediment over all..The south
side rises one more story marked by a central window set above a gimple
coursing and below a band of frets.There are dormer windows in the mansard
roof above the court.

INTERIOR

The interior contains an identical hallway on each of four principal
floors which encircle the building, opening to offices on either side.
Vertical circulation is principally through elevators at the central entrance
on U.N. Plaza and Leavenworth, and main staircases at the re-entrant corners.
Ceremonial space is limited to a vestibule reached by the three central
arches on U.N. Plaza and minor flourishes at each of the other entrances.

The entrance vestibule is a high barrel vaulted room with niches at
either end. Above the spring of the vault, described by simple cornice, the
ceiling is caissoned. Beneath the cornice, the walls are cast stone. There
are three large, barrel shaped glass chandeliers in iron frames hanging from
the ceiling which serve as models for the hallway lights throughout the
building. Three high infilled arches with pedimented doors open onto the
central circulation hallway from the vestibule. Across the hallway is the
elevator lobby with four elevators with polished brass doors and oak panels.
The hallways have red octagonal floor tiles and a barrel vaulted ceiling
hung with chandeliers. There is a low marble mainscotting and unadorned
marble trim around dark stained wooden office doors.

12. United Nations Plaza-Construction of the one acre United Nations Plaza
began in January 1975 as part of the Market Street Beautification Project

[#2]

in conjunction with the Bay Area Rapid Transit Station.
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7. Descrlptlon
The Plaza is almost complete except for a fountain which is still under construction.
Fulton Street, between Market and Hyde, and Leavenworth, between Market and
McAllister, have been converted to a pedestrian plaza. The entire area is paved
in brick, with granite borders echoing the Civic Center buildings. Rows of trees
line the sides of each street. An 80-foot bronze flag pole will fly the United
Nations flag. The architects of the project are Mario Ciampi and Associates,
John Carl Warnecke and Associates and Lawrence Halprin and Associates.
13. 1 United Nations Plaza is a very small structure, triangular in plan, which
faces on U.N. Plaza behind the Orpheum Theater and across from the Federal Bldg.
It was originally constructed as a two-story residence over a ground floor com-
mercial space. The building is constructed of reinforced concrete in the Zig Zag
Moderne style. Dark copper panels group the windows in a vertical composition
between concrete piers which culminate in a zig zag skyline. There are decorative
relief panels at the tops of the piers. The original interior has been remodeled.
14. Buker's Pet Store is a small brick building with a simple classical cornice.
Its store front has been remodeled.
15. McCarthy's Cocktail Lounge is a small brick building with a simple classical
cornice. A decorative glass transome has been painted over and obscured by the
present sign. The building was remodeled in the 1930's and has an attractive
wood interior and.very-handsome etched glass doors.
16. 7th and McAllister Building. A small, two-story brick building designed in
a classical manner on an odd shaped lot. It was remodeled in 1975 with a glass
wall on 7th Street. 1Its original, narrow corner store front with iron mullions,
and bracketed cornice and entrance hood, is intact.
17. Methodist Book Concern. The Methodist Book Concern is a five-story brick
and terra cotta building designed in a version of the Neo-Classical Revival.
The principal facade is dominated by brick piers which culminate in round arches
at the top. of the facade. There is banded polychrome brick work in the second
floor, and lavish terra cotta keystones and window trim, particularly in the
ground floor office entrance. The fine original ground floor, iron store front
with its small transom windows is intact.
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7. Description
~ Of the 19 buildings in the Civic Center Historic District, 9 are significant to the
character of the District, 5 are neutral and could be replaced by appropriately
designed buildings w1thout loss of character to the District, and 6 are non-
conforming intrusions which detract from the integrity of the district.

Map Significant/ Non-conforming
Ref. Building ‘ Integral Neutral Intrusion
la Dept. City Planning X
2A Wells Fargo Bank Bldg. X

2B Civic Center Power House ’ - X

2C Standard Station X
2D Dept. Public Health Bldg. X -

3 Civic Auditorium X

4 City Hall X

6 Public Library X

6a Library Annex X
7 California State Bldg. : X

8 Orpheum Theatre X .

9 City Hall Annex X
10a War Memorial Opera House - X

10b Veterans Building X

11 Federal Building X

13 1 United Nations Plaza - X

14 Buker's Pet Store X
15 McCarthy's:.Cocktail Lounge X
16 7th & McAllister Bldg. X

17 Methodist Book Concern X
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PERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW
__PREHISTORIC —ARCHEOLOGY-PREHISTORIC X COMMUNITY PLANNING X LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE —RELIGION
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—1700-1799 X ART _ENGINEERING X_-MusIC X _THEATER
X1800-1899 —COMMERCE _EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT __PHILOSOPHY —TRANSPORTATION
X1900- —COMMUNICATIONS —INDUSTRY X_POLITICS/GOVERNMENT . _—OTHER (SPECIFY)

—INVENTION

SPECIFICDATES Civic Center Plan - 1912 BUILDER/ARCHITECT = ypyy¢5116e

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE Civic Center History

The land on which the Civic Center now stands was originally sand dunes and chapar-
ral. Shortly after the street grid of San Francisco was laid out in 1847, the extreme
southwest corner of the grid, bounded by Market, McAllister and Larkin Streets, was set
aside as the Yerba Buena Cemetery. When shifting sands uncovered the graves the cemetery

~was moved, and in 1860 the land was given to the City Parks Department. 1In 1870, still
undeveloped, the land was declared a City Hall Reservation and City Hall Avenue was laid
out parallel to Market Street between the present-day intersections of Grove and Larkin
Streets and Leavenworth and McAllister. The land between Market and City Hall Avenue
was divided and sold to start a fund for a city hall, except for a 100-foot swath across
from Eighth Street, which remained under public ownership as Marshall Square.

A monumental structure (hereinafter, 0ld City Hall) was designed to occupy the re-
mainder of the triangle of the land bounded by City Hall Avenue, Larkin and McAllister

Streets. Ground was broken in 1872, but principally because of corruption in the city
government, it was not completed until 1897 at a far higher cost than originally projected.

In 1899, B.J.S. Cahill, with the encouragement of Mayor Phelan, put forth a Civic Center

_ scheme which would clear up land titles clouded by dubious practices of the promoters of
the Old City Hall, and at the same time create an imposing setting for existing and pro-
posed civic structures in a blighted area. The plan would have opened up Market Street
for over two blocks near the junction of Market and present-day Civic Center. The street
would have split in two paths, leaving a large central area for new development. The
Plan would have brought the 01d City Hall, the Mechanic's Institute, the Post Office,
Hibernia Bank and other monumental structures previously scattered over the area and
obscured by lesser edifices into a single grand design. A direct extension of the Golden
Gate Park Panhandle would intersect Market near the western terminus of the new project.
New developments were halted on two sites which would have blocked the project, but when
a third went ahead, the Civic Center was scrapped. The plan failed for many reasons,
but principally because of general distrust of large governmental projects.

In 1904, the Society for the Improvement and Adornment of San Francisco was formed
under the leadership of former Mayor Phelan. The Society invited Daniel Burham to provide
the city with a grand plan and suggested to B.J.S. Cahill that he design a Civic Center.
Again, Cahill proposed using existing structures and land already owned by the city as
the least expensive approach and the most likely to be realized. This plan was, in fact,
very similar to the one which was later used. A central plaza was.located just as the
present plaza, with major buildings facing it on all sides. The 0ld City Hall was already
on the east and the Mechanics Pavilion on the south. Another major structure was proposed
for the north and a pair for the west side, with a newly plotted Panhandle Extension
running out Fulton Street to Steiner, and then angling up through Alamo Square to the
Panhandle. \

Daniel Burham's plan for San Francisco was ready in 1905, with a Civic Center playing
a vital role in the whole concept. He envisioned the Civic Center as scattered around

26
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the central part of the city, w1th all the major
points connected by a generally circular series of boulevards. The plan was
totally impractical but it fired the imagination of the public and was ap-
proved by the Board of Supervisors shortly before the earthquake in 1906.

With the city in akhes and the old City Hall in shambles, Burnham and his
supporters felt that it would be an easy matber to implement the plan with
its grand new boulevards and public places which would no longer require
cutting through the city. Like other cities that had suffered great holo~
causts, however, San Francisco grew back on the same property lines as before
and before the public would entertain any talk of beautification and "adorn-
ment," the old commercial and residential areas were substantially rebuilt.

In 1909, Burnham was asked to revise his plans for the Civic Center. His
deputy, Willis Polk, handled the design, placing a semi-circular grouping at
the corner of Van Ness and Market, where it could meet the direct Panhandle
Extension. Stirred by the impracticality of the plan, Cahill revised his
1904 plan slightly and argued persuasively that the Bunham/Polk proposal
was too expensive, disruptive to traffic and business and likely to be delaye
by litigation. The Burnham/Polk plan was pubt before the public and easily
defeated.

In 1910, the Panama-Pacific International Exposition Company formed to
hold a major world's falr in 1915. A vice~president of the Exposition Companyi,
James Rolph (or "Sunny Jim") ran successfully for mayor in September 1911.
Rolph's effective campaign, tied to continuing reform, ran under the slogan
"Forward San Francisco." The Municipal Street Railway, Hetch-Hetchy water
project and other important and practical civic improvements were part of his|
program., But the idea of a Civic Center, in his hands, became a catalyst
for the rest as a symbol of the new unity of the population under a new and
honest political era. He associated the Civic Center with the Exposition; thq
Civic Center would permanently exhibit the grandeur which the Exposition
‘would only briefly evoke, and 1t would demonstrate convincingly to the world
that San Francisco had not simply recovered from the earthquake but had be-
come a thriving and civilized metropolis of international importance.

After Rolph's election, steps towards realization of the Civie Center
were taken quickly in hopes of completing at least the City Hall and Audi-
torium for the Exposition. In January 1912, suggestions were solicited and
over 60 submitted proposals for a plan for the newly approved Civic Center.
They tended to fall into two types--those at Van Ness and Market and those
based on the old sites of the old City Hall and Mechanics Institute,yith the
latter heavily predominating. Cahill's 1909 plan was endorsed by the Board
of Supervisors and the issue of the general location was turned over to an
architectural commission under the auspices of the Expositdon, consisting of
Willis Polk, William B. Faville, Clarence Ward, Harris Connick, Edward
Eennett and John Galen Howard. Polk and Bennett voted for Van Ness and Markef

o)
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but all the others clhiose the old site. As Howard explained, the old site was
nearer the city's activities, it had more space, only minimal street changes
would be necessary both for ceremonial and circulabory purposes, more impres-
sive views would be possible and it would be cheaper and less likely to incur
litigation. It was more amenable to the Panhandle Extension route and it
offered better opportunities for growth. Most importantly, it did not inter-
rupt the commercial 1ife of Market Street.

An Architectural Advisory Commission composed of Howard, Frederick W.
Meyer and John Reid, Jr., was appointed by the Mayor to select a final Civic
Center plan, to oversee a city hall competition and to oversee the implemen-
tatdon of the Civic Center plans. Howard, the Chairman, was an unusually
capable man, skilled both as an architect and as an administrator, and it
was his leadership which guided the initial stages. In a speech advocating
passage of the March 1912 bond election for $8.8 million, he eloquently
explained,"the Civic Center signifies the unity of the community of which
it is the ppactical need, the esthetic need and the spiritual expression.”
The bonds passed overwhelmingly and the City Hall competition was begun
shortly thereafter. The winners were announced before the final design of
the Civic Center was settled upon so that the City Hall was designed for the
old City Hall site. In July 1912, a variation of the Cahill plan was chosen
with the City Hall and the two buildings across the plaza from 1t reversed
to achieve a longer approach to the City Hall from Market Street.

The final plan, then, consisted of a central plaza with the City Hall to
the west, State Building to the north, Public Library and Opera House to the
east and Exposition Auditorium to the south. In addition, the four-corner
lots between the main buildings were to contain a Health Building, a Fire
and Police Building a Power House and an undetermined public building, The
site of the present “ederal Building was reserved as city property but also
undetermined. Narrow strips were to be acquired on all property fronting the
Civiec Center, which would be lined with arcades and peristyles.

Construction began quickly, but only the Auditorium, the Power House and
the Plaza were ready for the opening of the Exposition.The City Hall was not
completed until the end of 1915, after the fair had closed.

During the early stages of construction, large signs stood in the lots
where buildings were proposed giving the public an idea of what a grand
project was in the making. The Library was completed in 1916, and the planne
Opera House was ruled out of Marshall Square before World War I ended. The
war and subsequent building depression delayed further progress into the
mid-1920's when the State Building was completed. The Federal Building and

and peristyles did not come to fruition, money was set aside by the builders
of the Orpheum Theater (then called the Pantages) to face the blank rear
walls more appropriately. A dispute over who should pay for the facing was
never resolved with the result that the walls have never been faced.

As the Civic Center as it was originally approved gradually arrived at
the present stage of near completion, a War memorial expanded the Center,

much as the original planners had hoped. The new development west of the City

Hall, which was completed in 1932, thopoughly harmonizes with the old schemel

Other efforts at expansion in the 1950's and 1960's have been less successful

2
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but either sufficiently inobtrusive or far enough away that they do not
intrude on the older areas. The Civic Center Development Plan of 1958, by
Wurster, Bernardi and Emmons; Skidmore, Owings and Merrill; Deleuw, Cather
and Company was the most important of these efforts. In the late 1950's,
the old plaza was excavated and a parking garage and exhibition hall were
put under ground beneath the new plaza.

As part of the current Market Street beautification project and under-
grounding of rail transportation, the first blocks of Fulton and Leavenworth
above Market are being transformed jinto United Nations Plaza, a pedestrian
way, with brick paving between the Federal Building and the Orpheum Theater.

Today Marshall Square and the corner lot northwest of the plaza, as
the only Civic Center sites without permanent developments, are still
mentioned as possibilities for future expansion of the Civic Center.
Significance

The San Francisco Civic Center is regarded by many scholars as the
finest and most complete manifestation of the City Beautiful Movement in
the United States. The City Beautiful Movement intended to create beauby
and order in cities which had grown too fast as a result of industrializatig
and accelerated imnmigration, and as such was an aspect of the general muni-
cipal reform movement that sprang up in the 1890's and continued after the
turn of the century.

The real impetus to the movement was the World's Columbian Exposition
in Chicago in 1893, calted the White City by its admirers for the great
white classical buildings that were arranged in an orderly manner around a
lagoon in a Court of Honor. The order, the harmony, the cleanliness and the
grandeur of the White City amidst the squalor of Chicago and the generally
chaotic conditions of American cities captivated the American public and
gserved as an inspiration to planning and design schemes of great magnitude
and importance for almost 40 years.

The most immediate and direct effect of City Beautiful was the more or
less successful imitation of the White City in world's fairs all over the
country. Major expositions were held in Buffalo (1901), St. Louis(1904),
and San Francisco (1915). Lesser celebrations occurred in San Francisco

served to spread the ideals of classical architecture, general Beaux Arts
planning and the example of cooperation for the greater effect of an
ensemble, But like the White City, these expositions lasted a season and
were then demolished.

A more permanent result of the City Beautiful Movement was the revival
of L'Enfant's plan of Washington, D.C. Daniel Burnham, who had supervised
the Chicago World's Fair, was called in to extend the design and to plan
a rallroad station.

The most characteristic and widespread results of the national enthu-~
slasm genrated by the City Beautiful Movement were, however, the city and
park plan and the Civic Center. Annapolis, Bakersfield, Baltimore, Boston,
Cincinnati, Cleveland, Columbus, Dallas, Hartford, Indianapolis, Kansas
City, Little Rock, Minneapolis-St. Paul, Philadelphia, Providence, Roandke,
St. Louls, San Franclsco, Seattle, Stockton and Williamsburg are some of
the many places that commissioned plans during this era..But of the great

GPO 921.724
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‘sizing physical beauty and abstract planning while ignoring economic and

number of places that had plans made, only a few were implemented to any
degree, and of those, only Cleveland's and San Francisco's achieved any-
where near the proportions dreamed of by planners and an enthusiastic publig
Cleveland's Civic Center was only half finished and San Francisco's more
ambitious project nearly reached completion.

As no city planning departments existed in the United States until
Hartford established one in 1907, these plans were virtually all undertaken
by outside consultants, Daniel Burnham and Charles Mulford Robinson being
chief among them. Burnham was the greater planner and probably the single
most significant proponent of the City Beautiful Movement, having had a hang
in the White City, the revival of L'Enfant's plan, and the plans for Chicagg
Cleveland and San Francisco.

The principal failure of the City Beautiful Movement was in its empha,-

sociological factors. The few manifestations of the movement, which are
permanent, can be largely attributed to economic and sociological oversights

Neverthless, City Beatiful was a significant episode in American archi-
tecture and planning with far-reaching influences. It marked the beginnings
of modern city planning in the United States; it spawned the first city
planning departments and city planning schools; it championeda style of
architecture which asserted itself as a truly national style until the
modern movements supplanted it in the late 1920's and 1930's; it was
associated with the reform and professionalization of architecture; and it
symbolized the widespread municipal reform movements of the day.

A most significant legacy of the movement hag been a heightened aware-
ness of the city as an important unit of design. Partly in response to the
chaos of American cities, the City Beautiful Movement advocated a restraint
on the part of the individual architect who, it taught, should be more con-
cerned with the effect of his building on the overall quality of its en-
vironment than with the uniqueness of the particular building.

Each building in the Civic Center was faced with the problem of pro-
viding modern, functional facilities in a classical idiom. The classical
was deemed suitable as the traditional style of American govermmental
buildings, but significantly inthis case also as amenable to City Beautiful
ideals of harmony among many buildings on a grand scale. The often-remarked
representation of American imperialism in the style of govermental building
of this period is also present. The classical style aptly expressed the
mood of a nation eager to redefine its newly achieved international impor-
tance in.architectural terms.

. . In San
Francisco, it represented the city's emergence as a regional center of
national importance, and within the city, it symbolized the united efforts
of a population recently divided along many lines.
In terms of "democratic" architecture, or architecture for an ever

larger segment of the population, monumental classical architecture uncom-
promisingly demonstrated the enhanced concern for the general public. Only

.

a few years earlier, such splendor was exclusively reserved for the rich

GPO 921.724
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and the privileged few. To this day, no greater public interiors have been
built in the United States than those influenced by and representative of
the City Beautiful Movement, including among the very finest, the San
Francisco City Hall.
Within the scope of turn of the century classical architecture in the
United States, the San Francisco Civic Center contains several fine examples
of the mode and one superlative example in the City Hall, The other buildings
in the group, however, although less interesting in themselves, cannot
properly be evaluated in the same way. In particular, the State Building,
the Federal Building, the Health Building and the War Memorial group would
probably appear rather dull in themselves, as if they were missing an
essential ingredient. But seen in the context of the Civic Center as a whole |
and in relation to City Hall, all the buildings together achieve distinction,
The criteria on which the buildings are Judged, then, must be the degree
to which each enhances the group without distracting from the City Hall.
These qualities are achieved through a hamony of color, material, scale,
size, texture, rhythm and style. Within these constrictions the buildings
achieve individual interest through the imaginative manipulation of the
elements.These are the criteria on which the architects of the buildings
would have wanted them to be judged.
As the beauty and importance of the Civic Center is diffused among
many elements, modestly designed and carefully orchestrated for the greater
effect of the whole group, so no one man can be singled out as having pre-
sided over the development of the Civic Center. Mayor Phelan, B.J.S. Cahill,
the Society for the Improvement and Adorrmment of San Francisco, Daniel
Burnham and the supporters of the Exposition all played essential parts in
the formulation of the idea locally. Mayor Rolph and John Galen Howard were
probably most responsible for the crucial early stages of acceptance and
inception. Arthur Brown, who designed most of the buildings, and the best
ones, deserves far more recognition than he has received for his role as
designer and planner. Many of the men and groups were involved at more than
one stage, and some, like Willis Polk, never left any tangible marks of
their influence, yet were significantly involved as critics and supporters.
Lastly, the San Francisco Civiec Center hag throughout its existence
drawn important people and events to it from all over the United States., Its
beauty, its monumental character and its excellent and waried facilities
have been considered a suitable setting for political demonstrations and
conferences including the San Francisco general strike of 1934, the House
Un-American Activities Committee hearings of the 1950's, and more recent
anti-Viet Nam war demonstrations in the 1960's.
The most significant events, however, have been of international
importance. The United Nations was founded in the Civic Center at "The United
Nations Conference on International Organization" which lasted from April 25-
June 26, 1945. Heads of state and delegates from 49 countries, together with
5,000 others attended the conference, Organizational details and the actual
drafting of the United Nations Charter took place in the Veterans Building,

while ceremonial events and speeches were hel
signing of the United Nations Charter. Entertaimment and large public

gatherings were in the Exposition Auditorium and facilities and services

ERLL:

d in the Opera House, including
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were provided by the Public Library. In addition to its direct historical
significance, this meeting demonstrates how successfully the buildings in
the complex support one another in function as well as design.

On September 8, 1951, delegates from 49 countries signed the Japanese
Peace Treaty, returning sovereignty to Japan after World War II. The treaty
was drawn in the Veterans Building and signed in the Opera House.

The Architects

The Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris was a major influence on .the City
Beautiful Movement as the most important school of architecture during that
period and as the purveyor of idea which, in the United States, became
associated with the City Beautbiful Movement. In the United States certain
schools -and = East Coast architectural firms provided much of the same
training and promoted many of the same ideas. The office of McKim, Mead and
Whibe was one of the most important and most influential of these firms.

Of nine architects of the major buildings in the Civic Center, six attended
the Ecole des Beaux Arts and two others were apprenticed under McKim, Mead
and White in New York City.

John Galen Howard was a nationally prominent figure in the City Beaubi-
ful Movement and one of the most important figures in the development of
the San Francisco Civic Center. Howard studied at Massachusetts Ingstitute
of Technology and at the Ecole des Beaux Arts. He worked for H.H. Richardson
as well as for McKIm, Mead and White. He served on the board of the Pan
American Exposition in Buffalo in 1901, where he designed the prize-winning
Electric Tower, and was chairman of the architectural board of the Alasgka
Yukon Exposition in Seattle in 1909. Howard was invited by Phoebe A. Hearst
to design the Hearst Memorial Mining Building at the University of Californi
in 1900 and remained to design the plan for the university and founded the
Department of Architecture, over which he presided for 25 years. During his
tenure, he designed most of the new buildings on the campus.

During the same years that Howard was so actively involved at the
University of California as an architect, planner, teacher and administratox
he played an equally versatile role in the development of San Francisco.
After the 1906 earthquake, Howard served on the committee charged with
reconstructing the city, and in 1912, he was made chairman of the Advisory
Board for the proposed Civic Center. The Advisory Board selected and refined
a plan for the Civic Center from among those suggested and oversaw the early
stages of the implementation of the plan, including the City Hall competi-
tion and the design of the Exposition Auditorium. Later he served on the
architectural advisory committee for the War Memorial Complex.

Howard's role in the Civic Center went far beyond that of a designer
and an advisor. He was a powerful public advocate and a trusted expert,
upon whom reliance was placed for political, administrative and aesthetic
guidance. The WPA's California Art Research said of Howard:'"His was an
influence such as has been exerted by few men in Western America, and
particularly California culture."

Frederick H. Meyer was a German architect who became an influential
leader in art education in the San Francisco Bay Area. He taught at many of

a
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the most prestigious schools, and in 1907, he founded the California School
of Arts and Crafts in Berkeley with which he was associated until hig death
in 1961. 1In 1915, Meyer received a Medal of Honor from the Panama-Pacific
International Exposition. His most notable architectural achievements out-
side of the Civic Center are the Humboldt Bank Building whose shell was one
of the few that survived the 1906 earthquake and fire, and the Monadnock
Building, also in San Francisco. Meyer also designed the Bakersfield (Cali-
fornia) courthouse as the result of a competition. He served on the original
advisory board of architects for the Civic Center and on the later War
Memorial Advisory Board.

John Reid, Jr. served as the San Francisco City Architect from 1912 to
1928, and in that capacity, he remained en advisor on the Civic Center long
after his term on the original advisory board of architects had expired.
Aside from his part in the Civic Center plan and the Exposition Auditorium,
Reid completed the design of the original Civiec Center Plaza, advised the
State Building competition, made interior alterations to the Health Building
and served on the War Memorial Advisory Board. He also contributed to the
city as the designer of a large number of school buildings, including the
old High School of Commerce, adjacent to the Civiec Center and now used as
the Public Schools Administraion Building. Reid graduated from the University
of California in 1904 and received his diploma from the Ecole des Beaux Arts
in 1909.

Bernard J.8. Cahill was an Englishman who came to San Francisco in
1891 to practice architecture. Cahill specialized in mausoleum design but
he is best known and most influential as an early advocate of city planning.
He attended the London Town Planning Conference in 1909 and the Conference
on City Planning in 1910. As an editor and frequent contributor to the
American Builder's Review and the Architect and Engineer, he was able to
convey his planning ideas to professional audiences., His farsighted plan for
a Civic Center in San Francisco in 1899 helped to create a public under-
standing and acceptance Of the Civic Center idea. Although he has never
received proper recognition, his plan of 1904, amended in 1909, was adopted
in 1912 and served as the design for the present Civiec Center. Cahill is
also known as the inventor of the "Butterfly Map" or Octahedral System of
Projection, by which a distortion in a flat map of the round earth is
minimized.

1. Marshall Square-Marshall Square derives its name from the use of part of
its southeast corner at Grove and Hyde Streets before the old street pattern
was altered to make way for the present Civic Center. The Pioneer Memorial
then sat in the middle of Marshall Square, which was a small park that stood
between the old City Hall and Market Street.The Square was part of the
impressive view up Eighth Street to the City Hall and the site of important
public events and demonstrations for many years. It was named after James
Marshall, whose discovery led to the California gold rush.

The present Marshall Square was designated as the future site for the
Opera House in the Civic Center plan of 1912, Private interests set about

raising $1,000,000 for such a structure and engaged Willis Polk to design it.
Preliminary sketches were published in November 1912, but in the middle of th

next year the California Supreme Court ruled that a private building could
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not be erected on public land. Efforts to redraw the arrangement in an
acceptable manner were unsuccessful and were finally given up in 1916,

In the early 1930's Marshall Square was suggested as a site for a new
municipal courts building and was subsequently so designated in the city
master plan. Preliminary designs were made by City Architect Dodge A.

Reidy in 1933 and sketches were drawn by Stanford Stevenson in the mid-
1950's, After bonds for a court house were rejected by the voters three
times the project was dropped and the site recommended by the City Planning
Department for a library in 1969. Proponents of a new Performing Arts Center
vied for the site, but in 1975 they were.allocated the old Commerce High
school playground and Marshall Square was re-affirmed as a new library
site,

The Department of City Planning was originally built as the Hospitality
House for the USO in 1941 to accomodate soldiers quartered in barracks in
the Civic Center Plaza. It was built largely with donated money and labor
and although it was only intended to be a temporary structure, it remains
in good condition. After the war, ownership reverted to the city which has
used it for various offices, principally City Planning.

, The Pioneer Memorial is also called the James Lick Memorial for the man
who left the largest part of his fortune to erect public statuvary in San
Francisco. This sprawling work was designed by Frank Happersberger as a
memorial to the ordinary miners, traders, cowboys, sailors and other
pioneer people who came to California seeking their fortunes and remaining
to settle. The most notable aspect of this fine work is the modeling of the
large figures, ordinary people depicted in heroic groupings.

Marshall Square is the only major site in the Civiec Center never to
have fulfilled its designated functions, but the temporary uses to which
it has been put have held the block in reserve for future completion of the
Center. The City Planning Building is a good example of moderne design.

The Pioneer Memorial is one of the best pieces of public statuary in San
Francisco evoking the spirit of frontier times in California.

This monument and the name given to the present block, recall the original
Marshall Square and the old San Francisco City Hall and its neighborhood.
2. The Four Corners~In the 1912 plans for the Civiec Center, in addition to
the major buildings on blocks facing the plaza, four smaller structures were
indicated at the corners of the square. It was expected that the four corner:
buildings would be a fire and police station, a public health building, a
power plant for the whole complex and one undetermined  structure. Only the
power house and the public health building were constructed. The failure to
complete all four corners is largely due to their inclusion for essentially
aesthetic reasons. The proposed method of financing them by separate tax
levies has also proved to be an obstacle. The aesthetic function of the four
corner buildings was to complete the classical wall all the way around the
plaza. This was not only to avert inharmonious elements from the Civic
Center, but in the spirit of the City Beautiful Movement, to demonstrate a
complete picture of what cities would look ldike when the day of City
Beautiful arrived.

2A. Southeast Corner: Wells Fargo Bank- The southeast corner was a part of
the original Civic Center plan, which,although never reallzed, forms
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a pleasant facade in the Wells Fargo Building which acts as a re-entrant
corner to the plaza. The building recalls the earliest days of the present
Civic Center before automobile traffic assumed control. Its siting, together
with the one other structure at Leavenworth and McAllister, recalls the old
City Hall Avenue and the pre-1906 01d City Hall neighborhood.

oB. Northeast Corner: Civie Center Power House-It is not certain when the
Power House was completed but it was mnot later than 1915 when the Exposition
Auditorium was the first major structure in the Civic Center torbe finished.
It was probably designed by Frederick Meyer. The Power House still provides
steam heating to all the Civic Center buildings around the Plaza. Its gas
conversion boilers are unchanged in 60 years yet are well-maintained and in
good condition.

The building is the smallest and least effusive structure in the Civic
Center, yet quite appropriate to its practical purpose and aesthetic func-
tion of gapping the space between the Library and the State Building. There
are numerous models for the Power House in similarly designed power stations
built throughout the Bay Area and California during the first years of the
20th century for the Pacific Gas and Electric Company by such important
architects as Willis Polk and Frederick Meyer. The classical treatment of
industrial structures such as this was relatively uncommon, but an important
aspect of the City Beautiful Movement.
2D. Southwest Corner: Department of Public Health Bullding-The health
building was first mentioned in the original specifications for a Civic
Center in 1912. In 1919, John Reid, Jr., in his capacity as city architect,
began preliminary drawings for an administrative and executive office
building for the Department of Health on the present site. The buildings was
to be four stories and projected to cost $400,000, but the building depres-
sion and the funding problems delayed construction through the 1920's. In
1928, Reid resigned as city architect and a bond election authorized con-
struction of a Health Building. In January 1930, Samuel Heiman in the City
Architect's Office assumed responsibility for the job. Ground breaking was
in September 1931 and the building was completed in 1932 at an approximate
cost of $800,000. Interior renovations occurred during the 1930's and in
1966 when facilities for Civil Service Examinations were installed in the
former women's prison area.

The importance of the building is in the degree to which it fulfills
its intended role in the Civic Center to space the gap between the Civic
Auditorium and the City Hall and to do so in such a way that it is in har-
mony with the Civic Center as a whole. The Health Building is the same
height as the Auditorium and City Hall, and its rusticated base and smooth
upper floor areas are in the same proportions. The horizontal rustication
of the base is like that of City Hall, and the balconied and pedimented
windows are like those of the Auditobrium. The re-entrant corner echoes
corners in the War Memorial Buildings, the Federal Building, the Orpheum
Theater and the City Hall.

The shape and orientation of the building not only fills the gap but
suggests a continuation of monumental splendor throughout the city. The

longer Grove Street facade, for example, is visually necessary because the
City Hall does not fill out its whole block and leaves a long view down
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Grove Street from the Plaza. The re-entrant corner provides a setting for
its elaborate doorway, but more importantly to the ensemble, it creates a
sense of greater volume in the building which would be lost with a ninety
degree corner. Mass and the illusion of mass in monumental buildings of
this type is important to the intended effect. The enhancement of the sense
of size suggests an importance for the Health Building more in line with
that of the principal Civic Center buildings.

Taken by itself, the Health Building is a simple but pleasing exercise
in the TItalian Renaissance style. Like the Renaissance palazzo, it is in-
tended to resemble its interior organization is simple and straight-
forward, being efficiently arranged office and laboratory space.

3. Exposition Hall-Efforts to build a new Civic Auditorium began as the
city rebuilt after the earthquake and fire of 1906, Most of the many pro-
posals were for a structure in the present Civic Center area to replace the
old Mechanic's Institubte Pavilion which served as a public auditorium and
stood on the present auditorium site. Such groups as the California Promo-
tion Committee and the Merchant's Association were firmly behind these
efforts and hoped to make San Francisco a major convention center.

By the mid-summer of 1911, the directors of the Panama-Pacific Inter-
national Exposition had decided to build an Exposition Auditorium as a
lasting reminder of the grandeur of the Exposition and as a permanent
contribution to the city by the Exposition. Insofar as the Exposition was
a promotional venture for local businessmen, the Auditorium was also de-
signed to bring business to the city by providing a major convention center
To justify the Auditorium as an Exposition expense, conferences would meet
without paying rent.

The Exposition first proposed an Auditorium at Van Negs and Market,
but readily agreed to the present site when the Civic Center plans were
adopted in 1912, When it appeared that the Civie Center Advisory Architects|
Howard, Meyer and Reid, would design the Exposition Auditorium, a request
by local architects was made for a competition. The directors of the
Exposition feared that a competition would delay final completion of the
building past the opening of the fair and vetoed the idea, naming Howard,
Meyer and Reid as architects in the interests of expediency. The local
chapter of the American Institube of Architects, of which Howard was then
president, split on the issue and brought the three advisory architects to
trial. The ATA claimed that a conspiracy of the three had kept the design
of the Auditorium out of competition and had denied the full City Hall
contract to the firm of Bakewell and Brown. Howard, Meyer and Reid claimed
that the Auditorium was not a public building since it was financed by the
Exposition and therefore not subject to mandatory competition. Ironically,
Bakewell and Brown sided with the Advisory Architects and the result was

that a number of local architects left the AIA and formed a new organizatioy.

Ground breaking on the Auditorium occurred July 10, 1913, the corner-

stone was laid April 23, 1914, and the building was dedicated January 5,
1915, in time for the Exposition. The final cost of the Auditorium sbove

the value of the land donated by the city was $1,112,710 paid by the
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ijmlﬁ%pésitinn.,An additional $210, 024 was paid by the city for granite facing
as the Exposition had only agreed to pay for terra cotta.

Since the completion of the building, there have been several interior
renovations. In 1921, G. Albert Lansburgh altered the main hall for opera,
principally with the addition of a canopy which lowered the ceiling.
Acoustical problems led to the further addition of giant fireproof curtains
by Ward and Blohme in 1923. After the Opera House was completed in 1932,
the Civic Auditorium was remodeled again with the princ¢ipal intention of
obscuring the open metal truss work which had been so highly praised in 1915.

This was accomplished with huge canvas murals and a forest of chandeliers.
The murals, by Gleb and Peter Ilyin, simulated a blue sky with white clouds
and were locally acclaimed. A major renovation by Wurster, Bernardi and
Emmons . andiSkidmorey : Owings. .arid-Mettill modernized the interior from 1961-
1964. Betwenn 1923 and 1932, the San Francisco Opera was held in the main
hall of the Auditorium. Until 1953, the Board of Education was housed in
the upper floors and afterwards, until the renovation in the 1960's, other
city departments utilized the space. The principal use of the Auditorium
has been for conventions.

The Exposition Auditorium is designed in the most traditional Beaux
Arts mammer. With its multi-faceted facade, huge bays and paired colums,
it recalls such landmarks of the style as the Metropolitan Museum of Art
in New York City and some of John Galen Howard's campus buildings at
Berkelev.

As an aesthetic element of the Civic Center, the Auditorium plays a
unique role. Where the other buildings defer to the City Hall and reflect
its rhythmic and classical qualities, there is an exhuberance in the Au-
ditorium which speaks directly to the dome. The other buildings might al=
most be the base for the dome themselves in their classical restraint, but
the picturesqueness of the Auditorium facade, and the extension of the
colums through the cernice in particular, reflect the dome itself. At the
same time, the expansive, uncluttered character of the facade, and the un-
assertiveness and small seale of such details as the spindly colums be-
tween massive arches combine to harmonize the design with the City Hall and
other buildings.

Historically, the Civic Auditorium, as the Exposition Auditorium,
serves as a reminder of the Panama-Pacific International Exposition in 1915
for which it was built. It is the only permanent structure which remains
from that world's fair and as such recalls an important phase in American
history when expositions all over the country celebrated the accomplish-
ments and aspirations of prosperous cities and the newly powerful United
States. The San Francisco Exposition was partly a response to the just
comhleted Panama Canal and signified the growing economic importance of
San Francisco and the west coast. The period of the Exposition was one of
the most colorful in San Francisco's past. As a virtual gift of the Ex-
position Company, the Auditorium served as an important impetus to the
public and political acceptance of the entire Civic Center.

In 1920, the Democratic Convention at which James M. Cox was nominated
for President and Franklin D. Roosevelt for Vice-President was held in the

[ Auditoriim_Tn 1945 the Welcoming Ceremony for the delepates to the
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United Nations Conference on International Organizations overflowed from
the Auditorium into the Plaza. A series of concerts were held for the
delegates, and many events displaced from the Opera House by the conference
were performed in the Auditorium.

The architects, John Galen Howard, Frederick Meyer and John Reid, Jr.,
are discussed at the end of the section on the Civic Center.

4. City Hall-When the old San Francisco City Hall crumbled in the first 60
seconds of the 1906 earthquake, it was as if to signal an end to the tradi-
of corruption in local goverrment. The old City Hall had become a symbol of
that corruption, having taken 27 years to build and costing $5,750,000.
Within two years after the earthquake, the most powerful men in the city
would be in jail and the woters would have elected a new reform-minded
mayor. In 1911, another reform candidate, "'Sumny'' Jin Rolph, would be
elected in a landslide, campaigning to unify the diverse factions of the
city and to build a new City Hall and Civic Center representative of the
new era. The development of City Hall is therefore inextricably related to
the development of the Civic Center.

A new City Hall had been a public and a political issue since 1906.
There was a possibility that the superstructure, or the foundation, or the
site ofr the old building might be reused, but by the end of 1908 demolition
was underway and the talk of a new City Hall began in earnest. There were
many proposals, including Louis Cowles' peremnial, all-purpose radial solu-
tion to mmicipal problems, and a plan by Glemn Allen for a 55 story City
Hall which would be the tallest building in the world. Some people thought
a monumental structure was improper in light of previous mmicipal govern-
ments, and urmecessarily impractical in view of the recent disaster and
continuing drain on city funds for reconstruction of vital services. But
most people felt that the City Hall should be sufficiently pretentious to
demonstrate to all the world visiting the PPIE in 1915 that San Francisco
has a sense of civic pride and that the city had not merely recovered from
the earthquake, but that it was moving forward aggressively.

A City Hall proposal accompanied each successive Civic Center plan,
but was voted down twice in bond elections. In the meantime, in 1911, city
offices were moved into a hotel then under construction near the old City
Hall (now the San Franciscan, a P.S.A. hotel, at 1231 Market Street) . Mayor
Relph's election in September 1911 signaled the willingness of the public
to proceed with the City Hall and the Civic Center, and in March of 1912,
bonds for the combined projects passed overwhelmingly.

In keeping with the open and democratic spirit of the new city govern-
ment, it was agreed that a competition would be held for the design of the
new City Hall. The program for the competition was completed and sent out
in April 1912 to any architect who practised in San Francisco. Seventy-
three designs were submitted and judged by a panel whose most influential
menbers included Civic Center Advisory Architects Howard, Meyer and Reid.
The winning design by Bakewell and Brown was armounced on June 20, 1912.

The wirning design was the overwhelming choice of the judges and was
enthusiastically received by the public and critics. It was seen as a

GPO 921.724
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which would also express the important symbolic functions of the seat of government
and the center of a large civic complex. The building was designed to occupy the
old City Hall site across the plaza from its present location and was planned to
take advantage of the view up Eighth Street to that site, with the axis of Eighth
terminating in the corner of the buillding. The sites were reversed in a vote of
the Board of Supervisors on the advice of the Advisory Architects and other parties.

Construction began in April 1913 with a ground breaking ceremony attended by
the architects, the mayor and many prominent local citizens to mark the beginning
of both the City Hall and the Civic Center. 1In December 1915 an informal dedication
was held but the City Hall was not completely finished for a few more months. The
only alterations in the City Hall have taken place behind office doors except for
new elevators installed in 1966. The building has been well maintained and is in
good condition. ,

The San Francisco City Hall is widely regarded as one of the finest examples
of classical architecture in the United States. It was a very conservative building
for its day and is firmly within the tradition of Americancapitol buildings dating
back to the United States Capitol in Washington, D.C. Yet the influence of the
Beaux Arts revival of Baroque ideal and Arthur Brown's masterful hand set it apart.
The combination of a high and exuberant dome over a pair of rhythmic and restrained
office wings represents the necessarily practical and symbolic aspects of a seat of
government. At the same time the City Hall serves as a powerful centerpiece and
focal point for a much larger civic complex, with the dome serving as the end point
of important vistas from the east and the west and as a point of reference elsewhere.
Although it was not the first constructed, the City Hall was the first Civic Center
building to be designed, and every subsequent building has deferred to its granduer.
The spirit and the details of the City Hall are echoed in every major Civic Center
‘building in such general matters as the character of the office wings and such
particulars as the definition and line of the rusticated base.

The finest feature of the City Hall is its dome, whose exterior has been called
an effective and coherent summation of the European dome from the 16th to the 18th
century, and it demonstrates evidence of the thorough architectural scholarship of
Arthur Brown. The interior domed area, with its fine and elaborate detail, its
imaginative but correct use of the classical elements, its grand staircase, handsome
blue and gold metalwork and dramatic lighting, is a magnificent Baroque space,
comparable to any in the United States. Everywhere, the handling of materials
and details is superb.

The more subdued office wings are given rhythm in the breaking forward of
porticos and angle features in the Baroque manner. As inside, the coldness and
monochrome of the gray granite is interrupted and enlivened with the brilliant use
of blue and gold iron and bronze work balustrades and window embellishments.
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Aside from the architects, several contributors to the City Hall deserve
special mention. Louis Bourgeois, who assisted with the design of the interior,
had been a student with Bakewell and Brown at the Ecole des Beaux Arts. Paul
Deniville, who produced the decorative plaster and artificial stonework of the
monumental interior spaces, also did the interiors of the San Francisco Public
Library and the now demolished Pennsylvania Station in New York City. Newman and
Evans produced the architectural details, and George Wagner, who supervised con-
struction of the City Hall, formerly worked with Burnham and Post.

The development of the City Hall was almost inseparable from that of the Civic
Center as a whole. As the first to be designed and one of the first erected, it
served as a powerful impetus to the completion of the rest of the project. Politic~
ally, it was effectively promoted by Mayor Rolph, both in its planning stages and
after its completion, as symbolic of the unity of the people of San Francisco as
well as the accomplishments and future promise of the city.

The City Hall has served primarily as a municipal office building, but with its
magnificent domed space, it has been utilized for ceremonial purposes on occasion.
Visiting American Presidents and foreign heads of state, including Charles de Gaulle
and the Queen of Belgium, have been welcomed there. President Harding's funeral was
held in the City Hall after he died in San Francisco in 1923, James Rolph's body lay
in state in 1934 after he died while serving as Governor of California. House Un-
American Activities Committee hearings were held in City Hall in the 1950's.

Arthur Brown was one of the finest of all American classical architects. He had
a thorough knowledge of historical architecture which he applied to an imaginative
ability to integrate ecclectic sources into new and functional relationships, and he
was a master with materials and details. Brown graduated from the University of
California in 1896 and from the Ecole des Beaux Arts in 1901, winning three major
prizes under the tutorship of the great French architect, Victor Laloux. In 1906
he returned to San Francisco to open an architectural firm with John Bakewell, Jr.
Throughout the partnership, which lasted until 1928, Brown was the design partner.

In addition to the San Francisco City Hall, Bakewell and Brown designed the Berkeley
and Pasadena City Halls, the Horticulture Building at the PPIE in 1915, the Santa Fe
Depot in San Diego and many buildings at Stanford University. After 1928, Brown
designed the Coit Tower in San Francisco, the Department of Labor and the Interstate
Commerce Buildings in Washington, D.C. and the War Memorial and Federal Buildings in
San Francisco. Brown served on the architectural commission of the PPIE in 1915 and
the Chicago World's Fair in 1933, and was chairman of the Golden Gate Exposition in
1939,

Brown was always more favorably regarded in France than in America, receiving
numerous honors from prestigious French ingtitutions. He was one of the major figures
in the Civic Center. He was involved with Burnham in 1905, with the selection of the
Civic Center site in 1912, and with all stages of the development of the War Memorial.
He designed more individual buildings than any other in the Civic Center, and they
stand out as the finest. He was a national figure in the City Beautiful Movement,

40
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with his participation in world's fairs, the Civic Center and his monumental design
of the Federal Triangle.

John Bakewell, Jr. was born in Topeka, Kansas in 1873. He came to the San
Francisco Bay Area with his family in the 1880's and studied at the University of
California under Bernard Maybeck. Phoebe Apperson Hearst loaned him money to go to
the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris where he met Arthur Brown, Jr. He and Brown re-
turned to San Francisco as partners in 1906, continuing together until 1928. From
that time until his retirement in 1942, he worked in partnership with Ernest Weihe.
Bakewell was acknowledged by Daniel Burnham for his help in the 1905 plan for San
Francisco, and he served on the architectural commission of the Panama-Pacific
International Exposition. Throughout his long career, Bakewell served primarily
as a sophisticated and capable executive and supervising architect.

5. Civic Center Plaza - The Civic Center Plaza was a central feature in the Civic
Center plans from 1904 on. It was originally designed by A.L. Warswick of the City
Architects Office in plans dated June 15, 1914. Landscaping and planting was begun
in August 1914 and completed in June 1915. Additional plans for an encircling balus-
trade, final work on the fountains, and numerous pieces of outdoor furniture were '
undertaken by Warswick in 1917, Paving was completed by John Reid, Jr. in 1925,

In 1954, a $3,275,000 bond issue was passed for an exhibit hall under the south
half of the plaza. Plans by Wurster, Bernardi and Emmons and Skidmore, Owings and
Merrill were approved March 16, 1956, and Brooks Hall opened April 12, 1958. The
current Plaza replaced the original landscaping after Brooks Hall and the Civic
Center garage were bullt. The old plaza was similar in design, with a central east~-
west pedestrian mall and flanking park areas. Paths defined by box hedges wound
through lawns grouped in a semicircle around a fountain on each side of the central
concourse, In a separate project, the privately financed garage was completed in
April 1960 at a cost of $4,500,000.

The Civic Center Plaza, as the central feature of the main grouping of Civic
Center buildings serves to give shape to the grouping and to provide the open space
that enhances the views of the monumental buildings. As part of the approach that
runs up Fulton St., through U.N. Plaza, from Market St. to the City Hall, the Plaza
is an unappropriately scaled foreground for the most magnificent feature of the Civic
Center. Unfortunately the larger featured landscape that replaced the original Plaza
design is less intimate and fails to provide the contrast with the monumentality of
the whole design that existed in the original Plaza. The Plaza is, nevertheless, a
heavily used park and is not out of character with its surroundings.

Since the realignment of the streets eliminated the original Marshall Square
from the Civic Center, the Plaza has assumed the role as a favored public place.
During World War II, prefabricated barracks were erected in the Plaza for military
men on leave,
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6. San Francisco Public Library - The first public library in San Francisco was
established in 1878. It was not housed in its own building, however, until the
present library was completed in 1917. Meanwhile, it moved around into successively
larger temporary quarters as the library collections grew. It was in the north wing
of the old City Hall at the time of the 1906 earthquake, coincidentally the site of
the present library building. When the City Hall collapsed and burned in the earth-
quake, most of the library collection was lost.

For some years before the earthquake there had been public efforts to build
a permanent home for the library but progress was slow. Andrew Carnegie pledged
$375,000 apiece for a main library and branches in 1901 but the gift was not finally
accepted and received (primarily because of a public reticence about "tained" money)
until after it was approved in the election of 1912, In 1903, $1,647,000 worth of
bonds were voted to purchase the lot bounded by Van Ness, Polk, Fulton and Grove to
build a permanent library structure there. The site was shortly moved to Hayes, Fell,
Franklin and Van Ness, the conjunction of the long-proposed Golden Gate Panhandle
Extension and Daniel Burnham's newly planned Civic Center. Plans for this structure
progressed far enough that the Reid Brothers firm was able to publish preliminary
sketches for a classical building for the site in 1910. When the present Civic
Center plan was adopted in 1912, however, the library trustees traded the old
"library block" to the city for the newly designated library site. Ground breaking
took place in March 1915 and the building was dedicated February 15, 1917.

The design of the present library was the result of a limited competition run
by the Board of Library Trustees and the Civic Center Advisory Board. 1In addition
to George Kelham, the eventual winner, the Reid Brothers, Albert Pissis, Ward and
Blohme, Edgar Mathews and G. Albert Lansburgh were invited to compete. Despite a
lawsuit by Mathews, the winning design was enthusiastically received by all other
parties as not simply the best of the entries but a far superior design. Mathews
contended, correctly, that Kelham's design bore a strong resemblance to the Detroit
Public Library of Cass Gilbert. Gilbert and Paul Cret, a member of the jury that
chose Gilbert's design in Detroit, were two of the three jury members in the San
Francisco Library competition, and one of Gilbert's draftsmen at the time he designed
the Detroit Public Library was in Kelham's office at the time of the San Francisco
competition.

The main issue in the competition was derived from the requirement that the
building be less than full lot size because there was no need for a larger building
at the time, nor was there money to build one. The entries were divided over two
general solutions. Two preferred a squarish building, completely ornamented on all
sides but less than a full block long on the Fulton Street frontage. The other four
chose an irregular "P" shaped building with fully ornamented frontages on both Larkin
and Fulton Streets, but plain walls on the other facades. A "P" shaped design was
chosen because the judges felt that it was more sympathetic to the Civic Center as a
whole. It was felt that a short Fulton Street facade would have broken the projected
continuity of rhythm and design from Market Street into the Civic Center which was
achieved with the later completion of the Federal Building.
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In recent years, severe overcrowding has crippled the library's ability to
function efficiently. Several tentative remedies have been proposed, including a
new structure in place of the temporary library annex at the corner of McAllister
and Hyde Streets; filling in the existing light courts; and building an annex in
Marshall Square.

The San Francisco Public Library is an excellent example of American Beaux Arts
architecture and is in the best tradition of classical revival European and American
libraries, following Henri Labrouste's Biblioteque Ste. Genevieve in Paris and McKim,
Mead and White's Boston Public Library, as well as the Detroit Public Library on
which it is most closely modeled. Its restrained system of exterior ornament serves
to reveal the rational plan of the building and at the same time harmonizes appropri-
ately with the rest of the Civic Center. The long arcade of the Fulton Street facade
serves with the colonnade of the Federal Building to define the principal planning
axis of the Civic Center and to direct the eye from Market Street to the City Hall
dome. The Larkin Street facade, across the Plaza from the City Hall, reflects the
design of the City Hall in its main features, yet displays a lively individuality
in the freestanding statues in the superstructure. Following the necessary exterior
restraint, the grand unfolding of the finely wrought interior ceremonial spaces is
treated in an appropriately dramatic Baroque manner.

The principal issue in the library's design competition, the shape of the
building and its relation to other buildings, provides a clearcut illustration of
the importance of the City Beautiful Movement in the design of an individual building.
The winning entry was one in which the architect relinquished the satisfaction of
constructing a complete building in both its shape and decorative treatment, for
the greater good of the whole Civic Center complex.

During the organizing meetings of the United Nations in 1945, the Public Library
provided services for the delegates in the Veterans Building, as well as for the
press and other observers in the library itself.

Designer George Kelham was one of the most prominent architects in San Francisco
from the time of his arrival after the earthquake until his death in 1936. After
training at Harvard and the Ecole des Beaux Arts, he went to work in New York City
and was sent to San Francisco by the firm of Trowbridge and Livingston to supervise
construction of the new Palace Hotel in 1909. Afterwards, he remained in San
Francisco where he did most of his important works, except for the plan and four
campus buildings at UCLA, as successor to John Galen Howard as Supervising Architect
for the University of California. He was chairman of the architecture committee for
the PPIE in 1915 and was a member of the architecture committee for the 1939 Exposi-
tion at the time of his death. His greatest impact on the city was as a designer of
skyscrapers during the building boom of the late 1920's and early 1930's. As much
as any person, his buildings gave definition to the famous skyline that lasted into
the 1960's. Most prominent are the Standard 0il Building, the Russ Building, and
the Shell Building. The Russ Building was the city's tallest from 1927 until 1964.

Yz



Form No. 10-300a
(Rev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 8 PAGE 18

7. The State Building - A state office building was first seriously proposed in
B.J.S. Cahill's 1904 design for a Civic Center. The idea surfaced again in 1909 when
the State Engineer announced that drawings for a $400,000, seven or eight story build-
ing were being prepared. An offer by the state in 1912 to build a $500,000 structure,
if the land were donated by the city, served as an inducement to approve the Civic
Center. In 1913, the State Legislature authorized a $1,000,000 bond election to
finance construction of the building, and in 1916, the voters approved the bonds.
World War I delayed further progress until the mid-summer of 1919 when bids were
taken and contracts let. The cornerstone was laid in 1920, but the building was

not finally completed until 1926. The final cost was $1,800,000 to the state on

land donated by the city. The $6,500,000 annex was begun in 1957.

A state building would normally be designed by the State Architect but a
petition from California architects requested a competition for the design of the
Civic Center State Office Building. The competition was held in two stages. The
first was opened to any architect practicing in California, and the second consisted
of eight finalists named by a jury composed of three architects and four public
officials. At every step of the competition there was criticism and controversy,
all of which came to a head when the winning design was announced. Most of the
architects involved with the Civic Center were highly critical, including Meyer,
Reid, B.J.S. Cahill, Bakewell and Brown. Cahill called it destructive to the
proportions of the Civic Center, and Willis Polk wrote a disparaging letter to the
Governor of California, who had served on the jury, saying the design was not in
harmony with the existing buildings in the Civic Center either in its massing or
its details. The controversy was covered in the national architectural press when
it was suggested that the matter be referred to the National Commission of Fine Arts.
This was done, and in April 1918, the Commission, whose distinguished membership in-
cluded John Russell Pope, Herbert Adams, Charles A. Platt, William Kendall, C.S.
Ridley, Charles Moore, F.L. Olmsted and J. Alden Weir, unanimously confirmed the
original decision of the jury.

The main issue of the competition, as perceived by the architects, had been the
massing of the front facade. The winning design called for one plane of uniform
height fronting on McAllister Street, but every other finalist proposed at least two
wings which could be less than the full six stories and would be set back from the
plane of the principal facade. The more complicated massing arose from a desire to
maintain the illusion of the natural proportions of the Civic Center as defined by
the shape of the Plaza.

The development of the State Building served important practical and symbolic
functions in the development of the whole Civic Center, The original announcement
to build the State Building, timed just before the bond election of 1912, was a
factor in the public approval of the project. The actual construction of the
building during the building depression of the 1920's served to keep the idea of
a complete Civic Center alive during a difficult and slow time when prospects for
a Federal Building and an Opera House seemed far away at best. The fact of the
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state's participation in an essentially municipal project and the complete coopera-
tion of state officials with local planners in the competition and construction
demonstrated the acceptance of City Beautiful and the Civic Center ideals by a
larger, and important, public body.

The building balances the Exposition Auditorium across the Plaza in occupying
the full street frontage. Despite criticism at the time of the competition that
the State Building reinforced the already ill-proportioned Plaza, the masterful
handling of the War Memorial complex has given new credence to the design of the
State Building and its relationship to the other Civic Center buildings. Equally
importantly, it clearly indicates the interrelationships of all the buildings,
functioning as a unit rather than as individual structures in isolation.

The architectural firm of Bliss and Faville was one of the most established and
well respected firms in San Francisco when the State Building competition was held in
1915. Walter D. Bliss and William B. Faville were highly professional architects who
kept abreast of contemporary developments on the East Coast. In the consistently high
quality of their designs they were important contributors to the raising of design
standards in the Bay Area, particularly in commercial architecture.

Both men were schooled in the Beaux Arts tradition, Faville attending MIT, and
both men apprenticing under McKim, Mead and White in New York. They came to San
Francisco in 1898 as partners and worked together until 1925 when each continued to
practice alone., Faville was the more prominent figure, serving on the architectural
committee of the 1915 Exposition which determined the site of the Civic Center, and
from 1922-1924, he served as the national president of the American Institute of
Architects.

In addition to designing the State Building, their important commissions
included the St. Francis Hotel on Union Square, the Bank of California building on
California Street and the Geary Theater. They also designed the Palace of Education
and many lesser buildings at the Panama~Pacific International Exposition. It is a
tribute to their ability as designers and planners that virtually all of their major
commissions are still in active use.

8. Orpheum Theater - The Orpheum was built in 1926 for the Pantages Theater chain,
by the regular Pantages architect, B. Marcus Priteca. In 1929, the building was sold
to the Orpheum Theater Company. The original plan for the theater called for adorned
rear facades which would harmonize in design and scale with the rest of the Civic
Center. They were unfortunately never executed because of a disagreement over who
should pay for the work.

The Orpheum Theater represented a triumph for the City Beautiful theorists who
built the Civic Center and who hoped that neighboring private developments would
continue the Civic Center idea. The theater conforms in size and in scale to the
Civic Center and its massing and re-entrant corner at Hyde and U.N. Plaza must have
influenced the later Federal Building. Although original designs for sympathetic
rear facades were never carried out, the plans exist and they are included in one
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proposal put forth for the restoration of the theater. The Orpheum and the Federal
Building together create an effective entrance of the Civic Center from Market Street
by focusing the view of the City Hall along the main planning axis to the Center.
With the completion of the United Nations Plaza, the space created by these two
buildings has become a pleasant pedestrian space which is simultaneously a monu-
mentally scaled, yet human space.

Aside from its harmonious relationship to the Civic Center, the Orpheum is a
significant structure by itself as an outstanding survival of the time when vaude-
ville and movie theaters were as fanciful as the entertainments they provided. The
Orpheum Theater is one of the finest of many built by the design team of Priteca and
Heinsbergen all over the United States, both in the quality of its decorative features
and in its modern functionality. Today the building is being revived for a wide
range of contemporary uses including symphonic concerts.

The architect Priteca was one of the highly regarded theater architects of the
days of elaborate movie palaces. His best known work is the old Pantages Theater in
Hollywood, of 1930, which was the first major Art Deco movie theater in the United
States.

The interior decorator, Tony Heinsbergen, was a prolific designer, having
worked on over 700 movie theaters and many public structures in California and
elsevhere. His best known work is the Paramount Theater in Oakland, to which he
originally contributed in the.1930's and which was restored in 1972-73.

9. City Hall Annex - The City Hall Annex was built by the State of California in
1931 and sold to the State Compensation Insurance Fund in 1937. After a new Insur-
ance Fund Building was completed behind it, the building was sold to the City of
San Francisco in 1960 for $575,000. 1In 1962, the offices were renovated.

The City Hall Annex extends the idea of the Civic Center into the surrounding
neighborhood just as the early proponents of the Center had hoped would happen. The
architectural style, cornice height, color and texture of the building all conform
to the other buildings and enhance the group.

10. War Memorial Complex - A war memorial honoring those who had died in World War I
was first proposed in San Francisco even before the end of the war. There was great
public debate over the nature of such a project, whether it should take the form of

a monument, a "living memorial' such as an opera house, or some other manifestation.
Among the prominent proposals, Mayor Rolph spoke of a triumphal arch west of the City
Hall, Louis Christian Mullgardt proposed a Soldier's Memorial as an educational in-
fluence against future wars, and Glass and Butner prepared plans for a $2,000,000
veterans building. Although the idea of a war memorial was popular enough to succeed
on its own, it was through an alliance with supporters of an opera house that the
form and the scale of the realized project was achieved. This alliance was always
shaky, however, and controversy marked by incompetence, distrust and deceit
lengthened the planning and construction of the Opera House to 14 years.
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Thus, the War Memorial had its beginnings in the development of the Opera in
San Francisco. Almost from the first days of the American settlement, San Francisco
was an enthusiastic opera town, but for many years it had little luck with opera
houses, with many burning down. The Tivoli Opera House, always inadequate, served
from its construction in 1879 until it was destroyed in 1906. A new Opera House
appeared in Cahill's Civic Center plan of 1899, and reappeared in 1904, 1909 and 1912,
but private efforts to see it built in 1912 in Marshall Square were unsuccessful.

A new citizen's group revived the idea in 1918, raised $1,635,000 and purchased
a block just outside the Civic Center, the old St. Ignatius lot, bounded by Van Ness,
Grove, Franklin and Hayes Streets. The American Legion was invited to join in sup-
port of a War Memorial Opera House on that site, and together the two groups raised
additional funds. With gathering public support and appointment of a highly prest-
igious and powerful Architectural Advisory Commission, the conception of the project
grew to encompass two block-sized buildings planned as part of the Civic Center. An
agreement was negotiated with the city in 1922 whereby the two blocks across Van Ness
Avenue from the City Hall would be purchased jointly by the city and the backers of
the War Memorial. The old St. Ignatius lot was sold and the new site acquired and
cleared of buildings by 1926,

The Architectural Advisory Commission, which consisted of Bernard Maybeck,

John Galen Howard, Willis Polk, Ernest Coxhead, G. Albert Lansburgh, John Reid, Jr.,
Frederick Meyer and Arthur Brown, Jr., determined the composition of the complex and
drew up a site plan for the double lot. Polk, who had done preliminary plans for an
opera house in 1912, was again designated to plan the opera but he withdrew and by
1925 it was settled that Brown would design the buildings with Lansburgh as colla-
borating architect on the Opera House.

The new two block complex required far more money than had been raised
privately for a single opera house, and with the help of the newspapers, a
$4,000,000 bond election was held and approved on June 14, 1927, to meet increased
costs of a larger project. It was four more years before construction began because
of squabbles between the veterans and opera supporters, mediated by a stubborn mayor
and a reluctant Board of Supervisors, over allocations of funds and space. A city
charter amendment, submitted to the Registrar a half-hour before the deadline,
approved narrowly by a misinformed electorate, gave the Mayor power to appoint a new
consolidated War Memorial Board of Trustees, but reserved confirmation for the Super-
visors. In the meantime, architects had designed an $8,250,000 complex which had to
be scaled down considerably in size and amenities to meet the budget. The entire
conflict was resolved when a vacancy on the Board of Supervisors resulted in a
realignment of necessary groups, shifting the balance of power to the Opera
supporters,

Plans were finally completed in March 1931 and construction began during the
following summer and was completed in the fall of 1932, The final cost of the
complex was $6,500,000: $3,500,000 for the Opera House and $3,000,000 for the
Veterans Building.
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Although there were sound aesthetic reasons for designing the two buildings of
the War Memorial as a matched pair, in the end, they were made identical because the
Opera supporters and the veterans would not consent to the other group having a more
complete, markedly more costly or more magnificent home. As the Opera House was the
more complicated and more temperamental structure, it was designed first and the
Veterans Building derived its shape and design from it. The Opera was designed
according to Beaux Arts attitudes toward planning with effective performance of its
function a paramount consideration. The function of the building gave rise to its
shape, and its shape and exterior design reflected the interior function and
arrangement of the building.

The War Memorial complex is one of the most important Civic Center features.
The location, siting and design of the buildings was the result of efforts to extend
the idea of the Civic Center to an area which had not been included in the original
plans. To this end, it is a magnificent success and thoroughly fulfills the hope of
the designers of the Civic Center--that the Center would prove flexible enough to
expand without destroying the harmony of the group. Although it was designed 15
years later, the War Memorial is aesthetically inseparable from the City Hall. The
War Memorial-City Hall group has been called "The greatest architectural ensemble in
America," by Henry Hope Reed, the great scholar of classical architecture in America.
The success of the complex is due principally to the main designer of each of the
three buildings--the City Hall, the Opera House and the Veterans Building--Arthur
Brown, Jr.

The scale of the buildings and the spaces between them are more effective in
highlighting the City Hall and in creating human spaces than the much larger Civic
Center Plaza grouping. Viewed from the west end of the corner, the War Memorial
buildings serve to focus the view on the dome of City Hall. At the same time, the
wings of the War Memorial buildings project like sentry posts at the gates of a
majestic city, revealing only enough of the City Hall to tantalize and entice the
pedestrian to see what lies beyond. From the City Hall side of Van Ness, the wings
of the War Memorial buildings lengthen the facades thereby creating the illusion of
more massive structures--necessary to balance the size and grandeur of City Hall.
The design of the War Memorial buildings echoes the City Hall in specific detail
and scale, rhythm and texture.

The Opera was more traditional in its details than in its plan. It shows the
influence of Wagner's revolutionary attitudes towards the art, most pointedly in the
absence of sweeping staircases to the Grand Foyer on which expensively attired patrons
customarily paraded in the days when the opera was as much a place to be seen as a
spectacle to see. The lone, open horseshoe of boxes is also in the spirit of this
more democratic arrangement which together with the scale and severity of its deco~-
ration suggests that the events on the stage are more worthy of attention than other
distractions,
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The planning of the War Memorial was masterful in terms of its relationship to
the City Hall., At the same time, it took advantage of a weakness in the pre-existing
Civic Center to relate to the rest of the group in a powerful way. The City Hall was
criticized as being too small for its block and in need of two or three more bays at
each end of the principal facades to maintain the natural proportions of the Civic
Center as defined by the Plaza. By broadening the front facades of the War Memorial
buildings, those buildings look past the short City Hall, permitting an imposing view
of the War Memorial from the Plaza and tending to bring the War Memorial into the
main group.

Today, both buildings continue to serve the same functions for which they were
built. The Opera House, which was the first municipally owned opera house in the
United States, is the permanent residence of the opera, symphony and ballet and
provides facilities for a wide range of other cultural events. The San Francisco
Opera is one of the leading opera companies in the United States.

The Veterans Building continues to house both veterans activities and the
San Francisco Museum of Art, although the Veterans Auditorium is now used by a wider
variety of groups. The San Francisco Museum of Art is one of the more important
modern art museums on the West Coast.

The War Memorial was the principal site of the founding of the United Natioms
in the spring of 1945. The San Francisco Museum of Art was moved to temporary
quarters on Pine Street to give more space to the organizational meetings in the
Veterans Building. In the Opera House, events were either cancelled or moved to
the Civic Auditorium, so that the Opera could accommodate important ceremonial
functions and daily speeches. Tenth and 20th Anniversary commemorations of the
founding of the United Nations were held in the Opera House in 1955 and 1965. 1In
1951, the Japanese Peace Treaty was drawn up in the Veterans Building and signed
in the Opera House.

Arthur Brown, Jr., discussed in the section on the City Hall, served on the
Architectural Advisory Commission for the War Memorial, was the architect for the
Veterans Building and chief architect of the Opera House.

G. Albert Lansburgh was principally known as a competent theater designer.

Most of his work was for the Orpheum chain for which he built vaudeville and movie
houses all over the United States. His most prestigious commission was the San
Francisco Opera House.

Lansburgh studied at the University of California and was sent by the head of
the Orpheum chain to Ecole des Beaux Arts, from which he graduated in 1906, the
winner of a major medal. He practiced architecture in San Francisco for over 60
years. In 1915 he served on the architectural commission of the PPIE. In the
1920's, he served on the Advisory Commission for the War Memorial.

The Memorial Court was originally designed by Arthur Brown but was built
according to designs by Thomas Church in 1936, The court provides a formed promenade
which serves as an appropriate setting for visitors to cultural events in the War
Memorial. It is a pleasing foreground to the City Hall as seen from its most
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complimentary view between the Opera House and the Veterans Building. 1In its
symmetry, scale, texture and color, the court enhances the sense of order and
harmony created by the complex.

Thomas D. Church is a nationally prominent Bay Area landscape architect, whose
work is associated in spirit and in significance with the "Bay Region Style," of
architecture of such designers as William W. Wurster. Church studied landscape
design at the University of California and Harvard and taught for a brief time at
the University of California. The Memorial Court is one of the very few of his
designs accessible to the public, most of them belonging to private residences.

11. Federal Office Building -~ Although a Federal Office Building was not proposed
in the Civic Center plans of 1912, it was not long after the plans were approved that
such a structure was designated for the present site. A federal building moratorium
which lasted from before World War I until December 1925 prohibited any progress
during those years. In March 1927, $2,500,000 was appropriated for a federal
building somewhere in San Francisco. A year later, the city offered to donate the
Civie Center site, and in October 1930, the government accepted. Local architects
requested a design competition, but there was little criticism when Arthur Brown,

in his capacity as an architect for the Treasury Department, received the commission.
Plans were finished by the end of 1932, but increased costs delayed the start of
construction until November 1933, The building was completed in May 1936 at a cost
of less than $3,000,000.

The Federal Building is highly successful from several perspectives. Like the
State Building and the Orpheum Theater, it represents an affirmation of the City
Beautiful and the Civic Center idea by an essentially outside party. As a part of
the Civic Center, it admirably serves to link Market Street and the Civic Center
visually. The uninterrupted, rhythmic colonnade leads the eye up U.N. Plaza and
Fulton Street to the City Hall dome. The re-entrant corners and the frontage on
U.N. Plaza (relative to the set back of the Public Library) make the building appear
more visible from the Civic Center Plaza and more a part of the group.

At the same time that the building expresses the necessary aloofness and

monumentality required in a classical building and a Beaux Arts plan, it makes
effective and significant gestures to the human beings who must use the building.
Typical in Arthur Brown's work, this concern is evidenced in the exceptional care
lavished on details of both decorative and functional significance. On the exterior,
the emphasis on details is in the base where it may be appreciated by passers-by.
The angle and cut of the rusticated granite blocks elicits the maximum interest from
light and shadows, achieving a tactile quality not often present in classical build-
ings. The keystone masks are at just the proper height to interest the pedestrian.
Inside, the quality of materials and workmanship evidenced in the red hall tiles,
iron light fixtures, radiator grates and telephone booths, to name a few, is far
above average. The simple and direct organization of the building is highly
functional. The only alterations in the building have been behind office doors.
The building has been well maintained and is in excellent condition.

Arthur Brown and his contributions have been discussed elsewhere.

Un
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12. United Nations Plaza - The United Nations Plaza will commemorate the founding
of the United Nations in the Civic Center in 1945. The plaza will provide a grand
pedestrian approach to the Civic Center and an uncluttered vista to the City Hall

from Market Street. It promises to be an excellent addition to the Civic Center,

enhancing it aesthetically, and providing a lively pedestrian area where cars now

park. It is a contemporary indication of the continuing pride San Francisco takes
in its Civic Center.

13. 1 United Nations Plaza - 1 United Nations Plaza is a very good example of Zig
Zag Moderne architecture. It was designed by C.A. Meussdorger in 1927. Although
not of the same style or size as the major Civic Center buildings, it is designed
as if it were much larger with its alternate bands of dark and light verticals, not
unlike those created by the columns and shadows of the Federal Building across the
Plaza. It is finely detailed both in the relief panels at the tops of the piers
and in the configuration of the copper bays with their lively polygonal skyline

and curvilinear zig zag mullionms.

14, Buker's Pet Store ~ Buker's Pet Store is a small scaled building typical of
those built all over San Francisco after the earthquake of 1906.

15. McCarthy's Cocktail Lounge - A small scaled building typical of those built
all over San Francisco after the earthquake of 1906. It has a handsome interior
and Market Street facade which is obscured by paint and a sign.

16. 7th and McAllister Building - Built in 1906 on City Hall Avenue, which accounts
for its angled siting., The building forms a fine classical facade for its site on a
prominent corner. Although the classical design of the building predates the Civic
Center, it is appropriate to its later surroundings. The building was sensitively
remodeled in 1975 by Hanns Kainz and Associates with a striking glass wall on 7th
Street. The original corner storefront with its iron mullions is intact.

17. Methodist Book Concern - Built in 1908 on City Hall Avenue by Meyers and Ward.
Meyers and Ward built over 100 commercial buildings in San Francisco following the
earthquake and fire of 1906. Following the demolition of the Alaska Commercial
Building in 1974, this is one of the best remaining examples of this important local
firm's work., It is a very good example of Neo-classical Revival design applied to

a commercial office building, and is very finely detailed. It is one of the best
examples of this typical post fire building type in the city.
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Bakewell, John and Arthur Brown, Jr. '"The San Francisco City Hall," vol. 112,
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"Willis Polk Criticizes the California State Building," vol. 112.

"The Work of Bliss & Faville at the Panama-Pacific Exposition, 1915," vol. 107,
ppo 1"'7, 11. Jano 6, 1915.

American City
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October 1916.
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Cahill, B.J.S. '"Adventurings in the Monumental," vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 38-97,
August 1918.
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vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 65-72. June 1909.

"The New City Hall, San Francisco," vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 38-77.
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"Plans for the State Building in the San Francisco Civic Center,"
vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 39-52, March 1917.
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its intersection with Block 355, Lot 11. The boundary then proceeds southwest on the
southeastern boundary of Lot 11 to Larkin Street and south on Larkin to Hayes Street
and west on Hayes to Polk Street. It proceeds morth on Polk to Ivy Street and then
west on Ivy to the western lot line of Block 811, Lot 1, north on the western line
of Block 811, Lot 1 to Grove Street and west on Grove Street to Franklin Street. At
Franklin Street, the boundary proceeds north to McAllister Street and east to Block
766, Lot 3, at which point it proceeds north on the western line of Lot 3 to its
intersection with the northern boundary of the same lot. The boundary then proceeds
east on the northern boundary of Block 766, Lots 3 and 2, across Polk Street and
follows the northern boundary of Block 765, Lot 2 to Larkin Street, south on Larkin
to the northern Line of Block 347, Lot 8 and east on the northern boundary of Lot 8.
It then proceeds south on the eastern boundary of Block 347, Lot 8 to McAllister
Street, then east on McAllister to Seventh Street, and southeast on Seventh to the
starting point at Market.
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Attachment 2: National Historic Landmark Nomination Form for the San Francisco Civic
Center National Historic Landmark District, entered February 27, 1987.






NPS Form 10-900
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United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections

OMB No. 1024-0018
Exp. 10-31-84

For NPS use only
received

date entered

1. Name

historic San Francisco Civic Center

and or common

2. Location

street & number Vvicinity of Van Ness Avenue & Market Street

— not for publication

city, town San Francisco ___ vicinity of
state California code county San Francisco code
[ ] L] -
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_X_district _X public X occupied —_ agriculture X _ museum
___ building(s) - private ____ unoccupied — commercial _X__ park
— structure ____ both ___work in progress ___ educational —___ private residence
____site Public Acquisition Accessible _X__ entertainment — religious
___ object —___in process X yes: restricted _X__ government — scientific
____ being considered .. yes: unrestricted ____ industrial —transportation
. —_no —_ military — other:
4. Owner of Property
name SEE CONTINUATION SHEET
street & number
city, town __ vicinity of state
L] ] -
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Recorder's Office
street & number Room 167, City Hall
city, town San Francisco state California
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
titte SEE CONTINUATION SHEET has this property been determined eligible? __ _yes ____ no
date o ——federal ___ state ___county __ local
depository for survey records e S
city, town state




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

_X_excellent ___ deteriorated ____ unaltered _X_ original site

____good —_ruins —X. altered -——-moved date __ _ _________ e
— fair __ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance
Summary1

The San Francisco Civic Center is a group of monumental buildings around a
central open space (Civic Center Plaza), and additional buildings that extend
the principal axis to the east and west. It includes all or part of 12 city
blocks, six of which are combined into three double blocks that accommodate
larger features. There are eight major and three secondary aboveground struc-
tures, two notable landscape features, and one major unbuilt site. Some street
rights-of-way have been turned into pedestrian areas.

Of the buildings in the Civic Center, nine (City Hall, Civic [or Exposition]
Auditorium, the Public Library, the State Building, the Federal Building, the
War Memorial Opera House, the Veterans Building, the Department of Public
Health Building, and the Civic Center Powerhouse) contribute to the national
importance of the district. Two temporary buildings (the Department of City
Planning and the Library Annex) are non-conforming intrusions of limited sig-
nificance.

City Hall (1913-16)

City Hall occupies the double block bounded by Polk, McAllister, Van Ness, and
Grove Streets. Rectangular in its ground plan, it consists of two rectangular
office wings linked by a high central dome. The building is in late French
Renaissance, or Baroque, style with its principal design feature, the dome,
derived from several great domes in Europe. The dome rests on a rectangular
base, stressed on the east and west facades by large pedimented porticoes. The
office wings feature long Doric colonnades over a rusticated base, and slight
projecting pavilions at the corners.

The City Hall is erected on a steel frame clad in gray granite. Its dome rises
more than 300' above the street, higher than the U.S. Capitol. The office
wings contain 4 stories above ground and a partially exposed basement. The
base consists of the first floor and exposed basement, the columned superstruc-
ture fronts on the second and third floors, and the fourth-story attic is
slightly recessed behind a balustrade.

On the Polk Street, or eastern, facade, three arched entrances in the base are
reached by a steep flight of steps. Intricate door frames and sconces, and a
balustrade between the columns on the next level, are all burnished iron,
painted brilliant blue and gold. These colors are carried over in the decora-
tions of the balustrades and windows of the entire facade and the interior.
Six Corinthian columns in the superstructure carry a Doric entablature. There
are paired columns at the ends of the portico and two single columns more
widely spaced between. Behind and between the columns three French windows
open onto a balcony. There are large windows overhead on the third floor, and
large flat cartouches over them at the top of the wall. The pediment encloses
a sculpture group by Henri Crenier, with a female "San Francisco" beckoning
commerce and navigation.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
prehistoric archeology-prehistoric X community planning landscape architecture religion
1400-1499 archeology-historic conservation law science
1500-1599 agriculiture economics hiterature sculpture
1600-1699 X architecture education military social
1700-1799 art engineering music humanitarian
1800-1899 commerce exploration settlement philosophy theater
X 1900- communications industry <\ politics government  _ _ transportation
invention X other (specity)
- Recreation
Specific dates 1913-51 Builder Architect Multiple (see below) (world's fair)

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)
Summary

... when the shores of the Pacific are occupied as the shores of the Atlantic
now are, when all around the vast arena formed by America, Asia, and Australia
are great nations of wealth and culture, with hundreds of Bostons and Balti-
mores, of Londons and Liverpools, the great American republic would scarcely
be satisfied with only a porter's lodge at her western gateway.

--Hubert Howe Bancroft (1907)1

The San Francisco Civic Center, the scene of events of national and international
importance, including the founding of the United Nations and the drafting and
signing of the post-World War II peace treaties with Japan, outstandingly illus-
trates the era of turn-of-the-century municipal reform movements in the United
States and early public and city planning. By general consensus, its architecture
and plan are regarded as one of the finest and most complete manifestations of the
"City Beautiful” movement in the United States. Henry Hope Reed, a well-known
scholar of Classical architecture, has called it "the greatest architectural ensem-
ble in America."?2

The Civic Center also embodies the city's phoenix-like resurgence after the disas-
trous 1906 earthquake and fires. The Civic Center remains the permanent manifesta-
tion of this phenomenon; it shared its origins, however, with its Siamese twin, the
Panama-Pacific International Exposition of 1915. Exposition Auditorium, in the
Civic Center, remains as the only link between these two great projects and the
only intact survivor of the Exposition, one of the most notable of America's
World's Fairs.3

The "City Beautiful” Movement

The "City Beautiful” movement, an aspect of the general drive for municipal reform
that sprang up in the 1890s and continued after the turn of the century, intended
to bring order and beauty to American cities. The national impetus to the movement
was the World's Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1893, called the "White City"” by
its admirers for its large white Classical buildings that were arranged in an
orderly manner around a lagoon in a "Court of Honor.” The apparent harmony, clean-
liness, and grandeur of the White City captivated the American public and directly
influenced urban planners and architects for almost 40 years. A western echo of
this idealistic spirit was expressed in Joaquin Miller's novel, The Building of the
City Beautiful, published the same year as the Chicago fair, in which the hero
pursues a visionary scheme to erect an ideal city athwart the Golden Gate.4




9. Major Bibliographical References

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property __about 39

Quadrangle name _San Francisco North 7 Quadrangle scale _1:24,0C0.

UTM References
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Verbal boundary description and justification

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name-title James H,., Charleton, Historian

organization History Division, National Park Service date November 2, 1984
street & number 1100 L Street, NW telephone (202) 343-8165
city or town Washington state DC 20013-7127

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

____ national ___ . state ____local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inciusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer signature
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1967 State
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Junior League of San Francisco, Inc.
1968 Local
San Francisco, California

1975-1976 Architectural Inventory

1976 Local

San Francisco Department of City Planning
San Francisco, California

San Francisco City Landmarks

on-going Local

San Francisco Department of City Planning
San Francisco, California

National Register of Historic Places
1976 State

National Register of Historic Places
Washington, DC

Historic American Buildings Survey

1973 Federal

California Historical Society, San Francisco, California
also Library of Congress, Washington, DC
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The Van Ness (western) facade is identical to Polk Street except for details in
the central portico, base, and superstructure.

The Grove Street and McAllister Street facades, virtually identical, are simpli-
fied versions of the principal facades. Slightly protruding pavilions at the
angles are linked by simply fenestrated walls, with pilasters in the superstruc-
ture.

The dome is comnstructed on a steel frame, sheeted with copper and coated with
lead. It was originally highlighted with gold. The vertical lines of the
columns around the drum rise to an encircling skullcap of surface decoration.
A circling iron balustrade at the top encloses a tall spired lantern on a base
of four low arches looking to the cardinal directions. Four taller arches rise
over the base with pairs of free-standing fluted Doric columns flanking the
arches and carrying a broken cornice. An urn carries through the cornice over
each column. A tall slender tapering steeple with a crowning torch rises from
the center.

The interior of City Hall is arranged with a central ceremonial hall or rotunda
tying the office wings together. 1In the rotunda, a monumental staircase leads
directly to the board of supervisors chamber in the Van Ness portico. Opposite
this across the domed space is the mayor's office.

The entire basement and ground floor are utilized, but the higher floors are
grouped around central light courts. Continuous hallways that encircle the
light courts open into offices and other chambers.

A wealth of sculpture and decorative and highly symbolic detail, too extemnsive
to catalog here, graces City Hall's interiors. Apart from the domed space, the
ornamental treatments in the board of supervisors chamber and the mayor's
office are especially elaborate.

The War Memorial Complex (1932)

The San Francisco War Memorial consists of a pair of very similar monumental
Classical structures, the Opera House (309 Van Ness Avenue) and the Veterans
Building (459 Van Ness Avenue), to either side of the formal Memorial Court.
The complex is set in a double block bounded by Van Ness, McAllister, Franklin,
and Grove Streets, and faces City Hall across Van Ness Avenue.

The Opera House is erected on a steel frame with reinforced concrete floors arnd
walls. It is clad in terra cotta that simulates the granite used in its base,
steps, and columns. The building is generally rectangular in shape, except for
a high scenery loft at the rear and two staircase wings that project from the
sides so near the front that they appear to be part of the main facade. There
are four principal stories above ground and a leaded copper mansard roof.
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The building is a rather severe example of the Beaux Arts style with decoration
encircling the building at all levels. The ground-floor base is deeply rusticated
and cut with ranges of arches. The 2-story superstructure has a rusticated wall
of lower definition and the same ranges of arches everywhere except the front
facade, which is more elaborate. The attic is set back behind a balustrade.

The principal forward facade on Van Ness is reached by a series of long granite
steps. It contains seven arches in the base, glazed and fitted with handsome
bronze and iron frames. In the superstructure, eight pairs of large free-standing
fluted Doric columns rise above the piers between the arches below and flank seven
arches recessed just behind them.

The Court and Grove Street sides of the Opera House consist of rusticated walls
with ten arches ranged across each tier from the staircase wings to the rear of the
building. The Grove Street side has a marquee that runs the length of the building.

The rear of the Opera House is dominated by a large arch that cuts through the base
and superstructure and two smaller arches on both sides in each tier.

The main Van Ness Avenue entrances open into a simple vaulted vestibule which leads
into a grand foyer across the front of the building. Corridors run off along the
sides of the building. This plan 1is roughly repeated on the higher levels.

Other than the concert hall, the ground-level foyer is the most highly decorated
room. The blue and gold bronzed-iron light fixtures resemble those in City Hall.

The main hall is given a sense of splendor by its Classical detailing. The side
walls reflect the exterior, with a rusticated base carrying a superstructure of
high arches. The arches are latticed and hung with drapes, which originally camou-
flaged organ pipes but now house stage lights. A magnificent aluminum sSunburst
chandelier hangs from the center of the large smooth oval surface of the ceiling.
A massive proscenium arch at the stage features statuary groups by Edgar Walter in
the spandrels.

The seats (3302 with 300 standing) are arranged more like a movie theater than a
traditional opera house, with two large balconies suspended directly from wall to
wall. There is only one horseshoe section of box seating.

The west end of the Opera House contains dressing rooms and offices on all levels.

The exterior of the Veterans Building is virtually identical to the Opera House.
The building sits on higher ground, however, and, in order to be at the same level
as the Opera, is approached by a shorter flight of steps. The superstructure
recedes to a longer open vestibule than in the Opera House. Instead of a scenery
loft and high central arch on the rear, there are seven arches across both the base
and superstructure.
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The interior of the Veterans Building is like a small opera house with a museum
(the San Francisco Museum of Modern Art) atop it. The Herbst (formerly Veterans)
Auditorium occupies the center of the building on the lower three stories. A
corridor encircles the auditorium on each floor and opens into offices and meeting
rooms on its outer sides. The museum is organized in the same way, around a central
2-story skylit sculpture court (now closed off and used as a movie theater), likewise
surrounded by a corridor, which opens into exhibit rooms on the outside.

The principal entrance opens onto Van Ness Avenue. Behind the end arches in the
base of the facade are veterans' groups offices to the south and the museum bookstore
to the north. In the projecting southern wing, a Trophy Gallery leads to a Souvenirs
Gallery; and in the similar northern wing are elevators to the museum.

The Herbst Auditorium is similar to the main hall of the Opera House, but is smaller
and has more subdued detailing. It holds 1,100 people and had only one balcony
until box seats were added in 1978. The arches of its side walls contain eight
giant murals by British artist Frank Brangwyn depicting earth, air, fire, and water
and their benefits to humanity. The murals originally hung in one of the demolished
Panama-Pacific International Exposition structures. They were installed in the
Herbst at the time of the building's construction. The ceiling of the Herbst is
irregularly coffered; a traditional bronze chandelier hangs from its center. The
chamber retains its essential appearance as of the time the United Nations Charter
was signed in it,

In 1971, the third-floor offices were turned over to the museum by the veterans
for use as offices and classrooms. Minor renovations were then carried out in
various parts of the building.

Today, both the Veterans Building and the Opera House continue to serve the func-
tions for which they were built., The Opera House is the permanent residence of the
San Francisco Opera, Ballet, and Symphony and hosts other cultural events. The
Veterans Building houses both veterans groups and the San Francisco Museum of
Modern Art. A recent proposal by the museum to expand by removing the Herbst
Auditorium has sparked discussion., The resolution of this issue 1is uncertain.

Memorial Court (1936)

The War Memorial Court occupies the area between the Opera House and the Veterans
Building. It is enclosed on its open sides by blue and gold ornamental iron fencing
that runs between the two buildings. The court is a central lawn encircled by a
sidewalk lined with box hedges and sycamore trees and lighted by ornamental iron
lamps.



NPS Form 10-900-8 OMB No. 1024-0018
(<2 -] Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet Item number 7

Exposition (Civic) Auditorium (1915)

Exposition Auditorium (99 Grove Street) fills the block bounded by Grove, Larkin,
Hayes, and Polk Streets and faces the Civic Center Plaza from the south across
Grove. Its four stories are erected on a steel frame clad in gray granite on the
main facade and brick on the sides and rear. The Auditorium is designed in the
Beaux Arts style with elements of both the French and Italian Renaissance.

The main facade is symmetrically arranged with a dominant central feature flanked
by advancing pavilions and receding wings. The 2-story base is rusticated. The
superstructure above contains pedimented windows, except in the central feature
where three large arches reach through both tiers. A cornice caps the superstruc-
ture and a false attic rises above it over the three central planes.

The three high arches in the central feature rise between four piers in the base
level, and four pairs of engaged Doric columns which stand on the piers in the
superstructure. The rusticated base is divided by a long wooden marquee covered
with copper sheeting.

The rusticated bases of the projecting pavilions on either side of the central
feature contain large showcase windows in the ground floor with pairs of small
windows above them. The cornice of the base sits on two pairs of brackets which
frame the windows of the second floor beneath it, and, at the same time, serves as
a base for two pairs of free-standing Doric columns in the superstructure. Each
pair of columns extends through the heavy cornice of the fourth floor with festooned
urns on granite bases.

The receding wings on the ground level contain plainly framed doors that match the
showcase windows in the adjacent piers. Windows in the third floor have rounded
pediments and balustraded balconies on brackets.

The sides and rear of the Auditorium are brick except for granite angle features on
Polk and Larkin, around the corner from the main facade. The rear facade contains
five planes reflecting those of the front. The central feature contains two high
service doors.

A remodeling of the building in 1964 resulted in minor exterior alterations, in-
cluding a slight extension of the westernmost pier in the central feature of the
main facade to accommodate the principal escalator to Brooks Hall, the underground
exhibition hall under the Civic Center Plaza; and extension of the projecting
pavilions on the rear toward the sides.

The principal auditorium is reached through entrances at the base of the high
arches, and two secondary halls through doorways in the receding wings. Seating
capacity is 7,800 in the large auditorium and 900 in the side halls. Nineteen
smaller conference rooms each hold 30 to 125 people.
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There have been several interior renovations. In 1921, G. Albert Lansburgh altered
the main hall for use by the San Francisco Opera, adding a canopy which lowered the
ceiling. After the Opera House was completed in 1932, the Auditorium was again
remodeled, obscuring the open metal trusswork of the main hall with huge canvas
murals and a forest of chandeliers. A further renovation by Wurster, Bernardi, and
Emmons, and Skidmore, Owings, and Merrill modernized the interior in 1961-64.

The principal use of the Auditorium is for conventions. Until the 1960s renovation,
however, departments of the city government used the upper floors.

Public Library (1916)

The San Francisco Public Library (200 Larkin Street) occupies all but the northeast
corner of the block bounded by Larkin, Hyde, Fulton, and McAllister Streets. The
library is erected on a steel frame clad in gray granite; it is shaped somewhat
like a giant "P” with a square main building and an ell continuing the south facade
the full length of the Fulton Street frontage. The Larkin and Fulton Street sides
are the principal facades, and together with the end of the ell on Hyde and a flat
pavilion around the corner from Larkin on McAllister Street, are treated in Italian
Renaissance style. The remainder of the McAllister Street facade is more simply
expressed. The other exterior walls, on the north and east, largely behind the
annex (a temporary building that occupies the northeast corner of the library
block), and the two interior light courts, are ordinary brick.

The ornamental facades consist of a rusticated basement crowned by a belt course
and surmounted by a high story consisting of projecting corner pavilions joined by
ranges of graceful arches. Over all is a high entablature which forms the well of
the top story.

The main facade faces the City Hall over the Plaza across Larkin Street. Three
large central doorways on the ground floor are flanked by two large rectangular
windows cut into the rusticated wall on either side. There are seven plainly
molded arches in the superstructure, those at either end belonging to flat pavilions
framed by pairs of Doric pilasters. Under the end sills are pairs of tablets on
which are inscribed the names of famous authors. Between the pavilions are five
more arches, recessed together behind a row of free-standing Ionic columns, the
bases of which are linked by a low balustrade. Each arch features a a giant cement
figure on a pedestal. On the third floor, cut in a great panel, is a legend identi-
fying and dedicating the library.

The side facade on Fulton Street is a simplified variation of the Larkin facade.
The ground floor has a single central ornamental doorway flanked by six windows on
each side.
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The end of the ell on Hyde Street and the west end of the McAllister Street facade
are exact restatements of the pavilion ends of the main facade. The remainder of
the McAllister Street (north) facade consists of seventeen high narrow rectangular
bays separated by simple piers and reflects the library stacks on the interior.

The principal ornamental public spaces are those which constitute a ceremonial
progression and the two main reading rooms. The public spaces are grouped along
the Larkin and Fulton Street sides and in the center of the building. The ceremon-
ial spaces are especially noteworthy and form the distinctive architectural feature
of the library. From an elaborately ornamented entrance vestibule, the view is
clear through a succession of magnificent ceremonial spaces up a formal staircase
to an enclosed landing, skylighted dramatically from the sides, and to the main
room on the second floor. From the staircase area and from the main room there is
ready access to two other principal reading rooms of the library, which connect to
smaller and less imposing public rooms on the first and third floors. The stacks
are on the McAllister Street side. Large interior courts for light and air are to
either side of the central main room.

The main reading room is monumental. It is 65 feet square and 42 feet high and
contains large scaled features similar to those on the building's exterior. The
entrance and three other huge arches, one on each wall, are framed in a plain
molding carried on giant free-standing Ionic columns. The room was originally
called the "delivery room,” but now houses card catalogs and information services.

The two other large reading rooms also have special decorative treatment. The
Literature and Philosophy reading room, originally a general reading room, off the
main room, runs almost the entire length of the Fulton Street facade. The History
and Social Science reading room, off the staircase area opposite the main room, was
originally the Reference Room; it runs the length of the Larkin Street side. Both
rooms are modeled after early Renaissance halls. Two giant murals, one in each
reading room, depict American migration from New England to California. They were
painted by Frank V. DuMond for the Panama-Pacific Exposition.

The rest of the library is relatively plain. Most of the original functions of the
rooms are at least generally the same as originally intended. Only two rooms, of
lesser importance, have been thoroughly remodeled. The Fulton Street entrance has
also been closed off and is usea as an office area. The original "old Italian”
accessories, which still predominate, have a high degree of unity.

Although the Library is in excellent condition, in recent years it has suffered
from overcrowding.
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Library Annex (1945)

The Library Annex (45 Hyde Street), a "temporary” structure, occupies the northeast
corner of the Library block. It is a 3-story rectangular wood building. Its flat
white walls are completely plain except for rows of rectangular windows on each
floor. Built for the U.S. Navy, it has served the library and city departments
since 1948.

California State Building (1926)

The State Office Building (350 McAllister Street) is basically rectangular, occu-
pying the south half of the block bounded by McAllister, Larkin, Golden Gate, and
Polk Streets. The north half of the block contains the State Building Annex (1957),
which is about the same size. The latter structure is attached to the State Building
in the center of the block allowing the buildings to function as one. Visually,
however, they appear separate. (The Annex is not included in this nomination.)

The State Building is 6 stories high, constructed on a skeleton of steel and
sheathed in gray granite and terra cotta simulating granite. The Italian Renais-
sance style of the building is fully realized on the long main facade, which faces
across McAllister Street to the Civic Center Plaza, and on the ends of the main
forward section of the building. A rear section, set back from Polk and Larkin
Streets, is treated more simply.

The entire main facade is lightly rusticated. It is broken up into a high 3-story
base surmounted by a 2-story superstructure of glazed arches and pedimented windows
with a simple top-floor entablature. The most interesting feature of the facade is
the entrance motif with three high arches, in the center of the base, which open
onto an air-vaulted vestibule. To either side of the arches are nine simple rectan-
gular windows evenly spaced across the facade on each floor. Three elaborate
framed doorways enter the building from the vestibule.

The second level is dominated by thirteen glazed arches marked with voussoirs.
Between the arches are twelve vertical pairs of rectangular windows with simple
pediments over larger lower windows and vertical panels over the upper ones. Above
each arch and pair of windows, in the entablature, is a small rectangular window.

The sides are treated like the main facade with three windows on each floor in the
base; a central glazed arch and two flanking vertical pairs of windows with adjacent
pilasters in the second level; and three plain windows with panels in the entabla-
ture.

The other public wall surfaces are simplified versions of the main facade. There
are three rectangular windows in each floor of the rear sections which face on
Larkin and Polk Streets., The treatment of the base is identical to other base
areas, but the superstructure is only ornamented with pediments over the two out-
side windows on the third floor.
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The back of the building was originally adorned like the rear sides with four
windows across from either end and brick in between. Now only two windows at each
level are exposed; everything else between has been cut out for the connnection
between the old building and the Annex.

The interior of the State Building contains a functional organization of offices,
which are not elaborately decorated. The only exception is the 2-story Supreme

Court room, which was extensively remodeled in 1956.

Federal Building (1936)

The Federal Office Building (50 U.N. Plaza) occupies the entire block bounded by
U.N. Plaza, Leavenworth, McAllister, and Hyde Streets. It is a generally rectangular
building with a large central court. There are 5 principal stories and a mansard
roof above. The building is erected on a steel frame clad in gray granite.

Its Classical styling, in a generally French Renaissance manner, is fully realized
on the U.N. Plaza, Hyde, and Leavenworth Street sides. The McAllister side is
treated more simply but still has a Classical quality. The U.N. Plaza side, with a
long colonnade, is the principal facade and contains the main entrance. Reentrant
corners, at U.N. Plaza and Hyde, and at U.N. Plaza and Leavenworth, contain secondary
entrances.

On all sides there is a 2-story base of rusticated blocks surmounted by a higher
2-story tier, with an essentially smooth background wall surface. The second tier
is surmounted by a simple cornice, above which is an interrupted balustrade. On
all but the central section of the McAllister facade there 1is another story set
back behind the balustrade and capped by a mansard roof.

The U.N. Plaza facade contains three high arched entrances in the center of the
rusticated base. Each arch is glazed and set in an iron frame painted silver and
gold. To either side of the arches there are eight windows on each of two floors.
Alternate windows on the ground floor bear massive masks of Classical faces on
their keystones. The windows are paired vertically, with the second-story windows
being smaller. The vertical pair of windows at either end of the facade is set
back in a slightly receding plane which carries to the roof.

The Hyde and Leavenworth Street facades are identical simplified variations of the
U.N. Plaza facade. There are fourteen windows in each floor of the base with the
last vertical pair at both ends set in receding planes which carry to the roof.
Giant keystone masks are set over every third ground-floor window. The second tier
contains a single vertical pair of windows flanked by free-standing fluted Doric
columns with Doric pilasters behind.
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Flanking pavilions on the McAllister Street facade are identical to the Hyde and
Leavenworth facades with three windows at each level. The receding central section
of this wall contains a rusticated base with a single glazed arch in the center.
There are eight windows on either side in the ground floor and nine windows on the
second floor. The second tier simply contains 19 vertical pairs of windows with
horizontal panels between them. There is the same regular entablature and balustrade
found elsewhere at the top of this section of the wall, but there is no fifth floor
or mansard roof. The shape of the central court reflects that of the exterior of
the building, but it is faced with gray industrial brick.

The interior contains identical hallways that encircle the building on all four
principal floors. These halls open to offices on both sides. The only alterations
in the building have been behind office doors. It has been well maintained and is
in excellent condition. '

Department of Public Health Building (1932)

This building (101 Grove Street) sits on a rectangular lot at the northeast corner
of the block bounded by Polk, Grove, Van Ness, and Ivy Streets. It covers the full
rectangular lot at ground level, but has a light court above the ground level at
the rear of the building, and is thus a "U" shape above the first floor. The
structure is of reinforced concrete clad in gray granite, executed in the Italian
Renaissance style on its public faces. The facade on Ivy Street and the west wall
are gray industrial brick. The principal entrance is in the reentrant corner at
Grove and Polk Streets, angled to face the Civic Center Plaza.

The ornamental facades are decorated in two principal horizontal bands above a
smooth granite base. A 2-story lower level consists of a rusticated wall cut by
plain rectangular windows. This is capped by a plain flat belt course, above which
is another 2-story section with a smooth wall cut by a similar configuration of
windows. Alternate windows on the third floor are framed by simple pediments of
voluted brackets and slightly projecting balconies.

The Polk Street facade contains seven windows evenly spaced across the wall at each
level; there is a door in the third window space from the Ivy Street corner on the
ground floor. The Grove Street facade contains fifteen windows at each level with
a door in the fourteenth window space on the ground floor and alternate pedimented
and balconied windows on the third floor. The reentrant corner at Polk and Grove
consists of a high arched doorway in the first two floors and one window in each of
the third and fourth floors. The third-floor window is framed just like those on
the other facades but with a longer balcony.
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The main entrance opens into a small lobby with gray marble walls and floors. The
Grove Street entrance is a smaller version of the main entrance. The parts of the
building reached by these two entrances serve the Department of Public Health as
offices, laboratories, and clinics. The Polk Street entrance opens on a small
plain lobby from which a stairway rises, leading to a rear section of the building
not connected to the main office areas in front. This smaller rear area was origi-
nally a women's prison, and is still marked by barred windows at the rear; it now
is a clinic. The rear entrances are to a section of the building used as the
Central Emergency Hospital. Interior renovations occurred during the late 1930s
and in 1966.

Civic Center Plaza (1915)

The Plaza is bounded by Polk, McAllister, Larkin, and Grove Streets. A paved
pedestrian area lined with flagpoles runs where Fulton Street once cut through the
block from east to west. A long rectangular pool sits in the center of the paved
area with rows of sycamore trees at its sides. Park areas to either side are
circumscribed by concrete walks; a central square lawn is flanked to the east and
west by rows of olive trees. The present landscaping scheme dates from the early
1960s; it was put in place after Brooks Hall and a parking garage were constructed
under the Plaza. The Plaza formerly was similar in design. During World War II,
prefabricated barracks were erected in the Plaza for military men on leave.

Brooks Hall (99 Grove Street), a 90,000-square-foot exhibition area, is under the
south half of Civic Center Plaza. The hall was planned by Wurster, Bernardi, and
Emmons; and Skidmore, Owings, and Merrill and constructed in 1956-58. It is con-
nected to the Civic Auditorium by ramps. A parking garage (355 McAllister Street),
completed in 1960, is under the north half of the Plaza.

Civic Center Powerhouse (1915)

The powerhouse, built about 1915, is a small squarish building in the northeast
corner of the small lot at the northeast corner of Larkin and McAllister Streets.
It is constructed of reinforced concrete and has exterior walls decorated with a
few simple Classical details. A high steel stack, supported by two prominent
girders, rises from its back corner. The Powerhouse still supplies steam heat to
the entire Civic Center.

Marshall Square (1870)

Marshall Square, named after James Marshall, whose discovery led to the California
gold rush, is the block bounded by Larkin, Fulton, Hyde, and Grove Streets. It is
the only major site in the Civic Center plan never to have acquired a sizable
structure. At present, the Department of City Planning (100 Larkin Street), on the
west side of the block, faces the Civic Center Plaza. A long sloping driveway to
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Brooks Hall (under the Plaza) runs the length of the Fulton Street side of the
block. The Pioneer Memorial is at the corner of Hyde and Grove Streets. The
remainder of the block is used for parking. A variety of suggestions have been
made for the future use of the square.

Department of City Planning Building (USO Hospitality House) (1941)

This structure was built as a "Hospitality House" for the United Service Organiza-
tion (USO) in 1941. It served to entertain military personnel quartered in tem-
porary barracks in the Civic Center Plaza. An irregularly shaped, flat-roofed,
l-story building constructed on a wood frame, it is an example of late Moderne
architecture, with strips of white walls, blue windows, and rounded corners.
Although it was only intended to be a temporary structure, it remains in good
condition. After World War II, ownership was transferred to the city, which has
used it for offices.

The Pioneer Memorial (James Lick Memorial) (1894)

Lick left the largest part of his fortune to erect public statuary in San Francisco.
This sprawling work was sculpted by Frank Happersberger to honor the miners, traders,
cowboys, sailors, and other pioneers who came to California seeking their fortunes
and remained to settle. It consists of groupings of bronze statuary on a central
stone base and four projecting piers. A female "California" with a bear at her
feet and a shield and a spear in her arms occupies the central pedestal. Two
allegories and two tableaux on the piers are entitled "Early Days,” "Plenty,” "In
'49," and "Commerce.” In addition there are four bronze relief scenes, five relief
portraits, and numerous medallions, plaques, and inscriptions. The most notable
aspect of this work is the modeling of the large figures, ordinary people depicted
in heroic groupings.

United Nations Plaza (1975)

The l-acre United Nations Plaza commemorates the founding of the United Nations in
the Civic Center in 1945. It consists of former Fulton Street, between Market and
Hyde, and Leavenworth, between Market and McAllister, which have been converted
into a pedestrian plaza. The entire area is paved in brick, with granite borders
that echo the principal materials of the Civic Center buildings. The architects
were Mario Ciampi and Associates, John Carl Warnecke and Associates, and Lawrence
Halprin and Associates. U.N. Plaza provides a pedestrian approach to the Civic
Center and a clear view from Market Street to City Hall.
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Footnotes

1This description condenses Michael Corbett's description of the Civic Center
that appears in the National Register of Historic Places nomination form (1976).
He drew extensively on municipal sources cited in his bibliography.

2p portfolio of newspaper items on this question is available for review and will
be permanently filed with this nomination.
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The most immediate effect of the City Beautiful movement was the imitation of the
White City in world's fairs that were held around the country in the next two
decades. The fairs spread the ideals of Classical architecture, Beaux Arts planning,
and the example of cooperation among architects for greater effect in an ensemble.
But, like the White City, these expositions, which involved multiple structures
and elaborate landscape plans, lasted for a season or two and were then largely
demolished.

A spectacular and well-known longer—-term application of City Beautiful principles
was in the revival of L'Enfant's plan for Washington, D.C. More characteristic and
widespread results of the movement were city, park, and civic center plans. Many
cities, large and small, commissioned such plans. Of the number prepared for major
cities, however, only San Francisco's civic center came near to completion. It
originated in tandem with a great exposition to be held in the city. Both were
intended to fulfill the visions of San Francisco's elite, who saw their city as a
modern—-day Florence.

History

San Francisco's 0ld City Hall crumbled in the first 60 seconds of the 1906 earth-
quake, and its replacement became a lively public and political issue. That struc-
ture, on the site now occupied by Exposition Auditorium, had been begun in 1872,
but, principally because of corruption in city government, was not completed until
1897, at the then-phenomenal cost of $5.75 million.

There were suggestions that the superstructure or foundation of the old building be
reused, but, by the end of 1908, demolition was under way. Those who supported a
new City Hall would eventually join with other efforts to promote San Francisco,
including a drive to erect a new public auditorium to attract conventions.

Already, in 1899, Bernard J.S. Cahill, with the encouragement of reform—minded
Mayor James D. Phelan, had put forth a Civic Center plan that came to naught. Out
of office, in 1904, Phelan had also been instrumental in the establishment of the
Society for the Improvement and Adornment of San Francisco. The Society invited
Daniel Burnham to provide the city with a grand plan and also suggested to Cahill
that he revise his 1899 plan. (The latter plan was similar to the tightly grouped
one later adopted.) Burnham's grandiose master plan for the city, including a
Civic Center, was ready in 1905 and was delivered from the printer the day before
the earthquake on April 18, 1906; it, like Cahill's plan, languished.

In 1909, although San Francisco had been reconstructed essentially on pre-—earthquake
lines, Burnham was asked to revive and revise his Civic Center plan. Willis Polk,
his deputy, handled the design, placing a semicircular group at the corner of Van
Ness and Market. Stirred by what he conceived to be the impracticality of the
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plan, Cahill revised his 1904 scheme slightly and argued that the Burnham/Polk
proposal was too expensive, disruptive, and likely to be delayed by litigation.
The Burnham/Polk plan was put before the public and easily defeated.

These conflicting views of the form the Civic Center should take became linked to
plans for a major international exposition to be held in San Francisco. In 1910,
the Panama-Pacific International Exposition Company was formed to hold a fair in
1915. By the mid-summer of 1911, the directors of the company had decided to build
an Exposition Auditorium as a lasting reminder of the grandeur of the Exposition
and as a permanent contribution to the city. To justify the Auditorium as an
Exposition expense, its conferences would meet there without paying rent.

A vice—president of the Exposition Company, James ("Sunny Jim") Rolph, ran for
mayor in September 1911. A municipal street railway, the Hetch-Hetchy water project,
and other civic improvements were parts of his program, but the Exposition and the
Civic Center ideas were its cornerstones. The Civic Center would permanently
exhibit the grandeur which the Exposition would only briefly evoke. They would
together demonstrate convincingly to the world that San Francisco had not simply
recovered from the earthquake but had become a thriving and civilized metropolis of
international importance. Rolph won a landslide victory, and the city moved forward
on both projects.

The Final Civic Center Plan

After Rolph's election, steps toward planning of the Civic Center and the con-
struction of the Exposition moved quickly, in hopes of completing at least the City
Hall and Auditorium in time for the Exposition. In January 1912, the board of
supervisors endorsed a revival of Cahill's Civic Center plan of 1909. The issue of
its location was turned over to an architectural commission under the auspices of
the Exposition, including Willis Polk, William B, Faville, and John Galen Howard,
among others; a clear majority chose the present site.

The mayor appointed another commission (John Galen Howard, Frederick W. Meyer, and
John Reid, Jr.) to select a final plan, oversee a City Hall design competition,
and implement the plan. Howard, the chairman, guided the initial stages and cam-
paigned for a March 1912 bond issue to finance the Civic Center and City Hall.
Spurring public approval was the announcement by the State, just before the election,
of its intention to erect a State building in the Civic Center. The bond issue
passed overwhelmingly and the City Hall competition began quickly.

The approved Civic Center plan, then, consisted of a central plaza with the City
Hall to the west, a State Building to the north, the Public Library and an Opera
House to the east, and Exposition Auditorium to the south. Four corner lots between
the main buildings were reserved for a Health Building, a Fire and Police Building,
a Powerhouse, and an undetermined public building. The use of the site of the
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present Federal Building was also unspecified. Narrow strips, to be lined with
arcades and peristyles, were also to be acquired on all properties fronting the Civic
Center.

The Panama-Pacific International Exposition

The Panama-Pacific International Exposition of 1915, held in a 635-acre site in the
Marina area of San Francisco, was, from the viewpoint of scholars who have studied
the history of world's fairs, a notable event.? As a recreational spectacle, it
presented the same variety of amusements, exhibits, technological innovations, and
spectacular architecture as others in the tradition. The "car trains" used in zoos,
for example, originated there,6 and the world's first indoor airplane flight took
place in the giant Palace of Machinery.7

World's fairs, though they have their lighter side, which tends to capture popular
fancy, can also be appreciated from serious perspectives. Architectural historians,
for example, have stressed the attention to the color schemes of the buildings and
plantings and the use of soft indirect light as notable innovations at the Panama-
Pacific International Exposition. They have also noted the Exposition's emphasis on
the arts, rather than technical sciences, that would have been expected in light of
the primary event the Exposition was celebrating, the opening of the Panama Canal.8

While -it would be possible to elaborate on the legacy of the Panama-Pacific Inter-
national Expo